

Restoration of degraded blanket bog (NEER003)

1st Edition - May 2013



www.naturalengland.org.uk

Restoration of degraded blanket bog

Matthew Shepherd¹, Jill Labadz², Simon Caporn³, Alistair Crowle¹, Robert Goodison¹, Mick Rebane¹ and Ruth Waters¹

¹Natural England ²Nottingham Trent University ³Manchester Metropolitan University



Published on 30 May 2013

This report is published by Natural England under the Open Government Licence for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and re-use, information subject to certain conditions. For details of the licence visit www.naturalengland.org.uk/copyright. If any information such as maps or data cannot be used commercially this will be made clear within the report.

ISBN 978-1-78354-003-7

© Natural England 2013

Citation

This report should be cited as:

SHEPHERD, M. J., LABADZ, J., CAPORN, S. J., CROWLE, A., GOODISON, R., REBANE, M. & WATERS, R. 2013. *Natural England review of upland evidence - Restoration of Degraded Blanket Bog.* Natural England Evidence Review, Number 003.

Contact details

Matthew Shepherd Senior Specialist Natural England Level 9 and 10 Renslade House Bonhay Road Exeter EX4 3AW matthew.j.shepherd@naturalengland.org.uk

Acknowledgements

With thanks to; Evelyn Jack, Brigid Newland, Richard Pollitt, Katherine Milnes, David Glaves, and David Martin for their assistance in producing this report.

Cover photograph

Hare's-tail cottongrass © Peter Roworth/Natural England.

Management of the English uplands is complex and achieving good environmental outcomes, while taking into account the needs of owners, stakeholders and other interests is a balancing act. An uplands evidence review has been undertaken in which a number of candidate topics have been considered. These topics were identified through stakeholder input, reflection on areas of advice subject to challenge and looking at what could make a difference on the ground. The five priority topics identified have formed the review programme and will help further the understanding of available evidence to support uplands management.

This topic review focused on a series of questions which were evaluated against scientific evidence. The topic review has also helped identify areas for future research; in the next phase, beyond the review programme, additional relevant information will be considered, for example social and economic factors, current working practices and geographic scale. The evidential conclusions drawn from these additional areas will help inform our future advice and practical management of the uplands on the ground.

Context

The Uplands of England are influenced by multiple users, each exerting a different range of pressures which can result in conflicting priorities. Natural England has a specific role in helping deliver the Uplands Policy Review; in particular through our research and evidence-based advice, our delivery of agri-environment schemes, and our partnership work with the hill farming and moorland management sector and rural communities to deliver a wide range of public goods and environmental benefits. To ensure that the best evidence underpins these strategies, Natural England has undertaken a review programme to gather and assess evidence on a range of key topics affecting the uplands. This topic review presents the evidence relating to the restoration of degraded blanket bogs.

The topic review process

The topic review has been carried out using a robust methodology to assess the balance of evidence concerning specific questions relating to blanket bog restoration. A total of 105 studies have been analysed and summarised for this topic review. This topic review uses the term blanket bog to refer to the habitat which forms blanket peat, and areas supporting predominantly blanket peat are termed blanket peatlands. Since blanket bog habitat can be lost through degradation, the scope of this topic review covers all blanket peatlands. Some evidence has been drawn from research on raised bog peatlands, which represent a closely analogous situation.

The individual questions addressed by this topic review can be summarised as:

- What are the features of an undamaged blanket bog?
- What plants form blanket peat?
- What managements or influences cause degradation to bogs, and how?
- To what extent do restoration management interventions restore bog functions and features?
- Specifically, what are the impacts of grip blocking and is it always necessary?
- Are any blanket peatlands inherently unrestorable?

Summary of conclusions

The wider implications of both degradation and restoration of blanket peatlands are considered in the context of the impacts of damage and restoration.

The review found that undamaged blanket bogs have high water tables which fluctuate in a layer overlying a permanently waterlogged layer of peat. They accumulate peat and are a carbon (C) sink, but emit methane. They have rapid stream responses to rainfall, slowed by any areas of *Sphagnum*, and have low export of dissolved organic carbon (DOC), but also contain some peat pipes.

Peat is formed due to waterlogging, therefore peat-forming plants are those adapted to wet environments. Several studies show that English and Welsh blanket peat is made up mainly of *Sphagnum* and *Eriophorum* remains, along with some remains of dwarf shrubs, but these do not form peat on their own. In some areas and layers there is a large component of unidentifiable grasses/graminoids that may represent *Molinia* remains.

Studies from Scotland show that ploughing and planting trees lowers water tables and causes subsidence of the peat. The topic review found evidence that ploughing and planting trees changes the ground flora, but may reduce methane, and there may be short term gains in carbon capture. Peat cutting can affect bog vegetation and peat left bare dries out on its surface, but not lower down in the peat mass. Cutting drains through blanket peat lowers the water table and discourages *Sphagnum*, while encouraging plants that like drier environments, especially downslope of the drain.

Individual studies report different impacts of drainage on catchment flow characteristics, but widespread surveys show that drainage is associated with more peat pipes. These surveys show that drainage can also accelerate erosion, especially on steep ground, although a recent meta-analysis suggests it is likely to reduce methane emissions. Experimental studies suggest that atmospheric deposition of pollutants may be damaging *Sphagnum*, but there is much evidence of recent *Sphagnum* recovery from across the country.

Land management practice such as drainage, grazing or burning often causes changes in seminatural vegetation, and is often focused on increasing palatable species or encouraging vegetation dominated by ling (*Calluna vulgaris*). The evidence indicates that areas with more *Calluna* have more peat pipes and more dissolved organic carbon (DOC). Laboratory study suggests this vegetation has higher methane (CH₄) and carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions than areas with *Sphagnum* or *Eriophorum*. There is some evidence that gullying and hagging, resulting from the development of small stream channels, also lowers the water table in some bogs. Further surveys show that this is most associated with high flat areas of bog, while linear gullies can also form in peat located on steeper slopes. Some palaeoecological studies suggest that gullies may represent channels formed over 200 years ago, and surveys and case studies indicate that they mostly erode slowly. However, other case studies in bare peat areas show more rapid erosion of up to 6 centimetres (cm) loss each year, losing peat into watercourses and by wind erosion.

Studies in Scotland and Ireland show that felling trees can encourage blanket bog vegetation to recover, especially if the plantation is young, or where disposal of waste wood on site by chipping is practised. Many studies demonstrate that bare eroding peat can be re-vegetated and stabilised using nurse grasses or heather. The success rate of this re-vegetation is helped by applications of lime, fertiliser, and stabilising treatments such as geojute. The evidence suggests this will help prevent loss of particulate organic carbon (POC), but will not prevent ongoing loss of peat as dissolved organic carbon (DOC) or as carbon dioxide (CO₂). Much research from Canada and elsewhere proves that cut-over peatlands can be managed to restore *Sphagnum*, provided the right combinations of water table, chemistry, species, mulches and/or nurse species are used. The evidence suggests that establishment of *Sphagnum* in English blanket peats would seem possible, but has not yet been fully demonstrated. Several studies show that the dominance of *Molinia* can be reduced with intensive application of grazing, cutting and or herbicides. There is some evidence that gully blocking will trap eroding peat sediment which will become re-vegetated.

Most studies show that blocking grips raises water tables, increases abundance and diversity of invertebrates, and there is some evidence that it encourages wetland plants over relatively short timescales. However, studies also indicate that the catchment flow properties and DOC export of grip-blocked peatlands differ between studies, suggesting that they do not rapidly recover to resemble those of undamaged peatlands or that other factors such as topography or vegetation may

be more influential. Meta-analysis shows that grip blocking will probably decrease CO_2 emissions but increase methane emissions. A laboratory study suggests that methane may be reduced through leaving grip pools open, not infilling or reprofiling grips and by encouraging *Sphagnum* vegetation, rather than *Calluna* or *Eriophorum*, across the rewetted moor. A survey indicated that not all grips need to be blocked: those on shallow slopes will re-vegetate naturally, and may infill (though may still have a drainage impact).

The topic review found no evidence that any of our blanket peatlands are unrestorable, although costs of restoration effort may not be repaid rapidly by improvements in function, and the timescales for full recovery to approximate undamaged function may be long.

Research recommendations

There are a number of key areas for further evidence gathering, either by conducting a wider review or completing additional research, which would help to inform how best to restore degraded blanket bogs. These topics include:

- natural 'creep' of peat masses;
- peat formation by *Molinia*;
- multivariate and community analysis of peat profiles;
- impacts of afforestation on blanket bog birds;
- longer term impact of forestry or deforestation on peatland carbon balance;
- impact of drainage on DOC export, and on CO₂ exchange;
- impacts of atmospheric pollutants on wider bog plant communities;
- impact on peatland function of *Molinia* or its control;
- hydrological impacts of transpiration by vascular plants in bogs;
- recovery of water tables following deforestation;
- management of humidity to encourage Sphagnum recovery on low water table areas;
- control of over dominance of bog vegetation by Calluna or Eriophorum vaginatum;
- hydrological impacts of gully blocking;
- impacts of grip blocking on CO₂ flux, and holistic and multivariate; and
- properly replicated whole-catchment studies of grip blocking.

Contents

E	kecutive summary	ii
	Context	ii
	The topic review process	ii
	Summary of conclusions	ii
	Research recommendations	iv
1	Introduction	1
	Background to the review	1
	The need for the review programme	1
	The nature of the evidence	1
	Overall scope of the Upland Evidence Review Programme	2
	Review topic: Restoration of degraded blanket bog	2
	The issue	3
	What is considered in this topic review?	3
	The over-arching topic review question:	7
	Comparator	7
2	Methods	8
	Evidence search	8
	Search terms	8
	Search strategy	8
	Selection of studies for inclusion	9
	Study type and quality appraisal	10
	Study categorisation	11
	Assessing applicability	12
	Synthesis	12
3	Restoration of degraded blanket bog - summary of findings	13
	Evidence statements	13
	Key question: a) what are the hydrological, structural and floristic characteristics indicative of functioning and active blanket bog?	13
	Key question: b) what species of plant are peat- forming and what are their physical (hydrological and other) requirements?	14
	Key question: c) what factors (management, atmospheric deposition and climatic) affect the hydrological, structural and floristic status and composition of blanket bog, and leads to its degradation?	15
	Key question: d) what interventions are required to restore a degraded blanket bog to a functioning and active blanket bog system with abundant peat-forming species, and over wha timescale?	it 19
	Key question: e) does the blocking of artificial drainage channels (grips)on degraded blanket result in a functioning and active blanket bog with abundant peat forming species and	•
	representative bog flora and fauna. If so, do all drains require to be blocked?	22

	Key question: f) are there are conditions where it is not feasible to completely restore a degra blanket bog to a fully functioning bog system with its representative flora and fauna, and if so what is likely to prevent their full recovery?	
	Key question: g) are there any wider environmental impacts resulting from the restoration of degraded blanket bogs?	24
A	Analysis of the functions of intact, degraded, and restored blanket bog	25
4	General discussion	29
5	Conclusions	31
6	References	33
7	Glossary and acronyms	40
8	Scientific names and synonyms	42

Appendices

Appendix 1 List of references following initial screening process	43
Appendix 2 References selected for review on second sift	63
	72
Appendix 3 Studies included in the quality appraisal	
Appendix 4 Study categorization	78
Appendix 5 Analysis of evidence	81
What are the features of a bog in good condition?	81
Water tables in intact bogs	81
Structure of intact blanket bogs	82
Peat accumulation in intact blanket bogs	82
Peat pipes and gullies in intact peatlands	83
Runoff and hydrology in intact peatlands	84
Impact of intact bog vegetation on runoff	84
Dissolved Organic Carbon and water colour in intact peatlands	84
Methane emissions from intact peatlands	85
Areas requiring further study	85
Peat-forming plants	86
Wetland plants, waterlogging and peat formation	86
Composition of peat deposits	87
Water tables and Sphagnum mosses	88
Major peat-forming plants	88
Molinia and peat formation	89
Areas requiring further study	89
Causes and impacts of degradation	90
Afforestation	90
Peat cutting	92
Drainage	92
Impact of drainage on peat pipes	94
Atmospheric deposition of pollutants	96
Gullying and hagging	100
Erosion of bare peat	101
Impacts of restoration	104
Deforestation	104
Re-establishment of Sphagnum	108
Control of 'undesirable' semi-natural vegetation	111
Gully blocking	113
Grip (drain) blocking	113

Are some blanket peatlands unrestorable?	122
What are the wider impacts of restoration?	123
Appendix 6 Evidence table	124

List of tables

Table 1 Numb	pers of studies identified in this review, and exclusion process	10
Table 2 Types	s of studies	10
Table 3 Qualit	ty categories of studies	11
Table 4 Study	v quality and type	11
Appendix 4:		
Table A Categ	gorisation of studies	78
Table B Sumr	mary of studies by country of origin	79

1 Introduction

Background to the review

- 1.1 In March 2011 Defra published the Government's review of uplands policy which sets out a range of actions the Government, led by Defra, will take in partnership with others in the public, private and voluntary sectors to help secure a sustainable future for the English uplands. The actions in the Uplands Policy Review sit under four main themes:
 - Supporting England's hill farmers.
 - Delivering public goods from upland environments (including biodiversity).
 - Supporting sustainable upland communities.
 - Driving and monitoring change.
- 1.2 Natural England has a specific role in helping deliver the Uplands Policy Review; in particular through our research and evidence based advice, our delivery of agri-environment schemes, and our partnership work with the hill farming and moorland management sector and rural communities to deliver a wide range of public goods and environmental benefits. Our role in the uplands is also shaped by our broader role in the delivery of the government's Natural Environment White Paper and Biodiversity 2020 aspirations that focus on the enhancement and protection of ecosystem services and the natural environment, including improving the condition of England's SSSIs. Biodiversity 2020 targets for SSSIs are to achieve 50% in favourable condition and 95% in favourable recovering condition by 2020.
- 1.3 For these reasons it is important that our advice and decisions are based on sound evidence, and that our evidence processes are transparent and robust.

The need for the review programme

- 1.4 The English Uplands are extensive and include a range of biotopes, species, and land management practices. It is widely recognised that they provide provisioning, regulatory, and cultural ecosystem services.
- 1.5 As such, the uplands present a number of environmental conservation and land management challenges. This is particularly the case in understanding the effects of land management operations on upland biodiversity.
- 1.6 The review programme seeks to draw together the best available evidence on the effects of land management activities on upland biodiversity and ecosystem services. In doing so it provides a basis for advice and decisions on future management of the uplands.

The nature of the evidence

1.7 Over several decades a body of evidence has accumulated exploring the effects of different types of land management interventions on a range of upland ecosystem services, habitats and species. There is a wide variety of study types, for example before-and-after, correlation, and case-control studies, which may have taken advantage of opportunities for natural experiments. Randomised control trials are rare. Although there are many methodological differences within this research, notably the lack of consistency between measurement methods and different measures of outcomes, overall the results provide a basis from which conclusions can be developed about the effects of intervention and research needs.

1.8 It is worth noting a number of significant challenges associated with undertaking a review of the evidence on upland management interventions. Firstly, the search strategy needs to be broad enough to capture studies from non-traditional sources including those not indexed in environmental databases and work that may be in the 'grey' literature (such as project reports or case studies). Furthermore, studies may present invalidated measures that can be difficult to equate to effects on biodiversity or ecosystem services. Finally, the wide range of study types, for example 'post-only' measurements or uncontrolled pre and post studies, decreasing the predictive capacity of the research.

Overall scope of the Upland Evidence Review Programme

- 1.9 The uplands are a broad area encompassing a variety of habitat, species and ecosystem services, and subject to a variety of land management interventions. The overall review programme of upland biodiversity and ecosystem evidence will focus on five issues where there is significant challenge:
 - The impacts of tracks on the integrity and hydrological function of blanket peat.
 - The Restoration of Degraded Blanket Bog.
 - The affects of managed burning on upland peatland biodiversity, carbon and water.
 - Upland Hay Meadows: What management regimes maintain the diversity of meadow flora and populations of breeding birds?
 - Impact of Moorland Grazing and Stocking Rates.
- 1.10 This review presents the findings of the restoration of degraded blanket bog topic. Consideration of other relevant information, such as social and economic factors, is an important part of the process of developing our advice, but is not part of this topic review.

Review topic: Restoration of degraded blanket bog

- 1.11 The global distribution of peat-forming habitats can be misleading, showing large expanses of mire girdling the northern hemisphere. Stretched out on a flattened map projection, these areas seem vast, but in reality northern peatlands occupy a relatively narrow band, and comprise only 3% of the earth's land area (Brooks and Stoneman, 1997). The vast majority of these areas are the boreal peatlands that stretch across Canada, Scandinavia and Siberia, where peat accumulation is driven by cold temperatures and support huge coniferous forests. The type of largely treeless blanket bog found in the UK has a limited global distribution, and, with its near-analogous lowland version, raised bog, is found only in the north-west fringe of Europe and parts of south-west Canada, where there is relatively high rainfall, low nutrient supply and little disturbance.
- 1.12 These landscapes are harsh places for wildlife, so there is a limited diversity of organisms, and a band of few, specialist, stress-tolerant species survive. These include a wide range of red, green and ochre bog mosses *Sphagnum*, red-tinged cotton grass, wind-tossed seas of purple moor-grass, and purple-brown heather as well as tiny bog plants such as the insectivorous sundews and butterworts, the bright red berries of cranberry, the unexpected orange cloudberries or the yellow spires of bog asphodel. Curlew, golden plover and dunlin breed in these areas, feeding on abundant cranefly larvae, while hen harriers and short-eared owls hunt birds and small mammals. Unusual insects too, such as the bog hoverfly, bog bush-cricket and mire pill-beetle are also found in bogs. However, many of these are species which are not widely found elsewhere, and therefore provide beta diversity a term which describes diversity of habitats: a diversity of biodiversity itself.
- 1.13 Despite their globally restricted distribution, in the UK blanket bogs form our largest areas of semi-natural habitats. Their importance to landscape and recreation is underlined by their position at the core of many of our wildest landscapes, including many Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and National Parks. The peat stored by blanket bogs contains a

disproportionately high percentage of our soil carbon, despite their lower area compared to mineral soils. Although 90% or more of natural peat can be made up of water, the remaining blanket bog peat material is typically 50% carbon and the total carbon it stores depends on the depth of the peat and its density: a 2 metre deep peat deposit can store approximately a thousand tonnes of carbon per hectare, around ten times that stored in a typical mineral soil. Besides storing carbon, this peat mass also contains a record of environmental changes, captured in both pollen and macrofossils that reflect the development of human civilization over the last 10,000 years. The lack of decomposition, which has allowed the accumulation of the peat also prevents degradation of rare wooden, leather and other organic artefacts, and can even preserve whole organisms, including ancient people, for thousands of years. However, blanket bogs, and the peat they deposit, are reliant on the conditions of waterlogging and low nutrients that enable the bog mosses and other characteristic plants to and animals to survive. Mismanagement of peatlands has the potential to disrupt this rare and restricted habitat, degrade its landscape, release its stored carbon as greenhouse carbon dioxide, and lose irretrievable environmental information.

The issue

- 1.14 This topic review will present a definition of an undisturbed blanket bog, and consider its characteristics and functions. It will review the impacts of management and other environmental factors on some aspects of the function and ecology of blanket bog and examine the impacts and feasibility of restoration management.
- 1.15 Blanket bogs are habitats that are characterised by the formation of peat in areas where the water supply is predominantly from precipitation. They typically form in upland areas, although they are also recognised at lower altitudes in higher latitudes (Tallis, 1998). They may support exactly the same assemblage of species as lowland raised bogs, from which they are distinguished only by their location, altitude, extent and presence of fringing fen 'lagg' vegetation (Brooks & Stoneman, 1997). Because they form peat, the extent of former blanket bog habitat is indicated by the extent of blanket peat deposits. Blanket bogs have been subject to changes in their environmental conditions through land management, climatic changes, and incidental environmental impacts such as air pollution. There is concern that these interventions have led to changes in their ecology and function. If the changes are accompanied by a loss of function, they can be considered to represent degradation of the system. In this case restoration management may be justified to restore the ecology and function of these blanket peatlands. Evidence is therefore required to identify:
 - The characteristics and functions of an undamaged bog.
 - What management causes loss or compromise of these functions (degradation).
 - Whether, and how, this loss of function can be reversed or halted through restoration management.

What is considered in this topic review?

- 1.16 The question considered by this topic review is dependent upon a number of definitions, which effectively set the scope of the topic review and inform the interpretation of its findings. This section explains the definitions to be used, and thereby sets the scope of the paper. A glossary is also provided to further clarify definitions used in this review (Section 7).
- 1.17 A definition of 'blanket bog' and of the 'blanket peat' it deposits should set the scope of the review. Defining 'degradation' is required to understand the problem that restoration is aiming to address. A definition of 'undamaged' (good condition) status is required to understand the desired endpoint of restoration and understanding the terms 'functioning and active' should inform our understanding of undamaged bog.

Blanket bog

1.18 Blanket bogs are defined in the interpretation of Annex 1 of the Habitats Directive (EC, 2007) as:

"Extensive bog communities or landscapes on flat or sloping ground with poor surface drainage, in oceanic climates with heavy rainfall, characteristic of western and northern Britain and Ireland. In spite of some lateral water flow, blanket bogs are mostly ombrotrophic. They often cover extensive areas with local topographic features supporting distinct communities"

- 1.19 This document lists typical species and National Vegetation Classification (NVC) types (M1; M15; M17; M18; M19; M20) and notes that raised bogs can, in some cases, coalesce to become blanket bogs, supporting the contention that these are ecologically analogous habitats.
- 1.20 Blanket bog is listed among the UK Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) priority habitats (BRIG, 2010) and described in terms of its distribution and typical range of some characteristics. Important features in this description include:
 - Inclusion of other mire types associated with true ombrogenous bog.
 - Typical peat depth in excess of 0.5 m, but no agreed minimum qualifying peat depth.
 - Typical vegetation of NVC class types M1, M2, M3, M15, M17, M18, M19, M20 and M25 and intermediates.
 - Typically supporting a varying proportion of ling *Calluna vulgaris*, cross-leaved heath *Erica tetralix*, deer grass *Trichophorum cespitosum*, cotton grass *Eriophorum* species and several bog moss *Sphagnum* species, although not always.
- 1.21 The BAP restricts its scope to blanket bog meeting the criteria of supporting "semi-natural blanket bog vegetation, whether or not it may be defined as 'active'." However, many of the areas where restoration of blanket bog is an aim fall outside this definition, such as those affected by coniferous plantations or those with predominantly bare peat. Thus to encompass the full range of restoration impacts, this review must not only consider blanket bog habitat, but areas where blanket bog habitat has previously existed.

Blanket peat

- 1.22 Because blanket bog is associated with ombrogenous peat, the distribution of blanket peat, regardless of its current vegetation, can be considered to be the extent of both degraded and undamaged blanket bog. It is possible that peat deposited by blanket bog vegetation currently no longer supports such vegetation, due to management or other factors. If this management can be considered to have delivered degradation of the original bog vegetation, these deposits of blanket peat should be considered as degraded blanket bog ecosystems and therefore fall within the scope of the topic review. Thus, the scope of this topic review includes all deposits of blanket peat, rather than the extent of current blanket bog habitat.
- 1.23 The extent of blanket peat in the country has been mapped at a large scale (NATMAP, 1:250,000 scale map of Soil Associations, NSRI), with broad areas of soil association defined by their composition of component soil series. Peat soil series are defined in Clayden and Hollis (1984) as soils comprising surface peat deposits either at least 40 cm deep; 30 cm deep over bedrock or litho skeletal material; or with less than 30 cm of pale mineral soil material overlying peat that extends at least 90 cm deep. Only the first two definitions are applicable to ombrogenous peat soils. Soil associations dominated by peat soils in the English uplands are WINTER HILL and CROWDY2. These soil associations may contain proportions of other peaty soils, shallower organic soils, and mineral soils, but are dominated by the WINTER HILL and CROWDY series, and form the bulk of the geographical scope of this review. Soil associations dominated by raised bog deposits include LONGMOSS, WESTHAY

and TURBARY MOOR. The first of these is found in some upland fringe situations and is also included where it occurs in such situations.

1.24 For the purposes of this topic review, all areas mapped as WINTER HILL, CROWDY2 and upland areas of LONGMOSS are included. However, the definitions above allow blanket bog vegetation to occur on shallower peat. Therefore this topic review also includes any areas of blanket bog vegetation, approximating to the NVC communities listed above, regardless of peat depth. Areas falling outside these areas may be included if they support analogous (raised bog) vegetation, or provide information on the wider functioning of peatlands in other UK countries, or globally.

Undamaged blanket bog

- 1.25 Undamaged blanket bog, equating to blanket bog in good condition, is defined in this topic review by the set of target thresholds for a range of floristic and structural characteristics that are used in SSSI monitoring (JNCC, 2009). It is proposed that these thresholds are used as a benchmark to define undamaged blanket bog, and review the evidence of its properties and function.
- 1.26 JNCC (2009) define blanket bog in good condition as having:
 - no loss of extent of blanket bog habitat;
 - at least 6 indicator species present¹ in a 4 m² quadrant;
 - 50% of the cover should consist of 3 indicator species;
 - Sphagnum cover should not just be S. Fallax;
 - *Eriophorum vaginatum*, ericaceous spp., or *Trichophorum cespitosum* should not exceed 75% cover individually;
 - low cover of non-native species, trees and scrub (except dwarf species) and mesotrophic grasses/forbs/bracken;
 - low grazing/browsing on dwarf shrubs, especially young ones;
 - no burning into moss/lichen layers, or to expose the peat surface, and no burning on sensitive areas² assessed in the wider area;
 - less actively eroding peat than re-deposited peat (in the wider area);
 - less than 10% disturbed bare ground or showing signs of drainage or track damage; and
 - less than 10% of *Sphagnum* should be damaged (crushed, disturbed).
- 1.27 Some of these thresholds relate to the extent of activities that are the subject of other topic reviews within this review programme. It would not be fair to use these as indicators of blanket bog in good condition for the purpose of this topic review, since for example, extensive drainage would automatically cause degradation by this definition. Instead this review will attempt to characterise undamaged blanket bog by the bold floristic characteristics only. If these characteristics are met, in vegetation approximating the NVC classes mentioned above, and/or on blanket peat deposits, then the site can be considered to be an example of undamaged peatland, and used to explore the functions and characteristics of this ecosystem.

¹ Andromeda polifolia, Arctostaphylos spp., Betula nana, Carex bigelowii, Calluna vulgaris, Cornus suecica, Drosera spp., Erica spp., Empetrum nigrum, Eriophorum angustifolium, Eriophorum vaginatum, Menyanthes trifoliata, Myrica gale, Narthecium ossifragum, non-crustose lichens, pleurocarpous mosses, Racomitrium lanuginosum, Rubus chamaemorus, Rhynchospora alba, Sphagnum spp. (only S. fallax if in presence of >=1 other Sphagum spp.), Trichophorum cespitosum, Vaccinium spp.

² Broadly, these comprise steep slopes, carpets of *Sphagnum* or other lower plants, areas with rich microtopography, near pools, haggs, erosion gullies or near watercourses.

1.28 Most research papers do not characterise the conditions at the start of the study in sufficient detail to enable them to be compared to these characters. In many cases in this topic review it has been necessary to take the researchers' word that their 'intact', 'undisturbed', 'pristine' or otherwise undamaged peatlands approximate to the floristic description above. However, it is felt that the less disturbed comparators are more likely to reflect the conditions in undamaged peatlands, and are therefore included in this topic review as examples of these.

Functioning and active

- 1.29 Annex 1 (EC, 2007) and UK BAP (BRIG, 2010) define 'active', with regard to blanket bog, as meaning: 'still supporting a significant area of vegetation that is normally peat forming'. While this topic review accepts this definition of 'active' with relation to the question, it will seek to say 'peat-forming' to indicate where peat formation is actually occurring, and refer specifically to different species of plants, rather than assume that any of them are definitively associated with peat formation in that circumstance.
- 1.30 'Functioning' broadly means working: with ongoing or periodic processes occurring which deliver an outcome. It cannot mean complete stasis. Where such ecological functions are beneficial to society or to individuals, they are viewed as ecosystem services, while ongoing processes which deliver undesirable outcomes would be viewed as dysfunctional and therefore degraded. The beneficial outcomes of blanket peatland function broadly equate to the ecosystem services delivered:
 - **Provisioning** Producing products such as food (largely limited in blanket peatlands to grazing, game, honey, downstream impacts on fisheries), fibre (wool), fuel (peat/wood), timber, and water supply.
 - **Regulating** maintaining water quality, preventing damaging run-off, storing organic carbon (preventing potential climate impacts of its loss as CO₂), control of GHG fluxes, pollination.
 - **Cultural** blanket bogs may generate benefits that relate to societal cohesion, education, economics, aesthetics, academia, science, archaeology, recreation, health and well being.
 - **Supporting** These are ecosystem functions that are necessary for the production of all other ecosystem services, and could be seen to include nutrient cycling, soil formation, mediation of major global environmental cycles etc.
- 1.31 This topic review did not seek to compare the relative values of the beneficial functions, and indeed, some functions may benefit some sectors of society and disadvantage others. As such the topic review is restricted to analysis of the functions themselves. The topic review did not set out to include or exclude any specific ecosystem service, but the evidence provided by the studies predominantly related to regulating services, to a lesser extent, provisioning services (water yield and quality), and to biodiversity. Many of the key social, economic and cultural issues facing blanket peatlands are related to grazing and burning management and may be considered in other topic reviews in Upland Evidence Review programme.

Degradation

- 1.32 Degradation has been defined as a situation where the desired functions are not, or are inadequately, delivered. Thus factors that degrade blanket bog would include any management or environmental factor that causes a change in the function of the bog away from those that are desired. Blanket peatlands that fail to meet the CSM condition targets are those where the desired function of supporting blanket bog habitat is not being delivered. However, if the function desired is timber production, such bogs might be considered to be degraded land. This definition is subjective, since different functions are desired by different people, and different values placed on them.
- 1.33 As such it is proposed that, since condition targets define undamaged bog in floristic terms, the functions of a bog in this state are used as a benchmark for blanket peatland function for

comparing the impacts of managements that affect blanket peatland function. Likewise, because restoration is only carried out on peatlands that are considered degraded, the comparison will be between those that have had their functions altered by management or other impacts, with those that have received restoration treatments.

The over-arching topic review question:

1.34 What are the causes and impacts of degradation of blanket bogs and what interventions are required for degraded bogs to restore the functions and characteristics to those of undamaged bogs, and maintain these?

The following sub-questions will be the focus of the topic review:

- a) What are the hydrological, structural and floristic characteristics indicative of functioning and active blanket bog?
- b) What species of plant are peat- forming and what are their physical (hydrological and other) requirements?
- c) What factors (management, atmospheric deposition and climatic) affect the hydrological, structural and floristic status and composition of blanket bog, and leads to its degradation?
- d) What interventions are required to restore a degraded blanket bog to a functioning and active blanket bog system with abundant peat-forming species, and over what timescale?
- e) Does the blocking of artificial drainage channels (grips) on degraded blanket bog result in a functioning and active blanket bog with abundant peat forming species and representative bog flora and fauna. If so, do all drains need to be blocked?
- f) Are there conditions where it is not feasible to completely restore a degraded blanket bog to a fully functioning bog system with its representative flora and fauna, and if so what is likely to prevent their full recovery?
- g) Are there any wider environmental impacts resulting from the restoration of degraded blanket bogs?

Comparator

- 1.35 The comparators for the questions in this review are either:
 - 1) blanket peatland biodiversity and other functions prior to intervention;
 - 2) blanket peatland biodiversity and other functions where the intervention has not occurred;
 - 3) blanket peatland biodiversity and other functions where different interventions have been applied; or
 - 4) blanket peatland biodiversity and other functions where different environmental conditions have been experienced.
- 1.36 Interventions refer both to application of non-restoration management practices or occurrence of other environmental impacts and to application of restoration management.

2 Methods

2.1 This chapter briefly sets out how this topic review was undertaken following the approach described *Natural England Evidence Reviews: guidance on the development process and methods* (Stone, 2013).

Evidence search

2.2 Literature searches were conducted using the terms listed below. References were downloaded, or manually added if necessary, into a reference manager database (Endnote Web). References were also identified through web sites, and key reference lists. In addition, there was an open call to interested stakeholders to submit documented evidence for consideration as part of the review.

Search terms

2.3 The following search terms were used (an asterisk denotes a wild card search term allowing for several permutations of term):

Blanket bog, Blanket peat, Blanket mire, Peat*, Bog*, Mire*, Upland*, Moor*, Acrotelm, Catotelm, Bog pool*, Hummock*, Hollow*, Degrad*, Erod*, Erosion, Function*, Active, Inactive, Restor*, Recover*, Revegetat*, Regenerat*, Conserv*, Maintain*, Management, Rewet*, Remediation, Loss*, Bare, Change*, Hydrolog*, Structur*, Soil structure, Peat depth, Peat form*, Peat accretion, Peat development, Peat characteristic*, Peat composition, Water quality, Drain*, Block*, Grip*, Gull*, Carbon, Carbon loss, Carbon sequestration, Atmospheric deposition, Nitrogen deposition, Rain*, Temperature, Climate change, Graz*, Overgraz*, Burn*, Wildfire*, Mow*, Cut*, Herbicide*, Inoculat*, Nurse crop*, Brash, Bale*, Geojute, Flor*, Plant*, Vegetation, NVC, Sphagn*, Moss*, Eriophor*, *Calluna, Erica tetralix, Molinia caerulea*, Cotton grass.

2.4 The search terms of this topic review were based on habitats, vegetation types, plants and management interventions that were considered to be relevant to the topic. This has resulted in a primary focus of the topic review being on impacts on vegetation, hydrology and bio/geochemistry, and returned little information specifically aimed at impacts on fauna. However, faunal impacts were not deliberately excluded.

Search strategy

2.5 The following databases were searched:

Web of Science from 1990, CAB Abstracts from 1990, Zoological Records from 1978, Google Scholar, Scirus.

2.6 Publication searches were undertaken on:

British Library ETHoS, Countryside Council for Wales's library catalogue, COPAC, Collaboration for Environmental Evidence (CEE), Defra library catalogue (research repository), Natural England library catalogue, Peatnet, Peatscapes, SCaMP, water@leeds, Wiley Online.

2.7 Bibliographies and reference lists of the key review publications were also searched, for example, Labadz *et al*, 2010; Lindsay 2010; Littlewood *et al*, 2010; Lunt *et al*, 2010; O'Brien *et al*, 2007; Schumann and Joosten 2008.

- 2.8 The open call for evidence attracted submissions from 12 stakeholders. Of these stakeholders 10 were received from organisations, companies and groupings of individuals:
 - Country Landowners Association;
 - Environment Agency;
 - Environmental Geology and Geotechnical Consultants Ltd;
 - Federation of Yorkshire commoners and Graziers;
 - Forestry Commission;
 - Hebden Bridge Residents;
 - Moors for the Future;
 - National Sheep Association;
 - Royal Society for the Protection of Birds; and
 - Yorkshire Water.
- 2.9 In addition evidence was submitted by two individuals, by the External Reviewers for this report, suggested by the Appraisal Group and one paper was identified by the topic review author for inclusion.
- 2.10 The web sites for the major peatland restoration projects in England were also searched, for example, Moors for the Future, Yorkshire Peat Partnership and Peatscapes.

Selection of studies for inclusion

- 2.11 The search strategy resulted in 1258 titles. These were screened by title and abstract for relevance. In total 352 were identified as being likely to be relevant and the full papers were retrieved and evaluated. These are provided in Appendix 1. Of the 352 references, 159 were deemed relevant and selected for quality assessment and data extraction. These are listed in Appendix 2.
- 2.12 References on the impacts of tracks, burning and grazing on blanket bog were excluded as they were to be covered in other topics in the review programme (Glaves *et al*, 2013; Grace *et al*, 2013, Martin *et al*, 2013). References were excluded if the research was undertaken on plant species that were not found on English blanket bogs, or on hydrological conditions not typically found on English blanket bog.
- 2.13 Raised mires and other peatland types in the UK were included initially, as were peatlands in the rest of the world. A considerable amount of research on peatland restoration had been undertaken on raised mires in Canada and we did not want to lose that potential source of key and relevant data by applying exclusion criteria to raised mires and/or peatlands outside of the UK. This applied particularly to the blocking of ditches and the establishment of peatland species, notably *Sphagnum* mosses.
- 2.14 During the detailed analysis and quality appraisal of papers all duplicate studies were removed. Reviews representing a meta-analysis or a systematic review of results were retained. However, the majority of review studies were excluded because their source material could not be quality assessed. Several case reviews were included to provide general background on descriptive topics where information from intervention studies was not appropriate. One additional review was also included at the request of the assurance group to provide information in the area of moorland birds, where other references were lacking. All guidance documents, documents with low applicability (for example, southern hemisphere studies with few results) or documents without primary data were removed. This resulted in 93 studies remaining. A further 12 studies were identified and submitted by the external reviewers or report authors during the quality appraisal process, bringing the total number of studies in the review to 105.

Table 1 Numbers of studies identified in this review, and exclusion process

Review stage	Number of studies
Studies captured using search terms in all sources (excluding duplicates)	1258
Studies remaining after title and abstract filter	352
Studies remaining after full text filter	172
Studies remaining after reviews/guidance/low applicability/no results removed	93
With additional studies included following external reviewers' inputs	105

Study type and quality appraisal

- 2.15 For every study that was assessed, only the abstract or summary, methods and results section were considered in any detail. This was to ensure conclusions were drawn from the evidence presented in the studies as the primary source and avoided bias and conjecture. The details of the study were entered into a spreadsheet provided at Appendix 5, which records details of the study location, duration, interventions, measurements (type and frequency), statistical analysis, and results, as well as noting any specific issues relating to study quality or (lack of) interpretation. Each study was linked to Evidence statements which sought to address the key questions outlined in this review, and the analysis used to generate descriptions, and analysis, of each study which are provided in the Analysis of Evidence provided in this review.
- 2.16 Each study was categorised by study type (categorised as type 1-4) and graded for quality using a code '++', '+' or '-', based on the extent to which the potential sources of bias had been minimised. The studies were categorised into the following study types.

Table 2 Types of studies

Rating Definition

- 1 Meta-analyses, systematic reviews of Randomised Controlled Trials (RCTs) or RCTs (including cluster RCTs). Also included randomised treatment/treatment trials where no control was appropriate.
- 2 Systematic reviews of, or individual, non-randomised controlled trials, case-control trials, cohort studies, controlled before-and-after (CBA) studies, interrupted time series (ITS) studies, correlation studies. Also includes other analytical studies (for example, comparative single site case studies).
- 3 Non-analytical studies, for example, case reports, case series studies.
- 4 Expert opinion, formal consensus.
- 2.17 Studies were quality appraised against quality criteria appropriate for study types, and subsequently classified into one of three categories (++, + or -).

Table 3 Quality categories of studies

Rating Definition

- ++ All or most of the methodological criteria have been fulfilled. Where they have not been fulfilled the conclusions are thought very unlikely to alter (low risk of bias).
- + Some of the criteria have been fulfilled. Those criteria that have not been fulfilled or not adequately described are thought unlikely to alter the conclusions (risk of bias).
- Few or no criteria have been fulfilled. The conclusions of the study are thought likely or very likely to alter (high risk of bias).
- 2.18 Synthesis of the 105 studies is presented in the Summary of findings (Section 3), analyses of all studies are presented in Appendix 5: Analysis of evidence and more details are available in Appendix 6: Evidence table.

Study categorisation

- 2.19 This section presents an analysis of the type, quality, and duration of the studies included in this review. Further details are given in Appendix 4: Study categorisation.
- 2.20 Of the 105 studies assessed, 27 were categorised as type 1 studies, 61 studies were categorised as type 2, 13 categorised as type 3 and the remaining 4 as type 4. Table 3 shows 17 studies were categorised as (-) quality, 46 studies categorised as (+) and 42 as (++). Table 4 shows the scoring for all individual studies assessed. The main reasons for studies being assessed as (-) quality were inconsistent or poorly presented results, lack of statistical testing, poor experimental design and failure to report sufficient environmental information.

Study type \ quality	++	+	-
1	18	8	1
2	24	26	11
3	0	8	5
4			

 Table 4
 Study quality and type

- 2.21 The largest category of primary research studies (31) included in this topic review were treatment/control comparisons, where impacts of one or more intervention, or combination of interventions, were compared with each other or with a control treatment of no intervention, or ongoing practice. A further 12 categories represented monitoring (repeated measures over time at locations where interventions had been put in place, but without obvious controls), 14 studies represented case studies (time limited, or one off descriptions of conditions at a small number of locations), 15 were surveys (widespread, one-off characterisation of environmental conditions), and 8 were before and after studies with no obvious control. The remaining primary research studies were controlled before and after studies, treatment/treatment comparison (where no control was available or appropriate), or combinations of several of these approaches (for example, control treatment comparison and survey). Four reviews were included where they provided descriptive information that provided background to the review that could not be derived from single studies or provided an overview of an underrepresented topic, along with one meta-analysis and one systematic review.
- 2.22 These studies tested a range of different environmental interventions related to the degradation and restoration of blanket bog and blanket peatlands. The studies relating to

each of the sub-questions covered by this review are presented in Appendix 5: Analysis of evidence. The number of studies relevant to each question are summarised below:

- What are the features of an undamaged bog? (23 studies)
- What plants form blanket peat? (16 studies)
- What management or influences cause degradation to bogs, and how? (40 studies)
- To what extent do restoration management interventions restore bog functions and features? (41 studies)
- Specifically, what are the impacts of grip blocking and is it always necessary? (25 studies)
- 2.23 The majority (78) of studies were conducted in the UK, with a further 11 studies representing Canadian research, mainly into *Sphagnum* regeneration and conditions on cut-over raised bogs. Four or fewer studies represented research from Ireland, Switzerland, Sweden, Finland, Estonia, Czech Republic, Germany or collated data from worldwide review. More details of the location of studies are available in Appendix 4: Study categorization.
- 2.24 Most of the studies (66) considered measured outcomes of interventions over 12 months or more. A further 16 studies measured shorter term outcomes, and the remaining single intervention study measured outcomes over both long and short timescales. It was not possible or appropriate to assess the length of outcome measures in the remaining 23 studies. More information on the studies' duration of measurements is provided in Appendix 4: Study categorization

Assessing applicability

- 2.25 Each study was assessed on its external validity: that is, whether or not it was directly applicable to the target population(s) and setting(s) in the scope. This assessment took into account whether the study was conducted in the UK, any barriers identified by studies or the review team. On this basis only studies relevant to blanket peatland in the UK were included. If there were reasons to doubt whether the studies were applicable to any blanket peatland in the country, a note was made in the analysis of the evidence they presented.
- 2.26 However, to understand the external applicability of a study that compares or examines a peatland in one or more condition, one must have an overall picture of the general state of peatlands. This is beyond the scope of the review, but is provided by Natural England (2010) and by JNCC (2011).

Synthesis

- 2.27 This topic review is restricted to a narrative overview of all studies that met the inclusion criteria and contained sufficient data for data extraction and quality assessment. A full analysis capturing all intervention, measurements and results was conducted (provided in Appendix 6: Evidence table), while relevant specific findings are presented in the context of the individual restoration sub-questions in Appendix 5: Analysis of evidence. Both these outputs were used to generate and support the Evidence statements summarized in Section 3. These statements were generated to reflect:
 - The best available evidence of the effect of an intervention.
 - The strength (quality and quantity) of supporting evidence and its applicability to the populations and settings in question.
 - The consistency and direction of the evidence base.
- 2.28 It was not appropriate to use meta-analysis to synthesise the outcome data as interventions, methods and outcomes were heterogeneous.

3 Restoration of degraded blanket bog - summary of findings

- 3.1 This section presents the Evidence statements that have been drawn from the studies reviewed in this project and links them to the evidence. Specific results drawn from analysis of individual studies are presented in Appendix 5: Analysis of evidence. A fuller analysis of these studies is presented in the spreadsheet appended to this report in Appendix 6: Evidence table.
- 3.2 The topic review then presents an overall synthesis, based on these statements, of the changing features and functions of blanket bogs as they become degraded from an initially intact starting point, and as they become restored from this degraded status.

Evidence statements

- 3.3 Provided below are the Evidence statements made by this review, arranged with relevance to the key questions. The strength of evidence is described in terms of strong, moderate, or weak. This is partly a subjective judgment, taking account of not only the number of supporting studies and their quality scores, based on the criteria in Table 3, but also a consideration of the aims and focus of a study. The strength of evidence is defined as follows:
 - Strong evidence from a number of studies, or one or two very high quality studies.
 - **Moderate** evidence from two or three studies, of which at least one must be a minimum of '2+'.
 - Weak one or a small number of low quality studies, usually includes ' ' scores.
- 3.4 It has been judged on this basis that all the Evidence statements made in this section are based on strong evidence. Where the evidence of effects is not strong (ie moderate or weak), these have been identified as areas for further study, by more intensive review or additional research.
- 3.5 To ensure a consistent approach the key questions have remained unchanged during the whole review procedure. However, as mentioned in Section 1.11-1.36, the floristic characteristics of blanket bog in good condition have been used to define and characterise blanket bog in good condition, with reference to the NVC types and descriptions provided for European and UK policy instruments, and to the thresholds used in SSSI condition assessment monitoring. For this reason the floristic characteristics of functioning and active blanket bog have not been subject to review.
- 3.6 The impacts of different management and land uses on peatland carbon and greenhouse gas flux are considered throughout this review alongside other impacts. To enable systhesis of the topic, an overview of the evidence on this topic, across the range of intact, degraded and restored peatlands, is also provided in paragraph 3.32.

Key question: a) what are the hydrological, structural and floristic characteristics indicative of functioning and active blanket bog?

Functioning and active blanket bogs are characterised by a high mean annual water table (5-10 cm from surface). (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Stewart and Lance, 1991 [2++]); (Burke, 1975 [3+]) and supported by (Murphy, 2008 [3-]); (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

- Active blanket bogs are characterised by a zone of fluctuating water table, with high hydraulic conductivity, overlying a thicker zone of peat with almost permanent waterlogging and low hydraulic conductivity (the catotelm). (Lindsay, 1995 [4]); (Lindsay *et al*, 2003 [4]); (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2001 [2++]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Functioning and active peatlands accumulate peat, and peat carbon, through ongoing deposition of material into the catotelm. (Gunnarsson *et al*, 2008 [2++]); (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]); (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]) and supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Peat pipes occur naturally in relatively intact peatlands. (Holden, 2006 [2++]); (Holden & Burt, 2002 [3+]); (Holden *et al*, 2012 [2++]). A further review study suggests that gullies are natural features of undamaged peatlands (Tallis, 1998 [4]). There are no studies that refute these statements.
- Functional and active blanket bogs generate predominantly surface and near-surface runoff and so are characterised by rapid flow responses compared to most other areas, but because the channel network is limited these do not necessarily give rise to such rapidly-responding (flashy) hydrographs compared to less intact peatlands. (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]); (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]); (Robinson, 1985 [2+]); (Robroek *et al*, 2010 [3+]).
- Runoff travels more slowly across *Sphagnum* dominated vegetation, than some other moorland vegetation types or bare peat. (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Intact (undrained) blanket peatlands export less DOC and water colour than drained or drain-blocked peatlands. (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]); (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Intact peatlands are net emitters of methane and emit more than drained peatlands and less than recently restored peatlands. A single study, representing data from 27 qualityassessed studies, supports this statement: (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]). There was one study that could find no difference in methane flux between intact and damaged peatlands (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]).
- 3.7 Some evidence suggests that gradual mass movement in peat may occur as a natural phenomenon (Shotbolt *et al*, 1998 [2++]), which may explain changes in peat surface elevation and topography, and interact with peat distribution and erosion on hill top peat. Peat 'creep' is mentioned briefly by Hobbs (1986) and this topic review (excluded from this study) may contain more pertinent information on the physical and engineering properties of peat (see Hobbs), that could inform understanding of this effect.
- 3.8 More research to demonstrate the occurrence of gradual peat mass movement would help to inform attempts to restore peat in some locations (such as at eroding edges of peat masses) and aid interpretation of surface subsidence studies.

Key question: b) what species of plant are peat- forming and what are their physical (hydrological and other) requirements?

- Peat forms where decomposition is retarded by waterlogging, so plant species which are found in peat are those which tolerate wet conditions and form wetland communities (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]); (Buttler *et al*, 1998 [1++]); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]); (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]); (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]); (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971 [2+]); (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Blanket peat is typically composed of a variable mixture of remains of *Sphagnum* spp. (mainly *S. 'imbricatum*' which is now either *S. affine* or *S. austinii*), *Eriophorum* spp., dwarf shrubs, unidentified organic matter and Molina *caerulea*, the balance of which varies down the peat profile and between sites over small scales. (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]);

(Chambers *et al*, 2007a [3+]); (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]) and supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

- High water tables facilitate the growth and increase the abundance of *Sphagnum*. (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]); (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]); (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]); (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]) and supported by (Rochefort *et al*, 1995 [1-]); (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]); (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Calluna vulgaris, and other moorland plants of drier habitats, do not form blanket peat on their own, without the presence of Sphagnum or Eriophorum of other wetland plants. (Gunnarsson et al, 2008 [2++]); (Chambers et al, 2007b [3+]) and supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Molinia can form peat on its own. (Chambers *et al*, 2007a [3+]); (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- 3.9 The evidence for *Molinia* as a peat-forming species is weak, and subject to differing interpretations of the data. More research on this topic would be valuable to understand the importance of *Molinia*-dominated blanket peat to carbon sequestration.
- 3.10 There is some evidence present in the topic review to suggest that the species found in contemporary peat macrofossil deposits approximate to NVC communities now defined as blanket bog and associated vegetation types. (Chambers *et al*, 2007a [3+]); (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]) and supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). However, this data has not been digitised and analysed, and multivariate analysis for trends over time/depth would help to reveal more subtle patterns relating vegetation change to accumulation rates and management indicators.

Key question: c) what factors (management, atmospheric deposition and climatic) affect the hydrological, structural and floristic status and composition of blanket bog, and leads to its degradation?

Afforestation

- Ploughing and planting coniferous trees on peat lowers the peat water table and causes peat surface subsidence and compaction. (Shotbolt *et al*, 1998 [2++]); Anderson *et al*, 2000 [1++]) and supported by (Murphy, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Increasing time under forestry plantation results in greater changes in the understory community composition making it less similar to typical blanket bog vegetation. (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]) and supported by (Murphy, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Afforestation of blanket peatlands impacts negatively on blanket bog bird communities of high conservation value both in, and adjacent to, plantation areas. A single review study supports this statement (Stroud *et al*, 1988 [4]).
- Afforestation reduces methane emissions from peatlands and increases short-term carbon sequestration (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- 3.11 The impact of afforestation of methane emissions from peatland illustrates how management which causes loss or degradation in some functions may result in improvements in others. The short-term increases in rates of capture of atmospheric carbon may not be offset in the longer term by ongoing losses from a bog as it dries and subsides. To understand the full greenhouse gas impact of afforestation of peatlands would require a full life-cycle analysis, spanning centuries to consider many afforestation and felling cycles, and which includes the carbon impact of avoided fossil fuel use and the likely longevity and fate of wood products, as well as peat carbon loss.
- 3.12 The contention that afforestation impacts on bird populations of blanket mires is supported by a review which references many studies. It mentions ongoing work on forest edge effects on

blanket bog birds, these results and other studies may have been published since the search criteria produced the reference master list.

3.13 Additional literature review is required to affirm and update the Evidence statement above.

Peat cutting

- 3.14 It was not possible to develop any Evidence statements from the literature reflecting peat cutting as there was insufficient evidence identified by the topic review. There is little evidence available to this topic review on the impact of peat cutting on the hydrology and other functions of peatlands. One laboratory study indicates that bare peat in peat cuttings initially dries out rapidly when water tables are low, but then remains stable, whereas dwarf-shrub vegetated peat continues to dry out (Farrick & Price, 2009 [2+]).
- 3.15 There is weak evidence (Ardron, 1999 [3-]) that there are distinctive plant communities between uncut blanket bog, in peat cuttings and at the boundary of cuttings and no evidence was reviewed that indicated impacts of peat cutting on many other functions. The weakness of the evidence base for the impact of peat cutting (rather than subsequent natural revegetation) may be based on the assumption that peat cutting will result in total loss of most peatland functions. Or be based on the view that upland peat cutting is no longer common practice, except for small-scale domestic purposes which are unlikely to be studied.
- 3.16 A more extensive literature search on the impacts of peat cutting on the hydrology and other properties of peatlands may produce evidence from technical studies designed to facilitate peat extraction, which were not identified by the search criteria of this topic review.

Drainage

- Drainage of blanket peatland lowers the overall water table compared to undrained peatlands, in a changing pattern relating to the location of the grips (Stewart and Lance,1991 [2++]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Anderson *et al*, 1995 [1++]); (Coulson *et al*, 1990 [2++]) and supported by (Murphy, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- The impact of drainage on the response times for storm hydrographs (flashiness) is not consistent between studies. A total of 2 studies showed higher flashiness in (possibly the same) drained catchments (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]); (Robinson, 1985 [2+]) while a further study indicated no differences in flashiness (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]), in a different catchment. This topic review could not compare the topography and drainage in these areas.
- Drained blanket peatlands have less overland flow than intact peatlands. (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Drained peatlands have a higher density and volume and larger size of peat pipes than undrained peatlands. (Holden, 2005a [2++]); (Holden, 2006 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Drained blanket peatlands have higher concentrations of DOC in their peat water. (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]); (Wallage *et al*, 2006 [2+]); (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Drained peatlands have a lower frequency or abundance of Sphagnum and Eriophorum spp., and a higher frequency or abundance of lichens or grasses, especially close to the drain. (Stewart and Lance, 1991 [2++]); (Coulson *et al*, 1990 [2++]); (Bellamy *et al*, 2012 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Drained peatland may show higher or lower abundance of *Calluna* adjacent to grips, the response varying between sites. One study showed an increase in *Calluna* vigour (Stewart and Lance,1991 [2++]) while another showed a reduction (Coulson *et al*, 1990 [2++]). Other site factors (altitude, grazing) may be interacting to influence this response.

- Moorland drains on steep slopes (>4°) tend to erode, while those on gentler slopes tend to infill, and there is more erosion at drain confluences than along lengths. (Holden *et al*, 2007 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Drained blanket peatlands emit less methane than undrained ones. (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]); (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- 3.17 There is one study (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) which suggests that while there is weak evidence that peatland drainage increases gross respiration (including plant roots) there is no difference in net ecosystem respiration between drained peatlands and undrained peatlands. Another study (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) suggests that the drained peatlands emit more CO₂ than undrained peatlands. The former study took into account magnitude of impacts and rejected poorer quality studies, while the latter assessed more studies, but only examined direction of change and did not quality-assess studies.
- 3.18 The evidence shows that drainage increases DOC concentrations in soil water, suggesting that this may be an important pathway for carbon loss following drainage, yet there were no studies available to compare the impact of drainage on DOC export from blanket peatland catchments.
- 3.19 Further review or research into the impact of drainage on DOC loss would indicate the importance of this as a pathway for carbon loss from drained peatlands.

Atmospheric deposition of pollutants

- High past rates of deposition of acidic sulphur compounds will have slowed the growth rate of several typical blanket bog *Sphagna*. (Ferguson *et al*, 1978 [1+]).
- High levels of dry atmospheric deposition of ammonia will alter *Sphagnum* communities to remove some species of *Sphagnum* completely, or increase 'undesirable' nutrient-tolerant species such as *S. fallax*, and can damage the health of plants of drier moorland (*Calluna vulgaris* and *Cladonia portentosa*), while wet deposition of ammonium reduced cover of one *Sphagnum* species. (Sheppard *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- 3.20 The literature analysed for this topic review represents a few key papers relating to the impact of air pollution on semi-natural habitats. A review of air pollution (NEGTAP, 2001) noted that while sulphur pollution impacts had ameliorated, bog communities had seen increases in plants associated with higher N requirements. A more recent UK-wide project (Review of Transboundary Air Pollution - RoTAP, 2012) has examined the impacts and extent of acidification, eutrophication, heavy metals and low-level ozone pollution, including impacts on semi-natural vegetation. This report concluded that declining species richness in moorlands, and replacement of pollution sensitive bryophytes with more pollution-tolerant communities was a relatively recent phenomenon. However, the links to pollutant deposition were correlatory, and causal relationships require further experimental studies to establish. It notes that while 40-50 % of the area of UK bogs are subject to N deposition that exceed critical load values (10 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) vegetation responses to deposition are a continuum, and do not take the form of a critical threshold. However, they recognise that ammonia gas appears to be more damaging to moorland vegetation than wet ammonium deposition and a new threshold is identified of 1 µg m-3 above which impacts on bryophytes and lichens would be expected. While some 69% of the UK is identified as being above this threshold, the majority of English uplands appear to be below it, suggesting that N pollution should not present an insurmountable obstacle to bog restoration.

Changes in semi-natural vegetation

• Blanket peatlands dominated by *Calluna vulgaris* have more frequent and dense peat pipes, and higher macropore flow lower in the soil, which increases with ongoing high

rainfall, unlike that for peat under *Eriophorum*, *Sphagnum* or bare ground. (Holden, 2005b [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

- *Sphagnum*-dominated blanket bog vegetation has slower rates of overland flow during storm conditions than blanket bog dominated by *Eriophorum* or a mix of *Eriophorum* and *Sphagnum*. (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Both *Eriophorum vaginatum*-dominated and *Calluna vulgaris*-dominated vegetation have similar macropore flow at deeper layers (10-30cm) which is lower than in peat under *Sphagnum*-dominated vegetation. (Holden, 2005b [2+]); (Holden, 2009a [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2001 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Blanket peat dominated by *Calluna vulgaris* tends to have higher DOC export through its drainage waters (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]), and higher DOC concentrations in its grips (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]), than blanket peat dominated by other vegetation. There are no studies that refute these findings.
- A single laboratory-based study (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]) suggests that blanket bog vegetation dominated by either *Calluna* or *Eriophorum vaginatum* is likely to have larger annual methane emissions, and larger overall contribution to global warming, than those dominated by *Sphagnum papillosum*, and this effect is likely to be exacerbated by warmer climates. No studies refute this statement but this has yet to be proved in the field.
- 3.21 There are no studies available to this topic review that indicate the impact on blanket peat function of dominance of *Molinia caerulea*, with the exception of two studies whose data suggest that it is capable of forming peat, based on macrofossil analysis. *Molinia* is seen as undesirable in terms of biodiversity, but this topic review found no evidence regarding whether its dominance may be beneficial or detrimental to functions such as maintaining water quality, ameliorating runoff or Green House Gas (GHG) fluxes. Further review or research would help to inform the wider impacts of the current efforts to control this species.
- 3.22 There were also no studies that allowed a comparison of the impact of transpiration by dry moorland vascular plants on peat hydrological function. There is one study (Farrick & Price, 2009 [2+]) which indicate that dwarf shrubs reduce peat moisture content lower down the peat profile than is observed in bare peat. A further study (Clay *et al*, 2009) reported significant increases in water table following removal of moorland vegetation (presumably *Calluna*) by burning, and that rotationally burnt plots had higher water tables than plots with no burning for 50 years, but did not provide details of the vegetation type, structure or biomass, or clearly describe the number of years since the most recent burn. Since high water tables are needed to preserve peat, lowering of water tables by vascular plant transpiration might be expected to accelerate peat decomposition. Conifers (which like *Calluna* are evergreen vascular plants) have been shown to lower water tables and increase subsidence (Shotbolt *et al*, 1998 [2++]). If drying of peat by vascular plant transpiration were better understood it could help to explain the relationships observed between *Calluna* dominance and DOC and inform management to reduce carbon loss, water colour and improve bog condition in terms of biodiversity.

Gullying and hagging

- Gully erosion of blanket peatlands in northern England accelerated during the late 18th/early 19th centuries. (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]) and supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Severity of gullying and hagging is associated with higher, flatter areas, with reticulate (type 1) erosion on flatter tops, and linear (type 2) erosion on more sloping ground (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]); (McHugh *et al*, 2000 [2+]) and supported by (Wishart and Warburton, 2001 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Water table in peatlands is lowered by gully/hagg erosion. (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]) and supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Erosion of bare peat

- Bare peat surfaces can rapidly recede vertically (up to 62 mm per year). A total of 5 studies (4 from the Peak District and one case study of an eroding peat flat) support this statement: (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]); (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Warburton, 2003 [2+]), supported by (Anderson *et al*, 1995b [2-]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-])However two studies, comprising a national monitoring survey of gully erosion over 2 years (McHugh *et al*, 2000 [2+]) and a case study of the Cheviot Hills looking at erosion over 5 or more decades (Wishart and Warburton, 2001 [3-]) found no detectable changes in erosion features in the short or long term.
- Overland flow over bare peat is faster than over vegetated peat. (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]) and no studies that refute it.
- In drought conditions bare peat loses water from its surface rapidly, but retains it at depth. (Farrick & Price, 2009 [2+]) and there are no studies that refute it.
- Single studies show that bare peat loses significant amounts of POC, moderate amounts of DOC, does not emit much CO₂ (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]), and has low biological activity (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]). No studies were considered that refute these findings.
- 3.23 The rate of erosion loss from peat in gullies, edges of peat masses and from other bare peat areas varies with location, and the prevalence of studies in the Peak District may give a bias towards more actively eroding sites, which are more likely to be studied since they are likely to benefit most from restoration management. Erosion rates in a selection of gullies studied by McHugh *et al*, (2000 [2+]) and supported by Wishart and Warburton (2001, [3-]) in the long-established gullies were low, and this suggests that not all gullies may need to be blocked to ensure the stability of the peatland.

Key question: d) what interventions are required to restore a degraded blanket bog to a functioning and active blanket bog system with abundant peat-forming species, and over what timescale?

Deforestation

- Felling coniferous trees on blanket peatland is more likely to result in blanket bog vegetation recovery where the plantation is younger. (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]); supported by (Murphy, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- One study (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]) shows that felling trees to waste, and disposing of waste on site need not prevent recovery towards blanket bog vegetation and that blanket bog vegetation will recover more quickly, and to more characteristic vegetation, where the ground is flatter, wetter and where forest residues are thinner. There are no studies that refute these statements.
- 3.24 The impact of deforestation on carbon and GHG budgets is reported as being unlikely to result in improved C or GHG flux (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) but this intervention has the lowest effective sample size of all analyses in this study and may represent short-term measurements. A further study (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]) applied both felling and drain blocking treatments, and so the impact of these cannot readily be separated. Further research is needed to elucidate the impacts of deforestation on GHG and C flux in peatlands, but would also benefit from comparison with longer term analysis of the impact of peatlands in a forested condition.
- 3.25 Given that afforestation has been seen to lower water tables, deforestation would be expected to raise water tables, thus preventing peat decomposition and providing conditions for recovery of blanket bog communities and functions. Additional review or research might help to indicate the extent to which felling alone is required to restore bog functions, and where additional interventions are required.

Re-vegetation of bare peat

- Re-vegetation of bare blanket peat is possible, using *Calluna vulgaris*, grasses, or *Eriophorum angustifolium*. (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]); (Skeffington *et al*, 1997 [1+]); (Richards *et al*, 1995 [1+]); (Bridges, 1985 [2++]); (Sliva & Pfadenhauer, 1999 [1++]) and supported by (Anderson *et al*, 1995b [2-]); (Anderson *et al*, 2011b [2-]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-]); (Gore & Godfrey, 1981 [2-]); (Tallis & Yalden, 1983 [2-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Addition of both lime and fertiliser enhances the success of nurse grass, *Eriophorum angustifolium* and *Calluna vulgaris* establishment. (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]); (Richards *et al*, 1995 [1+]); (Skeffington *et al*, 1997 [1+]); (Bridges, 1985 [2++]); (Sliva & Pfadenhauer, 1999 [1++]) and supported by (Anderson *et al*, 1995b [2-]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-]); (Gore & Godfrey, 1981 [2-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Plants of lowland situations, such as agricultural grasses or legumes, are less likely to germinate and survive than those found naturally in uplands. (Bridges, 1985 [2++]); supported by (Gore & Godfrey, 1981 [2-]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Re-vegetation of bare peat, along with interventions to aid re-vegetation, can result in increased rates of CO₂ emissions compared with bare peat. (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]); Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute this statement.
- Bare peat, following re-vegetation, shows a related increase in the activity and abundance of soil microbes. (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Re-vegetation of bare peat with grasses and *Calluna vulgaris* will reduce, but will probably not reverse, net loss of carbon from hydrologically unrestored peatlands. (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Re-vegetation of bare peat results in reduction of POC loss (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Re-vegetation of bare peat with nurse and moorland grasses, and *Calluna* will not reduce DOC loss. (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]); supported by (Anderson *et al*, 2011b [2-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- 3.26 There are two lower-quality studies that report that applying geojute to bare peat encourages more rapid development of cover (Anderson *et al*, 2011b [2-]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-]). Further research, or data from additional sources, would strengthen the evidence clarifying to what extent geojute application; a potentially expensive intervention should be adopted.

Re-establishment of Sphagnum

- Current atmospheric and climatic conditions in English blanket peatlands are not prohibitive to the growth of *Sphagnum*. A total of 7 studies indicate recent increases in *Sphagnum* abundance or widespread distribution with no climatic or depositional effects: (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971 [2+]); (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]); (O'Reilly, 2008 [2++]) supported by (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]); (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]); (Hinde *et al*, 2010 [2-]); (Caporn *et al*, 2006 [2-]).
- Sphagnum reintroduction is more successful where water table is raised, humidity is high, and with either shade fabric, nurse vegetation or mulch, and where Sphagnum diaspores were collected from the top 10 cm of intact bog, but this depends also on the species used and the physico-chemical conditions of the peat substrate (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]); (Bugnon *et al*, 1997 [1+]); (Buttler *et al*, 1998 [1++]); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]); (Groeneveld *et al*, 2007 [1++]); (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]); (Rochefort *et al*, 1995 [1-]); (Rochefort *et al*, 2003 [1++]), (Grosvernier *et al*, 1995 [1++]); (Robroek *et al*, 2009 [1+]); (Ferland & Rochefort, 1997 [1++]). There are 3 studies that found contrasting results: one found no relationship between recovery of Sphagnum and soil moisture (Chirino *et al*, 2006 [1++]); another found no benefit of straw mulch application (Rochefort

& Campeau, 2002 [1++]), and another found higher water tables detrimental due to regular flooding (Tuittila *et al*, 2003 [2+]).

- 3.27 The application of mulches, nurse plants or shade fabric has been demonstrated in the studies above to reduce or counteract the impact of lower water tables to aid *Sphagnum* recovery, in either laboratory experiments on in cut-over Canadian raised bogs. However, there was no evidence identified in this topic review to indicate whether natural recovery of *Sphagnum* or the establishment of newly-planted *Sphagnum* could occur in areas of degraded blanket bog with low water tables, but high humidity, due to mulching, rainfall, nurse crops etc. Given the water retentive properties of both living and dead *Sphagnum*, and difficulties in restoring water tables in severely eroded peatlands, demonstration of this effect on English blanket bogs would be useful to inform practical conservation measures.
- 3.28 A single lower-quality study (Caporn *et al*, 2006 [2-]) indicates that *Sphagnum* reintroductions to upland *Eriophorum* blanket bog can persist unaided for several decades. The long-term prospects for reintroduced *Sphagnum* on English Blanket peatlands would inform its management, but opportunities to study this on long-established reintroduction trials are likely to be limited. Given the medium-term success of *Sphagnum* reintroductions seen in Canadian cut-over bogs, a lack of knowledge of the long term impacts should not prevent reintroduction programmes for English blanket peatlands, but indicate the importance of establishing accurate monitoring, with controls.

Control of 'undesirable' semi-natural vegetation

- The dominance of *Molinia caerulea* can be reduced by vigorous cutting, grazing and herbicide treatments. (Milligan *et al*, 2004 [1+]); (Milligan *et al*, 1999 [1+]); (Milligan *et al*, 2003 [1++]); (Todd *et al*, 2000 [1++]); (Marrs *et al*, 2004 [1++]); (Ross, 2011 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Spring burning does not reduce the dominance of *Molinia*, unless in combination with a more successful approach such as those mentioned above. (Todd *et al*, 2000 [1++]); (Marrs *et al*, 2004 [1++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- 3.29 There were no studies which sought to control the over-dominance of other moorland species. Given the association between *Calluna vulgaris* and piping, DOC, methane and CO₂ emissions, and potential drying impact of this species on blanket peat soils, and its high extent of dominance in blanket peatlands (which represents a cause of floristic degradation), more review or research would be required into how best to control this species, if hydrological, geochemical and biodiversity functions are to be restored.
- 3.30 There were also no studies examining the management of over-dominance by *Eriophorum vaginatum*, which may also exclude positive indicator species and therefore represent floristic degradation. However, presence of this species seems to be associated with loss of fewer functions in peatland, and therefore represents less serious degradation.
- 3.31 To date research on control strategies for *Molinia caerulea* are often accompanied by efforts to re-establish *Calluna vulgaris*. The studies examined in this review have only considered vegetation responses, and it would seem appropriate to examine the impact of successful control of *Molinia*, and replacement with *Calluna*, on the full range of blanket bog hydrological functions. However, it should be noted that some of the research quoted in this review is likely to have been conducted on sites with shallower (<40cm) peat, and may not represent true blanket peatlands.

Gully blocking

• Blocking gullies with plastic piling dams, stone or wooden barriers trap peat sediment and enable colonisation by plants, particularly *Eriophorum angustifolium*. This statement is

supported by 2 studies: (Evans *et al*, 2005 [2++]) and (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

3.32 This topic review has found little evidence of the hydrological impacts of gully blocking. Given that the evidence of rapid gully erosion may be biased towards actively eroding sites, and many gullies may not be eroding rapidly (McHugh *et al*, 2000 [2+]) and may be long-established Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]) supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-], further investigation of the impact of gully blocking on the wider functions of peatlands, especially those that are more intact, would help to forestall future problems. A review of how water drains from peatlands, if not through gullies and streams, would be a valuable addition to this.

Key question: e) does the blocking of artificial drainage channels (grips)on degraded blanket bog result in a functioning and active blanket bog with abundant peat forming species and representative bog flora and fauna. If so, do all drains require to be blocked?

- There is mostly weak and some stronger evidence that grip blocking increases the abundance of wetland plant species. (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]); (Lavoie *et al*, 2005 [2+]); (Glendinning, 2012 [2+]); (Bellamy *et al*, 2012 [2+]) supported by (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]) and (Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]). There are no studies that refute it, but much of the evidence is based on general description rather than experimental interventions, or from poorly-replicated case studies, or could be related to several treatments.
- Two studies (Ramchunder *et al*, 2012 [2++] & Carroll *et al*, 2012 [2++])) found that grip blocking increases invertebrate abundance and diversity but a further, lower quality, study, found no significant differences in invertebrate communities at blocked and open drains (Phillips, 2008 [2-]).
- Grip blocking raises the water table, but not to the level found in intact peatlands. (Holden et al, 2011 [2++]); (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Wilson et al, 2010 [2++]); (Armstrong et al, 2010 [2+]); (Komulainen et al, 1999a [2+]); and supported by (Anderson et al, 2011a [2-]); (Armstrong et al, 2008 [2-]). However, a further 2 studies found that grip blocking had no detectable impact on water tables (Jonczyk et al, 2009 [3+]); (Wilson et al, 2011 [2++]).
- There is mixed evidence that blocking reduces the flashiness of flood hydrographs. A total of 2 studies recorded lower flashiness in blocked catchments (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) while another study found no impact of blocking on hydrograph flashiness (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]).
- Grip blocking reduces overall water yield and catchment 'efficiency'. (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]); (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2010 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.
- A single study found that grip blocking increased base flow (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute this statement.
- Grip blocking increases surface hydraulic conductivity in peat and reduces surface bulk density. (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]). The study reporting decreased hydraulic conductivity, however, took no measurements prior to blocking, and represented only 3 sites, so pre-existing differences in bulk density cannot be ruled out.
- The evidence relating total DOC export from catchments to blocking suggests variable responses. Two studies found that blocking grips slightly reduces the DOC export from the catchment: (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]) while two further studies found inconsistent responses (reducing and increasing) among different blocked catchments (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]); (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]).
- There is no clear pattern in the response of stream DOC/colour concentrations. There are 3 studies showing lower DOC in stream/drain waters in blocked compared to openly drained sites (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]) 3 studies showed no change (Jonczyk *et al*, 2009 [3+]; Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]; Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]); one showing no change or variable responses

(Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]) and 1 study showed higher DOC concentrations in these situations (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]).

- Grip blocking does not reduce DOC and water colour in soil water. A single study, incorporating 3 studies (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) supports this statement, while a single study (Wallage *et al*, 2006 [2+]) found reduced DOC in peat soil water in blocked sites.
- Four studies found that grip blocking resulted in lower POC export: (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Vassander *et al*, 2003 [2-]) while one further study suggests no significant impact (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]).
- Grip blocking reduces CO₂ emissions. (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]); (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]); (Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]). However, the second paper is included in the first, which concludes that there is a low probability of improvement in carbon budget on grip blocking. CO₂ emissions are almost as likely to remain unchanged on grip blocking as to reduce.
- Grip blocking increases methane emissions. (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]); (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]); supported by Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]). There is one study (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]) however, that suggests that high and constant water tables would not increase CH₄ over more fluctuating ones.
- The type of grip infill used is likely to strongly influences the methane emissions and carbon balance of the grip (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]) with heather brash infill and reprofiling of grips leading to higher emissions of both CO₂ and methane compare with open water or *Sphagnum* mats. This impact has yet to be proved in the field.
- Using peat dams to block grips provides comparable or better success rates at retaining water to more expensive solutions. Additional analysis of data is presented in (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2009 [2+]) and supported by (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]);. However, there are no studies that refute it.
- A single study indicates that grips on shallow slopes are more likely to infill and revegetate and less likely to erode (Holden *et al*, 2007 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- 3.33 The evidence that blocking grips reverses the changes in vegetation seen in blanket bogs following drainage is weak. This is related more to the paucity of studies examining this effect alone, as well as the studies possibly not covering a long enough timescale to detect changes. Much effort has been expended in grip blocking on blanket peatlands that are valued for their biodiversity, and it would be hoped that some of the changes affected would be picked up by detailed monitoring by moorland restoration projects, of SSSIs or of agri-environment schemes. A more directed search is required to establish whether this monitoring data exists, and, if not, detailed vegetation monitoring of blocked and comparative monitoring of unblocked sites should be established as a priority.
- 3.34 This topic review has indicated that many of the hydrological and geochemical responses of blanket peatlands to grip blocking are hard to predict from our current knowledge, and that there may be other factors at play that exert a greater level of control. It is easy to confuse interpretations of DOC concentrations in water in soil, grips, stream samples and at catchment outflows and catchments may be very different in size and in the range of influences they reflect. Studies are often only short-term whereas hydrological and geochemical process responses are likely to develop over much longer periods of time. A robust understanding of a range of land management and restoration impacts on hydrology, DOC and POC export would require a widespread programme over several years, and replicated at the catchment scale, with monitoring of other potentially important factors, multivariate statistical approaches, possibly including monitoring on sub-catchments, and replicated application of catchment scale interventions, with comparison to controls.
- 3.35 As an alternative, larger scale (national) correlatory studies of water colour, along with extent of gripping in catchments, extent of grip blocking, extent of other factors (erosion, vegetation, grazing, burning etc.) could be subjected to multivariate analysis. This would require

consistent and improvement monitoring of upland vegetation, and acquisition of hydrological data.

- 3.36 In many instances, however, the apparent disagreement in the research is not related to the direction of change, but rather to the significance of it. 'Variable' responses to grip blocking, if treated as true replicates, might either simply indicate no significant change (due to error variability), or may reflect the significant influence of another management. Differences in the results may also relate to the scale of the catchments used in the studies. These results indicate that differences in the catchment flashiness response to grip blocking are very likely to be influenced by local topography.
- 3.37 Data on the impact of grip blocking on CO₂ emissions seems particularly weak, with the systematic review of Bussell *et al*, (2010 [1++]) having found no qualifying studies.

Key question: f) are there are conditions where it is not feasible to completely restore a degraded blanket bog to a fully functioning bog system with its representative flora and fauna, and if so what is likely to prevent their full recovery?

- 3.38 There is no evidence in this review to suggest any areas of peat are completely un-restorable.
- 3.39 This does not mean that restoration of blanket bog is always desirable, affordable or realistic. Constraints to restoration can arise from social, political and economic factors, and the time required for full restoration are as yet unknown and may be prohibitive. The ecological niches for blanket bog species may not be present, but these can, and are, often adjusted by management interventions many of which are reviewed here. Climatic factors have constrained the initiation of blanket bog formation in the past, and may constrain initiation of new bog now, but these do not predict the survival of existing bogs or restoration of damaged peatlands. This review has shown that blanket bogs affect local hydrology and other conditions in ways that will promote blanket bog survival, and potentially reduce climatic impacts.
- 3.40 This topic review has taken the current distribution of blanket peat to indicate the area of former, and potentially restorable, blanket bog. However, this may not be the case if the blanket peat has moved. Gradual creep of peat, towards edges of hill slopes, may make it all but impossible to restore these eroding edges, since the hydrological conditions that formed the peat may only be present in the peat's initial location. Furthermore, peat that has been subject to major topographic changes in land form (landslips etc.) may be beyond restoration due to the new prevailing conditions. Development of buildings, infrastructure and quarrying may make restoration of bog difficult and/or undesirable.

Key question: g) are there any wider environmental impacts resulting from the restoration of degraded blanket bogs?

- 3.41 Because our definition of degradation was a loss of peatland function, many of the wider impacts of restoration have been considered in the sections above. Others, relating to economic, cultural, and social or relating to food production are outside the scope of this review.
- 3.42 The issue of different management and activities on blanket peatland GHG flux has been considered throughout this review, with the evidence largely drawn from a systematic review, (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) and a meta-analysis (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). These provide an overall picture of intact blanket peatland being a net carbon sink but a net source of greenhouse gases due to methane emissions. Emissions of methane are reduced following managements that lower the peat water table (such as drainage or afforestation), but this is accompanied by increases in carbon dioxide emissions. However, the greenhouse gas impact of drainage may be beneficial overall, but may also increase losses through non-gaseous routes (DOC, POC) and the fate of carbon lost by these routes is not clear. Deforestation

stops the rapid carbon capture by trees, but will also help to prevent the ongoing loss of peat carbon, provided bogs can be restored, but is unlikely to result in short term C benefits. Revegetation of bare peat will result in carbon benefits over the bare peat, especially reducing POC losses, but may not stop ongoing loss of DOC from the peat (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]), following the initial capture of atmospheric C by the new vegetation. Re-wetting a peatland may help to prevent carbon loss as CO_2 from the peat, but will increase methane emissions, at least over the short term, but increased emissions may be amenable to control through management of the vegetation (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]).

Analysis of the functions of intact, degraded, and restored blanket bog

- 3.43 The evidence assessed in this topic review has been synthesised below to provide an evidence-based narrative, which describes the features and functions of intact blanket bogs, and how these change through both degradation and restoration. This narrative is referenced using hyperlinks in the text to the relevant information presented in Appendix 5: Analysis of evidence.
- 3.44 The evidence gathered by this review indicates that blanket bogs in their undisturbed state are systems which accumulate peat into a more or less permanently waterlogged layer called the catotelm, under high water table conditions. These bogs are dominated by wetland plant species, with *Sphagnum* mosses, *Eriophorum* spp. and variable levels of other associated plants including ericaceous dwarf shrubs, and it is their plant material that accumulates to form peat.
- 3.45 This situation is self-perpetuating in that the peat has low hydrological conductivity (water moves slowly through it) and this prevents any water captured from rainfall from escaping, helping to maintain the high water tables, and thereby form more peat, and support ongoing wetland vegetation. The high water table leaves little opportunity for infiltration of rain during storms and much rainfall runs off over the surface, with some also travelling down natural paths of low resistance within the peat, to form peat pipes. The speed at which the water runs off the intact peatland is also influenced by the vegetation, and a large component of *Sphagnum* mosses slows its flow into river channels. Water running from intact peatlands does not export large amounts of dissolved carbon and water colour. This may be because the runoff does not interact much with water trapped in the peat mass, or because the permanently waterlogged peat does not decompose rapidly, and DOC is not rapidly produced. However, the high water tables do encourage slow anaerobic decomposition of the peat material, and this is released by diffusion, bubbles or through plant tissues as methane a powerful greenhouse gas.
- 3.46 Because blanket bogs are systems driven by the hydrological characteristics, any intervention that lowers the water table will change many of their functions and characteristics. Drainage can have strong localised effects on the water table, especially downslope of the drainage channels, due to the diversion of overland flow down the drain, rather than down the slope, and the erosive forces of the water lead to widening and deepening of these channels with loss of peat (and the carbon it stores) and increased inputs of sediments into streams. These drained peatlands also lose more dissolved carbon in their drainage waters.
- 3.47 The drains also result in local changes in vegetation with a loss of *Sphagnum* and an increase in plants that are more tolerant of drier conditions. The plants themselves also have an impact on the water table. *Sphagnum* mosses have no roots, but roots of *Calluna* or planted Picea sitchensis trees, where these are encouraged or planted, have roots that will extend into drier areas of peat and their impact is primarily to dry the peat. When peat becomes drier, it shrinks, physically, through loss of water, and chemically, as the peat material itself is broken down by microbes and the enzymes they produce. The changed vegetation will gradually alter the other vegetation components to be less similar to the initial bog vegetation, and will

continue to deposit litter, but this fails to counteract the loss of peat from the lower layers. While there seems to be little difference in the loss of peat carbon as respired CO_2 , increases in release of dissolved organic carbon, and water colour (its visible component), are a consistent feature of peatlands that have become dominated by dry-land adapted plants.

- 3.48 As the peat shrinks and humifies, it becomes denser, but also its hydrology changes. More water flows through large pores, perhaps opened by the roots or their drying effects, or as cracks associated with drainage itself, and over time these enlarge to become new peat pipes. When rainstorms fall on these altered peatlands, more water flows through these enlarged pores, with less over the surface, and can be transported down the drains, and. depending on the shape and size of the catchment and the configuration of the grips, flashy flow can increase. However, as water tables are drawn down by the drainage and by transpiration by the dry moorland plants that this encourages, the levels of methane emissions also reduce (by ~8mg CH₄ m⁻² day⁻¹), but this is unlikely to offset the ongoing loss of carbon, although in half the instances studied it could improve the net balance of GHG emissions. Gullies that occur in peatlands can be hundreds of years old, and may be natural features, but have in some areas become so severe and interlinked that large volumes of peat have been lost. Where these areas are bare, due to overgrazing, wildfire or deposition of pollutants, the peat material is lost through physical erosion by wind and water, and this loss can be rapid. The remaining bare peat is a hostile place for the germination and survival of plants, being often highly acid, subject to extremes of temperature and humidity and subject to regular disturbance and rapid surface water flow, and supports little soil biological activity.
- 3.49 A severely damaged blanket bog can represent little more than an area of bare hagged peat, interspersed with channels of bare mineral soil that once underlay the peat. To restore an area that is this severely degraded to one that replicates the features and functions of an intact bog is a major challenge and most restoration activities only seek to control some of the least desirable processes. However, each of these activities can be seen as a step that brings the site closer towards its ideal, fully restored condition. The evidence in this topic review indicates that the hostility of bare peat to plants can be ameliorated by application of lime, fertiliser and stabilisation with geotextiles or brash, and that these techniques can provide a vegetation cover through seeding or transplanted plugs which will stop the majority of particulate carbon loss from the peat surface. However, this re-vegetation does not aim to restore the hydrological conditions for blanket bog, and the evidence indicates it can lead to more biological activity, and will not prevent loss of peat carbon in solution.
- 3.50 Drainage grips on flatter ground often infill without intervention. On steeper land, blocking grips and gullies helps them to trap sediments and infill and can raise the water table closer to that of the intact bogs. Peat dams are an effective method for blocking grips. Grip blocking encourages wetland bog plants and benefits invertebrates that are food for moorland birds. These blocks can also affect the water movement through the catchment, sometimes reducing flashy flow, and reducing loss of peat by erosion, but have variable impact on dissolved carbon loss. Blocking grips seems to reduce decomposition of the peat, with reduced production of DOC in the peat itself and possibly lower CO₂ emissions. Although the wetter peat has higher methane emissions than the drained peat, the pools formed behind the grips are probably not hotspots of methane emission.
- 3.51 Increasing the water table will facilitate the re-establishment of *Sphagnum*, too, with studies showing that different species seem to respond differently in a range of conditions, but also that providing some shelter, shade, and humidity can help. Despite studies that suggest severely sub-optimal conditions for *Sphagnum* in the English uplands, it is clear that at least some *Sphagnum*, whether pre-existing or reintroduced, can survive, and even widespread pollution problems can be ameliorated through changes in policy, management practices and development planning.
- 3.52 It may also be necessary to apply management to the vegetation itself to reduce the shading or drying impact of species, and restore the balance to promote more abundant wetland

plants. Removing trees can be enough to start the process of gradual change towards blanket bog vegetation, but there are no reports of efforts to control *Calluna* dominance on peatlands, which would be likely to have similar impacts. Other wetland plants such as *Eriophorum vaginatum* and *Molinia caerulea* may also outcompete *Sphagnum* mosses, and *Molinia* can be controlled to some extent by intensive herbicide, cutting or grazing treatments, but it would be worth considering whether this would repay the effort, given that these plants are likely to be part of the ongoing cycle of vegetation change, over millennia, in blanket bogs, and support valuable functions such as peat formation and regulating water quality, even if they don't represent an idealised blanket bog community.

- 3.53 No studies have reported complete restoration to a fully functioning, active, blanket bog, comparable in its characteristics to an intact bog, from any degraded initial condition. This is perhaps not a surprise since the natural characteristics of bogs change over, tens, hundreds or thousands of years. However, it is apparent that for some functions at least, restoration is moving bogs, which have been affected by drainage, afforestation, management to deliver non-bog vegetation or other factors, closer towards the biological, hydrological and geochemical condition of intact bogs. There is no evidence in this review to suggest that we cannot restore blanket bog. Every restoration paper gives some cause for hope of eventual success. However, not all restoration techniques are successful and studies where all restoration treatments fail might be unlikely to be published.
- 3.54 Some important questions remain unanswered by this topic review. Our understanding of processes of erosion, gullying and carbon storage, and of where to apply restoration, would be improved by better knowledge of whether peat masses are subject to 'creep' under gravity. Better understanding of peat formation by *Molinia*, and of its other environmental impacts, might help temper our management to control this species. The peat macrofossil studies considered are invariably under-analysed and multivariate and community analysis of peat profiles could highlight currently obscure relationships between charcoal (burning), indicators of industrial pollution and crop pollen (human activity) and vegetation change in peatlands.
- 3.55 The evidence suggests that forestry on peatlands results in increased capture of atmospheric carbon, but this is based on short-term analysis incomparable with the timescales over which peatlands form. Longer term impact of forestry or deforestation on peatland carbon balance and GHG flux, would help inform management of afforested peatlands. Strategies to control the over dominance of bog vegetation by *Calluna* or *Eriophorum vaginatum*, could deliver better biological quality, as well as influencing water table.
- 3.56 Many factors appear to be affecting peatland hydrology and water quality at the catchment scale. The inconsistent evidence presented here suggests that greater reflection of spatial and topographic features, inclusion of more ecological factors at a greater level of detail, as well as management factors such as drainage or blocking, and coordinating studies across a wider range of widely representative catchments, would result in better predictive models of the impacts of management. Water quality impacts seem to be more driven by vegetation than by point interventions, and better understanding of both the mechanisms and interactions of this effect would help to develop mitigation strategies. Evidence for gaseous flux, especially relating to rewetting of peatlands, remains weak, and a coordinated monitoring programme would help us to understand and manage the GHG impact of peatland restoration.
- 3.57 Reintroduction of *Sphagnum* may still be frustrated to some extent but is not precluded by pollution. Further review or research into the impacts of atmospheric pollutants on wider bog plant communities and their interactions would indicate whether competition and pollutant deposition interact, and if this effect is amenable to management to favour the recovery of blanket bog vegetation. The hydrological impacts of transpiration by vascular plants, and of their removal, in bogs would seem to be a useful area of study that may explain many aspects of peatland degradation. Understanding the longer term impacts of re-vegetation of bare peat would help prioritise future restoration actions, and determining whether humidity in these

situations can be managed to encourage *Sphagnum* recovery, even in low water table areas, could help them to recover further.

4 General discussion

- 4.1 The scope of this topic review has been very broad and has considered a wide range of different research papers. However, the search terms employed have resulted in a particular focus in some areas, and identified fewer studies in others. This is an inevitable outcome of restricting search terms, and should not affect the conclusions of the topic review in those areas where the evidence identified is strong.
- 4.2 There appear to be some general patterns that can be identified. Much research has focused on methods for re-vegetation of bare peat, with either vascular plants, aimed at stabilizing eroding peat surfaces, or with *Sphagnum*, and these have largely provided evidence of different degrees of success, with those resulting in failure normally involving lowland agricultural grasses. The long-term effects of such interventions are poorly understood. Establishing vascular plant-dominated vegetation on blanket peat is unlikely to result in restoration of the functions of an intact bog; however it will slow the rate of the loss of peat, but will not prevent or reverse it.
- 4.3 The impact of different semi-natural vegetation types, which respond to different land management efforts, seems to be strong on many peatland functions, impacting on erosion, hydrology, gas flux, biodiversity, and loss of dissolved and particulate carbon. Many of the studies contrast the properties of blanket peatland dominated by *Sphagnum*, *Eriophroum* (usually *vaginatum*) and *Calluna vulgaris*. For most functions of peatlands, it would seem that *Sphagnum* is better than *Eriophorum* and both are better than *Calluna vulgaris*. As yet, no research has been published on how best to control the dominance of *Calluna* on blanket peatland, there has been however considerable effort made to promote *Calluna* establishment, not only on bare peat but also in existing semi-natural vegetation.
- 4.4 *Molinia caerulea* is also a focus of investigation, particularly its eradication, whereas there is little known of its impact on peatland function. The evidence presented on peat-forming plants raises the possibility that *Molinia* has long been a common plant on some of our blanket peatlands and may have formed considerable amounts of peat, hence locking up carbon. *Molinia*, as a deciduous grass, therefore is generally unpopular with farmers, and as a vigorous dominant, also unpopular with conservationists. However, its impact on carbon sequestration or water quality is little understood, further exploration may cause us to question the demonization of this species.
- 4.5 Much research effort has considered the impacts of drainage, and even more consideration has been given to drain blocking. Localised effects on vegetation and hydrology have been demonstrated, but strong consistent patterns in hydrology or water quality are not evident. It would appear other factors confound these interpretations and a more holistic approach to understanding the place of drainage and blocking among other blanket peatland managements would help to identify the true controls on water movement and quality, and identify where we can manage this to improve ecosystem services.
- 4.6 Studies of eroded and hagged peatlands, especially those that may not be totally bare, have not featured strongly in this topic review, but are likely to have hydrological and other impacts at least as important as drainage. Bare peat seems to attract a strong focus, with many studies exploring techniques for its re-vegetation. However, some studies seem to show that revegetating bare peat, while stopping it from washing away, may encourage more active microbes. These microbes may accelerate the loss of peat, although likely to be on a smaller scale than the erosional losses avoided by re-vegetation.
- 4.7 No evidence was found for a full restoration of a degraded blanket peatland to a peat-forming community rich in *Sphagnum* mosses. This is the desired end point of blanket bog restoration

for most conservationists, but cannot deliver unequivocal benefits across all functions. However, the evidence in this topic review would largely suggest that the resulting balance of hydrological, geochemical, biodiversity and other benefits would certainly outweigh the alternatives.

5 Conclusions

5.1 This topic review set out to answer a number of targeted questions pertinent to restoration of blanket peatlands. The conclusions for each of the questions follow:

What are the hydrological, structural and floristic characteristics indicative of functioning and active blanket bog?

5.2 This topic review shows that blanket bogs, when supporting a balanced range of *Sphagnum* mosses, cotton grasses, dwarf shrubs, sedges and other typical wetland plants, are characterised by a high water table that fluctuates in a surface zone. These systems form peat by adding material into their waterlogged lower layers, which accumulate due to their high retention, and slow movement of rainwater. New rain falling travels mainly across the bog surface, slowed by bog mosses and cotton grasses, but can also enter peat pipes that weave through the peat mass and underlying substrate. Decomposition is slow, with peat carbon being released as methane, and little being lost as dissolved organic carbon.

What species of plant are peat- forming and what are their physical (hydrological and other) requirements?

5.3 Most peat formed is by *Sphagnum* mosses, with *Sphagnum* '*imbricatum*' (now split into *S. affine* and *S. austinii*) often being the most important species, but with *Sphagnum papillosum* and others also occasionally important. Cotton grasses, usually *Eriophorum vaginatum*, can also predominate, but much peat is often amorphous organic matter, or unidentifiable monocotyledonous material. Much of this may be *Molinia caerulea*, which also appears to form peat, recognisable at the surface, and occasionally also lower down the profile. Dwarf shrubs, including *Calluna*, feature throughout most peat profiles, but are never dominant except in the litter layers at the surface. The peat-forming plants listed above require high water tables, which not only enables them to out-compete plants of drier habitats, but also is a requirement for the preservation of the peat material they deposit. Bogs are, by definition, ombrotrophic, acidic and require low nutrient conditions for these species to thrive.

What factors (management, atmospheric deposition and climatic) affect the hydrological, structural and floristic status and composition of blanket bog, and leads to its degradation?

5.4 This topic review has found evidence of loss of peatland function as a result of afforestation, peat cutting, drainage, accelerated erosion and atmospheric deposition of pollutants. These result in a loss of typical blanket bog plants, often becoming more dominated by those blanket bog species that are better adapted to drier habitats. This can result in higher bulk densities, shrinking and subsidence of the peat, but also more water flow through larger pores, which enlarge to form more peat pipes. The impact of drainage may be limited in its extent to narrow areas around ditches, but these ditches can erode on steeper slopes, and may have a more widespread effect in low rainfall areas. Where the peat is drier, peat accumulation ceases, and while there is a reduction in methane emissions, and there seems to be little additional loss of carbon as CO₂, much dissolved carbon is lost, discolouring water and reducing the peat's carbon store. Where peat is bare, it can erode rapidly, and lose particles of peat into streams.

What interventions are required to restore a degraded blanket bog to a functioning and active blanket bog system with abundant peat-forming species, and over what timescale?

5.5 The evidence suggests that many different steps may be required to restore the functions of an intact bog to a degraded blanket peatland. Afforested peatlands can begin the process of restoration by felling the trees. Felling, in younger plantations can rapidly restore the blanket bog vegetation, even where trees are felled to waste and left on site. Bare eroding peat can be stabilised by re-vegetation, often aided by amelioration of growth conditions with lime, fertiliser, stabilisation techniques and careful selection of seeds. While heather and grasses can prevent particulate loss, they will not form peat, and ongoing loss of dissolved peat carbon may continue. Where the vegetation has become dominated by *Molinia* this can be controlled, but intensive interventions are required and the impact on wider functions, of *Molinia* or its control, are unknown. The key to blanket bog formation, and also to its restoration, is to re-establish abundant *Sphagnum* mosses, and this has been successfully demonstrated on cut over raised bog peatlands where management of water table, peat conditions, surface humidity, source and type of moss material and use of mulches can all help to increase success. The conditions found on bare and eroding blanket peatland are more challenging. Attempts to reintroduce *Sphagnum* to upland blanket bogs are comparatively recent, and as yet levels of persistence are unknown. No studies considered in this topic review demonstrate full recovery of blanket bog and its functions, and therefore the timescale for a full recovery remains unknown.

Does the blocking of artificial drainage channels (grips) on degraded blanket bog result in a functioning and active blanket bog with abundant peat forming species and representative bog flora and fauna. If so, do all drains require to be blocked?

5.6 There is some weak evidence that blocking of grips through blanket bogs provides some restoration of blanket bog vegetation. It usually raises the water table, increases river base flow in droughts, and improves conditions for invertebrates, including those important as food for moorland birds. Grip blocking may reduce export of POC, DOC, and reduce flashy flows that can cause flooding, but this seems highly variable between locations. It does however, seem to reverse the impact of drainage on surface peat properties, possibly increasing hydraulic conductivity and reducing density. Using peat dams appears to be the most effective, and cost-effective, approach, but the raised water tables will increase methane emissions. The topic review suggests that grips on gentler slopes (under 2°) will probably revegetate without intervention, and so may not be a priority for blocking. They may still however influence the hydrology of the surrounding peat area.

Are there conditions where it is not feasible to completely restore a degraded blanket bog to a fully functioning bog system with its representative flora and fauna, and if so what is likely to prevent their full recovery.

5.7 This topic review has found no examples of unrestorable bogs, where conditions for growth and recovery of bog species are either not prohibitive or amenable to management. However, social, cultural, political, economic or other considerations may mean that peatland restoration is not viable.

Are there any wider environmental impacts resulting from the restoration of degraded blanket bogs?

5.8 This topic review has identified a wide range of predominantly hydrological and geochemical environmental functions that are affected both by degradation and restoration of peatlands. The impact of degradation seems, overall, to be more certain than that of restoration. This may be partly due to timescale, since degradation has been ongoing for longer, and recovery of intact peatland functions will require, above all else, time.

6 References

ANDERSON, A. R., DAY, R. & PYATT, D. G. 2000. Physical and hydrological impacts of blanket bog afforestation at Bad a' Cheo, Caithness: the first 5 years. Forestry, 73, 467-478.

ANDERSON, A., PYATT, D. G. & WHITE, I. M. S. 1995. Impacts of conifer plantations on blanket bogs and prospects of restoration. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOYT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of temperate wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

ANDERSON, P., TALLIS, J. H. & YALDEN, D. W. 1995b. Restoring Moorland. Peak District Moorland Management Project, Phase III report. Bakewell, Derbyshire.

ANDERSON, P., WORRALL, P., ROSS, S., HAMMOND, G. & A, K. 2011a. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management Programme.Volume 2. Restoring Drained, Burned and Grazed Moorlands.

ANDERSON, P., WORRALL, P., ROSS, S., HAMMOND, G. & KEEN, A. 2011b. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management Programme. Volume 3. The Restoration of Highly Degraded Blanket Bog.

ANDRUS, R. E. 1986. Some aspects of *Sphagnum* ecology. Canadian Journal of Botany, 64, 416-426.

ARDRON, P. A. 1999. Peat cutting in upland Britain, with special reference to the Peak District : its impact on landscape, archaeology, and ecology.

ARMSTRONG, A., HOLDEN, J., KAY, P., CHAPMAN, P., GLEDHILL, S., FOULGER, M., MCDONALD, A. & WALKER, A. 2008. Grip-blocking in upland catchments: costs and benefits. Final Report. Report to Yorkshire Water.

ARMSTRONG, A., HOLDEN, J., KAY, P., FOULGER, M., GLEDHILL, S., MCDONALD, A. T. & WALKER, A. 2009. Drain-blocking techniques on blanket peat: A framework for best practice. Journal of Environmental Management, 90, 3512-3519.

ARMSTRONG, A., HOLDEN, J., KAY, P., FRANCIS, B., FOULGER, M., GLEDHILL, S., MCDONALD, A. T. & WALKER, A. 2010. The impact of peatland drain-blocking on dissolved organic carbon loss and discolouration of water; results from a national survey. Journal of Hydrology, 381, 112-120.

BOUDREAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. Restoration of post-mined peatlands: Effect of vascular pioneer species on *Sphagnum* establishment. In: MALTERER, T., JOHNSON, K. & STEWARD, J., eds. 1998 International Peat Symposium, 1998 Duluth, Minnesota. 39-43.

BOWER, M.M (1961). The Distribution of Erosion in the Blanket Peat Bogs of the Pennines, in: Transactions and Papers (Institute of British Geographers) 29, 17-30.

BRIDGES, M. K. 1985. Stabilisation and revegation of fire damaged deep peat on Glaisdale Moor. Moorland Management. Helmsley: North York Moors National Park Authority.

BRIG. 2010. UK Biodiversity Action Plan; Priority Habitat Descriptions. BRIG (ed. Ant Maddock) 2008.

BROOKS, S., STONEMAN, R. (Eds.). 1997. Conserving Bogs: The Management Handbook. Aufl. London: The Stationery Office.

BUCKLER, M. 2007. Evaluating Moorland Restoration Techniques: The use of nurse grasses and substrate stabilisation methods in the restoration of bare and eroding peat on Bleaklow in the Peak District National Park.

BUGNON, J. L., ROCHEFORT, L. & PRICE, J. S. 1997. Field experiment of *Sphagnum* reintroduction on a dry abandoned peatland in Eastern Canada. Wetlands, 17, 513-517.

BURKE, W. 1975. Effects of drainage on the hydrology of blanket bog. Irish Journal of Agricultural Research, 14, 145-162.

BURTT, R. & HAWKE, C. 2008. Hydrological restoration on intact and eroding blanket bog in the Peak district, Association of Applied Biologists.

BUSSELL, J., JONES, D. L., HEALEY, J. R. & PULLIN, A. S. 2010. How do draining and re-wetting affect carbon stores and greenhouse gas fluxes in peatland soils. Systematic Review CEEE 08-012 (SR49). Centre for Evidence-Based Conservation, Bangor University.

BUTTLER, A., GROSVERNIER, P. & MATTHEY, Y. 1998. Development of *Sphagnum fallax* diaspores on bare peat with implications for the restoration of cut-over bogs. Journal of Applied Ecology, 35, 800-810.

CAMPEAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. 1996. *Sphagnum* regeneration on bare peat surfaces: Field and greenhouse experiments. Journal of Applied Ecology, 33, 599-608.

CAPORN, S. J. M., CARROLL, J. A., STUDHOLME, C. & LEE, J. A. 2006. Recovery of ombrotrophic *Sphagnum* mosses in relation to air pollution in the Southern Pennines. Report to Moors for the Future.

CAPORN, S., SEN, R., FIELD, C., JONES, E., CARROLL, J. & DISE, N. 2007. Consequences of lime and fertiliser application for moorland restoration and carbon balance. Research report to Moors for the Future.

CARROLL, J., ANDERSON, P., CAPORN, S., EADES, P., O'REILLY, C. & BONN, A. 2009. *Sphagnum* in the Peak District: Current Status and Potential for Restoration: Moors for the Future Research Report No 16.

CHAMBERS, F. M., MAUQUOY, D., CLOUTMAN, E. W., DANIELL, J. R. G. & JONES, P. S. 2007a. Recent vegetation history of Drygarn Fawr (Elenydd SSSI), Cambrian Mountains, Wales: implications for conservation management of degraded blanket mires. Biodiversity and Conservation, 16, 2821-2846.

CHAMBERS, F. M., MAUQUOY, D., GENT, A., PEARSON, F., DANIELL, J. R. G. & JONES, P. S. 2007b. Palaeoecology of degraded blanket mire in South Wales: Data to inform conservation management. Biological Conservation, 137, 197-209.

CHIRINO, C., CAMPEAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. 2006. *Sphagnum* establishment on bare peat: The importance of climatic variability and *Sphagnum* species richness. Applied Vegetation Science, 9, 285-294.

CLAY, G. D., WORRALL, F., CLARK, E., FRASER, E. D. G. 2009. Hydrological responses to managed burning and grazing in an upland blanket bog. Journal of Hydrology, 376, 486-495.

CLAYDEN, B. & HOLLIS, J. M. 1984. Criteria for differentiating soil series. Soil Survey Technical Monograph No. 17, Harpenden.

CLYMO, R. S. & REDDAWAY, E. F. J. 1971. Productivity of *Sphagnum* (bog-moss) and peat accumulation. Hydrobiologia, 12, 181-192.

COULSON, J. C., BUTTERFIELD, J. E. L. & HENDERSON, E. 1990. The effect of open drainage ditches on the plant and invertebrate communities of moorland and on the decomposition of peat. Journal of Applied Ecology, 27, 549-561.

EC 2007. Interpretation manual of European Union habitats. EUR 27, DG Environment, Nature and Biodiversity. URL:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/legislation/habitatsdirective/docs/2007_07_im.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

EVANS, M., ALLOT, T., HOLDEN, J., FLITCROFT, C. & BONN, A. 2005. Understanding Gully Blocking in Deep Peat. Moors for the Future Report No 4. Castleton: Moors for the Future.

FARRICK, K. K. & PRICE, J. S. 2009. Ericaceous shrubs on abandoned block-cut peatlands: implications for soil water availability and *Sphagnum* restoration. Ecohydrology, 2, 530-540.

FENNER, N., WILLIAMS, R., TOBERMAN, H., HUGHES, S., REYNOLDS, B. & FREEMAN, C. 2011. Decomposition 'hotspots' in a rewetted peatland: implications for water quality and carbon cycling. Hydrobiologia, 674, 51-66.

FERGUSON, P., LEE, J.A., BELL, J.N.B. 1978. Effects of sulphur pollutants on the growth of *Sphagnum* species. Environmental Pollution, 16, 151-162.

FERLAND, C. & ROCHEFORT, L. 1997. Restoration techniques for *Sphagnum*-dominated peatlands. Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique, 75, 1110-1118.

GALLEGO-SALA, A. V., CLARK, J. M, HOUSE, J. I., ORR, H. G., PRENTICE, I. C., SMITH, P., FAREWELL, T., CHAPMAN, S. J. 2010. Bioclimatic envelope model of climate change impacts on blanket peatland distribution in Great Britain, Climate Research, 45, 151-162.

GIBSON, H. S., WORRALL, F., BURT, T. P. & ADAMSON, J. K. 2009. DOC budgets of drained peat catchments: implications for DOC production in peat soils. Hydrological Processes, 23, 1901-1911.

GLENDINNING, A. 2012. The continued effect of damming moorland drainage channels on Exmoor Mire vegetation. FdSc Countryside Management.

GORE, A. J. P. & GODFREY, M. 1981. Reclamation of eroded peat in the Pennines. Journal of Ecology, 69, 85-96.

GRAYSON, R. & HOLDEN, J. 2012a. Hydrological Recovery from Grip Blocking in Upland Catchments: Snailsden Moor, Winscar. Final Report. Report to Yorkshire Water (extension to project A9699, July 2008).

GRAYSON, R. & HOLDEN, J. 2012b. The impact of grip blocking downstream: Stean Moor update report (draft). Interim report prepared for Natural England, Environment Agency and Yorkshire Water.

GREEN, S., BOARDMAN, C., BAIRD, A. & GAUCI, V. 2011. Investigation of peatland restoration (grip blocking) techniques to achieve best outcomes for methane and greenhouse gas emissions/balance. Controlled Environment (Mesocosm) Experiment. Final Report to DEFRA. SP1202. Leeds.

GROENEVELD, E. V. G., MASSE, A. & ROCHEFORT, L. 2007. Polytrichum strictum as a nurseplant in peatland restoration. Restoration Ecology, 15, 709-719.

GROSVERNIER, P., MATTHEY, Y. & BUTTLER, A. 1995. Microclimate and physical properties of peat: new clues to the understanding of bog restoration processes. In: WHEELER, B. D. & SHAW, S. C. (eds.) Restoration of temperate wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

GROSVERNIER, P., MATTHEY, Y. & BUTTLER, A. 1997. Growth potential of three *Sphagnum* species in relation to water table level and peat properties with implications for their restoration in cutover bogs. Journal of Applied Ecology, 34, 471-483.

GUNNARSSON, U., BRONGE, L. B., RYDIN, H. & OHLSON, M. 2008. Near-zero recent carbon accumulation in a bog with high nitrogen deposition in SW Sweden. Global Change Biology, 14, 2152-2165.

HAJEK, T. 2009. Habitat and species controls on *Sphagnum* production and decomposition in a mountain raised bog. Boreal Environment Research, 14, 947-958.

HINDE, S., ROSENBURGH, A., WRIGHT, N., BUCKLER, M. & CAPORN, S. 2010. *Sphagnum* reintroduction project: A report on research into the re-introduction of *Sphagnum* mosses to degraded moorland. Moors for the Future Research Report 18.

HOLDEN, J. & BURT, T. P. 2002. Piping and pipe flow in a deep peat catchment. Catena, 48, 163-199.

HOLDEN, J. 2005b. Piping and woody plants in peatlands: Cause or effect? Water Resources Research, 41, 10.

HOLDEN, J. 2005a. Controls of soil pipe frequency in upland blanket peat. Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface, 110, 11.

HOLDEN, J. 2006. Sediment and particulate carbon removal by pipe erosion increase over time in blanket peatlands as a consequence of land drainage. Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface, 111.

HOLDEN, J. 2009a. Flow through macropores of different size classes in blanket peat. Journal of Hydrology, 364, 342-348.

HOLDEN, J., BURT, T. P. & COX, N. J. 2001. Macroporosity and infiltration in blanket peat: the implications of tension disc infiltrometer measurements. Hydrological Processes, 15, 289-303.

HOLDEN, J., EVANS, M. G., BURT, T. P. & HORTON, M. 2006. Impact of land drainage on peatland hydrology. Journal of Environmental Quality, 35, 1764-1778.

HOLDEN, J., GASCOIGN, M. & BOSANKO, N. R. 2007. Erosion and natural re-vegetation associated with surface land drains in upland peatlands. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 32, 1547-1557.

HOLDEN, J., KIRKBY, M. J., LANE, S. N., MILLEDGE, D. G., BROOKES, C. J., HOLDEN, V. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2008. Overland flow velocity and roughness properties in peatlands. Water Resources Research, 44, 11.

HOLDEN, J., SMART, R. P., DINSMORE, K. J., BAIRD, A. J., BILLETT, M. F. & CHAPMAN, P. J. 2012. Morphological change of natural pipe outlets in blanket peat. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 37, 109-118.

HOLDEN, J., WALLAGE, Z. E., LANE, S. N. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2011. Water table dynamics in undisturbed, drained and restored blanket peat. Journal of Hydrology, 402, 103-114. URL: www.ukbap.org.uk/library/UKBAPPriorityHabitatDescriptionsRevised20100730.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

JNCC 2009. Common Standards Monitoring Guidance for Upland Habitats. Version July 2009, Updated from (June 2008). Joint Nature Conservation Committee, Peterborough.

JNCC 2011. Towards an assessment of the state of the UK Peatlands. URL: http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/jncc445_web.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

JONCZYK, J., WILKINSON, M., RIMMER, D. & QUINN, P. 2009. Peatscapes: Monitoring of Hydrology and Water Quality at Geltsdale and Priorsdale.

KOMULAINEN, V. M., TUITTILA, E. S., VASANDER, H. & LAINE, J. 1999a. Restoration of drained peatlands in southern Finland: initial effects on vegetation change and CO₂ balance. Journal of Applied Ecology, 36, 634-648.

LABADZ, J., ALLOTT, T., EVANS, M., BUTCHER, D., BILLETT, M., STAINER, S., YALLOP, A., JONES, P., INNERDALE, M., HARMON, N., MAHER, K., BRADBURY, R., MOUNT, D., O'BRIEN, H. & HART, R. 2010. Peatland Hydrology: Draft Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands.

LINDSAY, R. A. Peat Forming Process and Restoration Management. In: MEADE, R., ed. Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop, 2003. English Nature.

LINDSAY, R. 2010. Peatbogs and carbon: a critical synthesis to inform policy development in oceanic peat bog conservation and restoration in the context of climate change. London.

LITTLEWOOD, N., ANDERSON, P., ARTZ, R., BRAGG, O., LUNT, P. & MARRS, R. 2010. Peatland Biodiversity: Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands.

LUNT, P., ALLOTT, T., ANDERSON, P., BUCKLER, M., COUPAR, A., JONES, P., LABADZ, J. & WORRALL, F. 2010. Peatland Restoration: Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands. In: EVAN, M. (ed.).

MACKAY, A. W. & TALLIS, J. H. 1996. Summit-type blanket mire erosion in the forest of Bowland, Lancashire, UK: Predisposing factors and implications for conservation. Biological Conservation, 76, 31-44.

MALMER, N. & WALLEN, B. 1999. The dynamics of peat accumulation on bogs: mass balance of hummocks and hollows and its variation throughout a millennium. Ecography, 22.

MALMER, N., SVENSSON, B. M. & WALLEN, B. 1994. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN *SPHAGNUM* MOSES AND FIELD LAYER VASCULAR PLANTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF PEAT-FORMING SYSTEMS. Folia Geobotanica & Phytotaxonomica, 29.

MARRS, R. H., PHILLIPS, J. D. P., TODD, P. A., GHORBANI, J. & LE DUC, M. G. 2004. Control of *Molinia caerulea* on upland moors. Journal of Applied Ecology, 41, 398-411.

MCHUGH, M. M. *et al.* 2000. Research on the quantification and causes of upland soil erosion. Ministry of Agriculture Fisheries and Food, Research and Development Final Project Report SP0402.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 1999. A laboratory assessment of the relative susceptibility of *Molinia caerulea* (L.) Moench and *Calluna vulgaris* (L.) Hull to a range of herbicides. Annals of Applied Biology, 135, 503-508.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 2003. A field assessment of the role of selective herbicides in the restoration of British moorland dominated by *Molinia*. Biological Conservation, 109, 369-379.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D., COX, E. S., GHORBANI, J., LE DUC, M. G. & MARRS, R. H. 2004. Developing an integrated land management strategy for the restoration of moorland vegetation on *Molinia caerulea*-dominated vegetation for conservation purposes in upland Britain. Biological Conservation, 119, 371-385.

MURPHY P. 2008. Restoring Active Blanket Bog in Ireland, Technical Final Report, LIFE project Number LIFE02 NAT/IRL/8490, Coillte Teoranta, Mullingar, Westmeath.

NATURAL ENGLAND. 2010. England's Peatlands: Carbon Storage and Greenhouse Gases. Natural England Report NE257, Peterborough.

NEGTAP. 2001. Transboundary Air Pollution: Acidification, Eutrophication and Ground-Level Ozone in the UK. National Expert Group on Transboundary Air Pollution, Defra.

O'BRIEN, H., LABADZ, J. C. & BUTCHER, D. P. 2007. Review of Blanket Bog Management and Restoration. Technical Report to DEFRA. Project No. CTE0513.

O'REILLY, C. 2008. Peatscapes Project: *Sphagna* as management indicators. Final report to North Pennines AONB Partnership.

PHILLIPS, H. 2008. Management of moorlands for Red Grouse: Investigating the case for grip blocking.

PHILLIPS, J., YALDEN, D. & TALLIS, J. 1981. Peak District Moorland Erosion Study Phase 1 Report. Peak Park Joint Planning Board, Bakewell.

RAMCHUNDER, S. J., BROWN, L. E. & HOLDEN, J. 2012. Catchment-scale peatland restoration benefits stream ecosystem biodiversity. Journal of Applied Ecology, 49, 182-191.

RICHARDS, J. R. A., WHEELER, B. D. & WILLIS, A. J. 1995. The growth and value of *Eriophorum angustifolium* in relation to the re-vegetation of eroding blanket peat. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOJT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

ROBINSON, M. 1985. The Hydrological Effects of Moorland Gripping: a re-appraisal of the Moor House Research. Journal of Environmental Management, 21, 205-211.

ROBROEK, B. J. M., RUIJVEN, J. V., SCHOUTEN, M. G. C., BREEUWER, A., CRUSHELL, P. H., BERENDSE, F. & LIMPENS, J. 2009. *Sphagnum* re-introduction in degraded peatlands: the effects of aggregation, species identity and water table. Basic and Applied Ecology, 10, 697-706.

ROBROEK, B. J. H., SMART, R. P., HOLDEN, J. 2010. Sensitivity of blanket peat vegetation and hydrochemistry to local disturbances. Science of the Total Environment, 408, 5028-5034.

ROCHEFORT, L. & CAMPEAU, S. Recovery of donor sites used for peatland restoration. In: SCHMILEWSKI, G. & ROCHEFORT, L., eds. Peat in horticulture - Quality and environmental challenges. A joint symposium of Commission II (Industrial utilization of peat and peatlands) and Commission V (After-use of cut-over peatlands) of the International Peat Society, 2002 Parnu, Estonia. International Peat Society.

ROCHEFORT, L., GAUTHIER, R. & LEQUÉRÉ, D. 1995. *Sphagnum* regeneration - Towards an optimisation of bog restoration. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOYT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

ROCHEFORT, L., QUINTY, F., CAMPEAU, S., JOHNSON, K. & MALTERER, T. 2003. North American approach to the restoration of *Sphagnum* dominated peatlands. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 11, 3-20.

RODWELL, J. S. 1991. British Plant Communities: Vol 2, Mires and Heaths, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

ROSS, S. 2011. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management programme. Volume 4. Restoration of Upland Vegetation.

RoTAP. 2012. Review of Transboundary Air Pollution: Acidification, Eutrophication, Ground Level Ozone and Heavy Metals in the UK. Contract Report to the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. Centre for Ecology & Hydrology.

SCHUMANN, M. & JOOSTEN, H. 2008. Global peatland restoration manual (Version April 18, 2008), Greifswald, Germany.

SHEPPARD, L. J., LEITH, I. D., MIZUNUMA, T., NEIL CAPE, J., CROSSLEY, A., LEESON, S., SUTTON, M. A., VAN DIJK, N. and FOWLER, D. 2011. Dry deposition of ammonia gas drives species change faster than wet deposition of ammonium ions: evidence from a long-term field manipulation. Global Change Biology, 17: 3589–3607. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02478.x.

SHERIDAN, S. 2008. Restoration of blanket bog vegetation as a habitat for red grouse following clearance of immature Sitka spruce forest on the west coast of Scotland [electronic resource], Newcastle upon Tyne, University of Newcastle upon Tyne.

SHOTBOLT, L., ANDERSON, A.R. & TOWNEND, J. 1998. Changes to blanket bog adjoining forest plots at Bad a'Cheo, Rumster Forest, Caithness. Forestry, 71, 311-324.

SKEFFINGTON, R., WILSON, E., MALTBY, E., IMMIRZI, P. & PUTWAIN, P. Acid deposition and blanket mire degradation and restoration. In: TALLIS, J. H., MEADE, R. & HULME, P. D., eds. Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges., 1997 University of Manchester. Mires Research Group.

SLIVA, J. & PFADENHAUER, J. 1999. Restoration of cut-over raised bogs in southern Germany - a comparison of methods. Applied Vegetation Science, 2, 137-148.

STEWART, A. J. A. & LANCE, A. N. 1991. Effects of moor-draining on the hydrology and vegetation of Northern Pennine blanket bog. Journal of Applied Ecology, 28,1105-1117.

STROUD, D. A., REED, T. M., PIENKOWSKI, M. W. & LINDSAY, R. A. 1988. Effects of afforestation on the ecosystem. In. Birds, Bogs and Forestry: The Peatlands of Caithness and Sutherland Eds. Ratcliffe D. A. & Oswald, P. A. Nature Conservancy Council, URL: http://www.jncc.gov.uk/page-4322 [Accessed April 2013].

TALLIS, J. H. & YALDEN, D. W. 1983. Peak District Moorland Restoration Project. Phase II Report: Re-vegetation Trials. Bakewell, Derbyshire.

TODD, P. A., PHILLIPS, J. D. P., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 2000. Control of *Molinia caerulea* on moorland. Grass and Forage Science, 55.

WALLAGE, Z. E. & HOLDEN, J. 2011. Near-surface macropore flow and saturated hydraulic conductivity in drained and restored blanket peatlands. Soil Use and Management, 27, 247-254.

WALLAGE, Z. E., HOLDEN, J. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2006. Drain blocking: An effective treatment for reducing dissolved organic carbon loss and water discolouration in a drained peatland. Science of the Total Environment, 367, 811-821.

WARBURTON, J. 2003. Wind-splash erosion of bare peat on UK upland moorlands. Catena, 52, 191-207.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2010. Recovery of water tables in Welsh blanket bog after drain blocking: Discharge rates, time scales and the influence of local conditions. Journal of Hydrology, 391, 377-386.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2011. The impact of drain blocking on an upland blanket bog during storm and drought events, and the importance of sampling-scale. Journal of Hydrology, 404, 198-208.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2011b. Ditch blocking, water chemistry and organic carbon flux: Evidence that blanket bog restoration reduces erosion and fluvial carbon loss. Science of the Total Environment, 409, 2010-2018.

WISHART, D. & WARBURTON, J. 2001. An assessment of blanket mire degradation and peatland gully development in the Cheviot Hills, Northumberland. Scottish Geographical Journal, 117, 185-206.

WORRALL, F., BELL, M. J. & BHOGAL, A. 2010. Assessing the probability of carbon and greenhouse gas benefit from the management of peat soils. Science of the Total Environment, 408, 2657-2666.

WORRALL, F., ROWSON, J. G., EVANS, M. G., PAWSON, R., DANIELS, S. & BONN, A. 2011. Carbon fluxes from eroding peatlands - the carbon benefit of re-vegetation following wildfire. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 36, 1487-1498.

7 Glossary and acronyms

Term	
block-cut	Subject to peat extraction by draining, cutting trenches and removing peat from the vertical peat face.
bog	ombrogenous mire
bulk density	Also known as dry bulk density. The mass of dry material per unit volume.
catchment	The area upslope of a point, line or area, towards which all surface water drains (for example, the catchment of the grip) OR an area where all the surface water drains towards a common point. Often the same thing.
CH ₄	Methane
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
conductivity (1)	Hydrological conductivity = a measure of the inherent properties of a material that control how quickly water will move through them.
conductivity (2)	Electrical conductivity, used in testing solutions (soil water, streams etc.) to indicate the concentration of a range of solutes, interacting with other chemical properties.
cut-over	Subject to peat extraction, more usually by mechanised milling or vacuum- harvesting of peat.
DOC	Dissolved Organic Carbon
efficiency	(hydrology, of catchments) the proportion of rainfall entering a catchment during a given period, which leaves the catchment as stream water. ie. more 'efficient' catchments will export more of their rainfall than inefficient ones.
fen	Mire receiving water from sources other than precipitation.
flashiness	The extent to which a flow of water is flashy.
flashy	of hydrographs during rainfall events. Responding quickly by increases in flow to the onset in the catchment of rainfall, maximum rain deposition, and by decreases in flow to cessation or reduction in rainfall intensity.
GHG	Greenhouse gas (CO ₂ , N ₂ O, CH ₄)
GPR	Ground Penetrating Radat
ground water	Water held in the bedrock, drift and soils forming a continuous mass in one or all of these.
hydrograph	A record showing the flow rate (volume/time) of a stream or channel at a given point, over time.
mire	Habitat which forms peat
N ₂ O	Nitrous oxide
NEE	Net Ecosystem Exchange (of CO ₂)

Table continued...

Term	
ombrogenous	Formed due to the influence of precipitation.
ombrotrophic	(of a habitat or ecosystem) receiving all its nutrient supply from precipitation or atmospheric deposition.
PAR	Photosynthetically active radiation.
peat	(i) the partially decomposed remains of plants and other organisms which have accumulated in waterlogged conditions, at the surface of the soil profile or as material infilling water bodies. Also (ii) a soil texture class encompassing any soil material with greater than 20-30% organic matter (depending on clay content).
рН	A measure of the acidity or alkalinity of a solution or material.
POC	Particulate Organic Carbon
Sphagnum	A genus of mosses characterised by whorled branched growth form, also called 'bog mosses'.
water table	The distance of a waterlogged zone beneath the surface. Note that in many bogs this water table is not the ground water, in that it is discontinuous with a more freely drained zoned at its base. However, in raised bogs, water table in bogs may be continuous with ground water, but largely not interacting, because the water table is raised bog the gravitational level of the ground water due to low hydrological conductivity of peat.
yield	(hydrology) the total amount of water exiting a catchment.
SCP	Spheroidal Carbonaceous Particles – soot particles found in peat deposits associated with industrial activity
gully	A channel caused by erosion of a peat mass, which may be branched or linear, and may be found entirely within the peat mass, or cutting through into underlying mineral material (also gullying, gullied).
anastomosing	Splitting and rejoining a.k.a. reticulate.
reticulate	Forming a net a.k.a. anastomosing.
hagg	A remnant block of undisturbed peat that has been separated from the rest of the peat mass by anastomosing gullies.
macrofossil	Literally large fossils, used in peat stratigraphy, however, to denote recognisable plant remains, usually requiring microscopy.
BAP	Biodiversity Action Plan

8 Scientific names and synonyms

Currently valid scientific names are given in bold: Sphagnum angustifolium = Sphagnum papillosum = Sphagnum fuscum = Sphagnum capillifolium = Sphagnum imbricatum = **Sphagnum affine** Sphagnum recurvum = probably **Sphagnum fallax** Trichophorum cespitosum = Trichophorum cespitosum subsp. germanicum (Palla) Hegi Calluna = Calluna vulgaris (L.) Hull Molinia = Molinia caerulea (L.) Moench

Appendix 1 List of references following initial screening process

ADAMSON, H/GARDNER, S. (2004). Upland Management Technical Guideline No.4: Restoration and Management of Blanket Mires. IN Defra (Ed., Aerts, R./Wallen, B./Malmer, N. (1992): GROWTH-LIMITING NUTRIENTS IN *SPHAGNUM* -DOMINATED BOGS SUBJECT TO LOW AND HIGH ATMOSPHERIC NITROGEN SUPPLY, in: Journal of Ecology 80, 131-140.

AGENCY, ENVIRONMENT. (2010). Working with Natural Processes to Manage Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk: A Guidance Document.

ANDERSEN, R./FRANCEZ, A. J./ROCHEFORT, L. 2006. The physicochemical and microbiological status of a restored bog in Quebec: Identification of relevant criteria to monitor success, in: Soil Biology & Biochemistry 38, 1375-1387.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000238028700025.

ANDERSON, A. R./DAY, R./PYATT, D. G. 2000. Physical and hydrological impacts of blanket bog afforestation at Bad a' Cheo, Caithness: the first 5 years, in: Forestry 73, 467-478.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000165649500005.

ANDERSON, A/PYATT, D G/WHITE, I M S. 1995. Impacts of conifer plantations on blanket bogs and prospects of restoration, in: Wheeler, B.D, Shaw, S.C, Foyt, W.J & Robertson, R.A (Hrsg.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

ANDERSON, P./RADFORD, E. 1994. CHANGES IN VEGETATION FOLLOWING REDUCTION IN GRAZING PRESSURE ON THE NATIONAL-TRUST KINDER ESTATE, PEAK DISTRICT, DERBYSHIRE, ENGLAND, in: Biological Conservation 69, 55-63.

ANDERSON, P/BUCKLER, M/WALKER, J. 2009. Moorland restoration: potential and progress, in: Bonn, A, Allott, T, Hubacek, K & Stewart, J (Hrsg.), Drivers of environmental change in uplands. (Aufl.) Routledge, 432-447.

ANDERSON, P/ROSS, S/EYRE, G, *et al.* 2006. Restoration of *Molinia*-dominated blanket mire. CCW Science Report.

ANDERSON, P/TALLIS, J.H. 1981. The nature and extent of soil and peat erosion in the Peak District. IN Phillips, J, Yaldon, D & Tallis, J.H (Eds.) Peak District Moorland Erosion Study Phase 1 Report. Bakewell, Peak Park Planning Board.

ANDERSON, P/TALLIS, J.H/YALDEN, D.W. 1995. Restoring Moorland.

ANDERSON, P/WORRALL, P/ROSS, S, *et al.* 2011a. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management Programme.

ANDERSON, P/WORRALL, P/ROSS, S, *et al.* 2011b. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management Programme.

ANDERSON, R. 2001. Deforesting and Restoring Peat Bogs; A Review. Edinburgh.

ANDRUS, R. E. 1986. Some aspects of *Sphagnum* ecology, in: Canadian Journal of Botany 64, 416-426.

ANDRUS, R E/WAGNER, D J/TITUS, J E.1983. Vertical distribution of *Sphagnum* mosses along hummock-hollow gradients, in: Canadian Journal of Botany 61, 3128-3189.

ARDRON, PAUL A. 1999. Peat cutting in upland Britain, with special reference to the Peak District : its impact on landscape, archaeology, and ecology. Aufl.

ARMSTRONG, A./HOLDEN, J./KAY, P., *et al.* 2009. Drain-blocking techniques on blanket peat: A framework for best practice, in: Journal of Environmental Management 90, 3512-3519.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000270208400037.

ARMSTRONG, A./HOLDEN, J./KAY, P., *et al.* 2010. The impact of peatland drain-blocking on dissolved organic carbon loss and discolouration of water; results from a national survey, in: Journal of Hydrology 381, 112-120.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000274841000011.

ARMSTRONG, A/HOLDEN, J/KAY, P, *et al.* 2008. Grip-blocking in upland catchments: costs and benefits. Final Report. Report to Yorkshire Water.

AVERIS, A/AVERIS, B/BIRKS, J, et al. 2004. An Illustrated Guide to British Upland Vegetation. Aufl. JNCC.

BACKSHALL, J/MANLEY, J/REBANE, M. 2001. The Upland Management Handbook. Aufl. Peterborough: English Nature.

BAIRD, A/BECKWITH, C/HEATHWAITE, L. 1997. Water movement in undamaged blanket peats. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires Research Group.

BAIRD, A/HOLDEN, J/CHAPMAN, P. 2009. A Literature Review of Evidence on Emissions of Methane in Peatlands. DEFRA Project SP0574. Leeds. URL: http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Menu=Menu&Module=More&Location=None&Complet ed=0&ProjectID=15992 [Accessed April 2013].

BALLARD, C. E./MCINTYRE, N./WHEATER, H. S. 2012. Effects of peatland drainage management on peak flows, in: Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 16, 2299-2310.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20123274938. URL: www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/16/2299/2012/hess-16-2299-2012.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

BALLARD, C. E./MCINTYRE, N./WHEATER, H. S., *et al.* 2011. Hydrological modelling of drained blanket peatland, in: Journal of Hydrology 407, 81-93.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000295067500007.

BAYFIELD, N/MILLS, D/MCGOWAN, G, *et al.* 1990. Re-establishment of mountain and moorland vegetation: Laboratory screening trials 1988-9. ITE Report No 2 to the Countryside Commission for Scotland. Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, Banchory.

BELLAMY, P. E./STEPHEN, L./MACLEAN, I. S., *et al.* 2012. Response of blanket bog vegetation to drain-blocking, in: Applied Vegetation Science 15, 129-135.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000299207600013.

BOELTER, D, H. 1972. Water table drawdown around an open ditch in organic soils, in: Journal of Hydrology 15, 329-340.

BONNETT, S A F/ROSS, S/LINSTEAD, C, *et al.* 2009. A review of techniques for monitoring the success of peatland restoration. Natural England Commissioned Report. University of Liverpoo.

BORTOLUZZI, E/EPRON, D/SIEGENTHALER, A, *et al.* 2006. Carbon balance of a European mountain bog at contracting stages of restoration, in: New Phytologist 172, 708-718.

BOUDREAU, S/ROCHEFORT, L. 1998. Restoration of post-mined peatlands: Effect of vascular pioneer species on *Sphagnum* establishment. IN Malterer, T, Johnson, K & Steward, J (Eds.) 1998 International Peat Symposium. Duluth, Minnesota.

BOWER, M.M. 1960. Peat erosion in the Pennines, in: Advancement of Science 64, 323-331.

BOWER, M.M. 1961. The Distribution of Erosion in the Blanket Peat Bogs of the Pennines, in: Transactions and Papers (Institute of British Geographers) 29, 17-30.

BOWER, M.M. 1962. The Cause of Erosion in Blanket Peat Bogs - A Review of Evidence in the Light of Recent Work in the Pennines, in: Scottish Geographical Magazine 78, 33-43.

BRAGAZZA, L./BUTTLER, A./HABERMACHER, J., *et al.* 2012. High nitrogen deposition alters the decomposition of bog plant litter and reduces carbon accumulation, in: Global Change Biology 18, 1163-1172.<Go to

ISI>://CABI:20123088345.http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/(ISSN)1365-2486.

BRAGG, O. M. 2002. Hydrology of peat-forming wetlands in Scotland, in: Science of the Total Environment 294, 111-129.

BRAGG, O. M./TALLIS, J. H. 2001. The sensitivity of peat-covered upland landscapes, in: Catena 42, 345-360.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20013007366.

BREEUWER, A./HEIJMANS, MMPD/ROBROEK, B. J. M., *et al.* 2010. Field Simulation of Global Change: Transplanting Northern Bog Mesocosms Southward, in: Ecosystems 13, 712-726.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000280260100007.

BRIDGES, M.K. 1985. Stabilisation and revegation of fire damaged deep peat on Glaisdale Moor., Moorland Management. (Aufl.) Helmsley: North York Moors National Park Authority, 84-96.

BROOKS, S/STONEMAN, R. (Eds). 1997. Conserving Bogs: The Management Handbook. Aufl. London: The Stationery Office.

BROWN, D.A. 1995. Carbon Cycling in Peat and the Implications for the Rehabilitation of Bogs. IN Cox, M, Straker, V & Taylor, D (Eds.) Wetlands: Archaeology and Nature Conservation (Proceedings of teh International Conference, 11-14 April 1994). University of Bristol, London: HMSO.

BRULISAUER, A./KLOTZLI, F. 1998. Notes on the ecological restoration of fen meadows, ombrogenous bogs and rivers: definitions, techniques, problems, in: Bulletin of the Geobotanical Institute ETH 64, 47-61.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19980711249.

BUCKLER, M. 2007. Evaluating Moorland Restoration Techniques: The use of nurse grasses and substrate stabilisation methods in the restoration of bare and eroding peat on Bleaklow in the Peak District National Park. Unpublished.

BUGNON, J. L./ROCHEFORT, L./PRICE, J. S. 1997. Field experiment of *Sphagnum* reintroduction on a dry abandoned peatland in Eastern Canada, in: Wetlands 17, 513-517.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19981910299.

BURKE, W. 1975. Effects of drainage on the hydrology of blanket bog, in: Irish Journal of Agricultural Research 14, 145-162.

BURLEY, J B. 1998. The effect of past moor-gripping on plant cover and distribution on Paddles Bog, North Yorkshire. Nottingham University.

BURT, T.P/LABADZ, J.C. 1990. Blanket Peat Erosion in the Southern Pennines, in: Geological Review 3(4), 31-35.

BURT, T/LABADZ, J/BUTCHER, D. 1997. The hydrology and fluvial geomorphology of blanket peat: implications for integrated catchment management. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires Research Group.

BURTT, R./HAWKE, C. 2008. Hydrological restoration on intact and eroding blanket bog in the Peak district. Aufl. Association of Applied Biologists.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20083187851.

BUSSELL, J/JONES, D L/HEALEY, J R, *et al.* 2010. How do draining and re-wetting affect carbon stores and greenhouse gas fluxes in peatland soils. Systematic Review CEEE 08-012 (SR49). Centre for Evidence-Based Conservation, Bangor University.

BUTTLER, A./GROSVERNIER, P./MATTHEY, Y. 1998. Development of *Sphagnum* fallax diaspores on bare peat with implications for the restoration of cut-over bogs, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 35, 800-810.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19991904575.

CAGAMPAN, J. P./WADDINGTON, J. M. 2008. Moisture dynamics and hydrophysical properties of a transplanted acrotelm on a cutover peatland, in: Hydrological Processes 22, 1776-1787.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000256958700005.

CAMERON, ALASTAIR. 1994. The effect of afforestation on the physical and biological characteristics of blanket bog [electronic resource]. Aufl. Queen's University of Belfast.

CAMPBELL, D. R./ROCHEFORT, L./LAVOIE, C. 2003. Determining the immigration potential of plants colonizing disturbed environments: the case of milled peatlands in Quebec, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 40, 78-91.

CAMPEAU, S./ROCHEFORT, L. 1996. *Sphagnum* regeneration on bare peat surfaces: Field and greenhouse experiments, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 33, 599-608.

CAPORN, S J M/CARROLL, J A/STUDHOLME, C, *et al.* 2006. Recovery of ombrotrophic *Sphagnum* mosses in relation to air pollution in the Southern Pennines. Report to Moors for the Future.

CAPORN, S J M/EMMETT, B A. 2009. Threats from air pollution and climate change to upland systems: past, present and future, in: Bonn, A, Allott, T, Hubacek, K & Stewart, J (Hrsg.), Drivers of environmental change in uplands. (Aufl.) Routledge, 34-58.

CAPORN, S/SEN, R/FIELD, C, *et al.* 2007. Consequences of lime and fertiliser application for moorland restoration and carbon balance. Research report to Moors for the Future.

CARFRAE, J. A./SHEPPARD, L. J./RAVEN, J. A., *et al.* 2007. Potassium and phosphorus additions modify the response of *Sphagnum* capillifolium growing on a Scottish ombrotrophic bog to enhanced nitrogen deposition, in: Applied Geochemistry 22, 1111-1121.

CARROLL, J/ANDERSON, P/CAPORN, S, *et al.* 2009. *Sphagnum* in the Peak District: Current Status and Potential for Restoration: Moors for the Future Research Report No 16.

CARROLL, M. J./DENNIS, P./PEARCE-HIGGINS, J. W., *et al.* 2011. Maintaining northern peatland ecosystems in a changing climate: effects of soil moisture, drainage and drain blocking on craneflies, in: Global Change Biology 17, 2991-3001.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000293399000018.

CHAMBERS, F. M./COUNTRYSIDE COUNCIL FOR, WALES/CHELTENHAM AND GLOUCESTER COLLEGE OF HIGHER EDUCATION. CENTRE FOR ENVIRONMENTAL CHANGE AND QUATERNARY, RESEARCH. 2001. Recent vegetational change in Welsh blanket mires : a palaeoecological appraisal : final report of a project commissioned by the Countryside Council for Wales on 'Recent human impact on Welsh blanket bogs', from the Centre for Environmental Change and Quaternary Research. Aufl. [Bangor]: Countryside Council for Wales.

CHAMBERS, F. M./MAUQUOY, D./CLOUTMAN, E. W., *et al.* 2007a. Recent vegetation history of Drygarn Fawr (Elenydd SSSI), Cambrian Mountains, Wales: implications for conservation management of degraded blanket mires, in: Biodiversity and Conservation 16, 2821-2846.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000249208000007.

CHAMBERS, F. M./MAUQUOY, D./COUNTRYSIDE COUNCIL FOR, WALES. 1998. Recent human impact on Welsh blanket bogs. Aufl. Countryside Council for Wales.

CHAMBERS, F. M./MAUQUOY, D./GENT, A., *et al.* 2007b. Palaeoecology of degraded blanket mire in South Wales: Data to inform conservation management, in: Biological Conservation 137, 197-209.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000247962600004.

CHAMBERS, F. M./MAUQUOY, D./TODD, P. A. 1999. Recent rise to dominance of *Molinia caerulea* in environmentally sensitive areas: new perspectives from palaeoecological data, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 36, 719-733.

CHAMBERS, F. M./UNIVERSITY OF KEELE. DEPT. OF, GEOGRAPHY. 1984. Studies on the initiation, growth rate and humification of blanket peats in South Wales. Aufl. University of Keele.

CHAPMAN, D. S./TERMANSEN, M./QUINN, C. H., *et al.* 2009. Modelling the coupled dynamics of moorland management and upland vegetation, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 46, 278-288.

CHARMAN, D.J. 1992. Blanket mire formation at the Cross Lochs, Sutherland, northern Scotland, in: Boreas 21, 53-72.

CHARMAN, D.J. 2002. Peatlands and Environmental Change. Aufl. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

CHIRINO, C./CAMPEAU, S./ROCHEFORT, L. 2006. *Sphagnum* establishment on bare peat: The importance of climatic variability and *Sphagnum* species richness, in: Applied Vegetation Science 9, 285-294.

CLEMENT, SARAH/UNIVERSITY OF, DURHAM. 2005. The future stability of upland blanket peat following historical erosion and recent re-vegetation [electronic resource]. Aufl. Durham University. URL: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/2962/ [Accessed April 2013].

CLOY, J. M./FARMER, J. G./GRAHAM, M. C., *et al.* 2011. Scottish peat bog records of atmospheric vanadium deposition over the past 150 years: comparison with other records and emission trends, in: Journal of Environmental Monitoring 13, 58-65.

CLYMO, R.S. 1970. The growth of *Sphagnum* : methods of measurement, in: Journal of Ecology 58, 13-49.

CLYMO, R.S. 1982. Profiles of water content and pore size in *Sphagnum* and peat, and their relation to peat bog ecology, in: Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 215, 299-325.

CLYMO, R.S. 1983. Peat, in: Gore, A.J.P (Hrsg.), Mires, Swamp, Fen and Moor. General Studies. Ecosystems of the World 4a. (Aufl.) Amsterdam: Elsevier Scientific, 159-224.

CLYMO, R.S. 1992. Models of peat growth, in: Suo 43 (4-5), 127-136.

CLYMO, R.S/DUCKETT, J.G. 1986. Regeneration of Sphagnum, in: New Phytologist 102, 589-614.

CLYMO, R.S/HAYWARD, P.M. 1982. The Ecology of *Sphagnum*, in: Smith, A.J.E (Hrsg.), Bryophyte Ecology. (Aufl.) London: Chapman and Hall.

CLYMO, R.S/REDDAWAY, E.F.J. 1971. Productivity of *Sphagnum* (bog-moss) and peat accumulation, in: Hydrobiologia 12, 181-192.

COILLTE, TEORANTA/CONAGHAN, J./EUROPEAN COMMISSION. ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE-GENERAL. LIFE, UNIT, *et al.* 2009. Bringing the bogs back to life : a major blanket bog restoration project in western Ireland, July 2002 to December 2007, project results booklet. Aufl. Newtownmountkennedy: Coillte.

COLE, LISA/UNIVERSITY OF MANCHESTER. SCHOOL OF BIOLOGICAL, SCIENCES. 2000. Impact of climate change on biological interactions in upland peat soils. Aufl. Manchester: University of Manchester.

COLENUTT, SIMON/DENTON, JONTY/GODFREY, ANDY, *et al.* 2003. Managing priority habitats for invertebrates: habitat section 3: blanket bog. Aufl. Buglife The Invertebrate Conservation Trust.<Go to ISI>://ZOOREC:ZOOR14009054093.

COLLS, A.E.L. 2006. The carbon consequences of habitat restoration and creation. University of East Anglia.

COOPER, A./MCCANN, T./POWER, J. 1997. Regional variation in the cover, species composition and management of blanket bog, in: Landscape and Urban Planning 37, 19-28.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1997XJ29700004.

COULSON, J. C./BUTTERFIELD, J. E. L./HENDERSON, E. 1990. The effect of open drainage ditches on the plant and invertebrate communities of moorland and on the decomposition of peat, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 27, 549-561.<Go to ISI>://ZOOREC:ZOOR12700021364.

COUPAR, A/IMMIRZI, P/REID, E. 1997. The nature and extent of degradation in Scottish blanket mires. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket Mire Degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, The Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Aberdeen on behald of the Mires Research Group (British Ecological Society).

CRESSER, M/YESMIN, L/GAMMACK, S, *et al.* 1997. The physical and chemical 'stability' of ombrogenous mires in response to changes in precipitation history. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires Research Group.

CRIS, R/BUCKMASTER, S/BAIN, C, *et al.* 2012. UK Peatland Restoration - Demonstrating Success. Aufl. Edinburgh: IUCN UK national Committee Peatland Programme. URL: www.iucn-ukpeatlandprogramme.org/sites/all/files/IUCN%20Demonstrating%20Success%20Booklet.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

CROWE, S. K./EVANS, M. G./ALLOTT, T. E. H. 2008. Geomorphological controls on the revegetation of erosion gullies in blanket peat: implications for bog restoration, in: Mires and Peat 3, Article 01.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20103014295. URL: www.mires-and-peat.net/map03/map_03_01.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

CROWE, SARAH KATHLEEN/EVANS, MARTIN SUPERVISOR/UNIVERSITY OF MANCHESTER. SCHOOL OF ENVIRONMENT AND, DEVELOPMENT. 2007. Natural re-vegetation of eroded blanket peat : implications for blanket bog restoration. Aufl. Manchester: University of Manchester.

CROWLE, A/MCCORMACK, F. 2009. Condition of upland terrestrial habitats, in: Bonn, A, Allott, T, Hubacek, K & Stewart, J (Hrsg.), Drivers of environmental change in uplands. (Aufl.) Routledge, 156-170.

CUNDILL, ALAN PETER. 2005. Hydrological controls on nitrogen dynamics in an upland blanket peat catchment. Aufl. Leeds.

DANIELS, S. M./AGNEW, C. T./ALLOTT, T. E. H., *et al.* 2008. Water table variability and runoff generation in an eroded peatland, South Pennines, UK, in: Journal of Hydrology 361, 214-226.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000260806000016.

DIXON, SIMON DAVID. 2012. Controls on carbon cycling in upland blanket peat soils [electronic resource]. Aufl. [Durham].

DREWITT, A/MANLEY, J. 1997. The vegetation of the mountains and moorlands of England. English Nature Research Report No 218. Peterborough, English Nature.

DWYER, ROSALEEN B. 1996. Blanket bog initiation and development in North West Mayo, Ireland. Aufl. Dublin: Trinity College.

DYKES, A. P./WARBURTON, J. 2008. Failure of peat-covered hill slopes at dooncarton mountain, Co. mayo, Ireland: Analysis of topographic and geotechnical factors, in: Catena 72, 129-145.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000251296300013.

EADES, P/BARDSLEY, I/GILES, N, *et al.* 2003. Wetland restoration manual. Aufl. Newark: The Wildlife Trust.

EGGELSMANN, R./HEATHWAITE, A. L./GROSSE-BRAUCKMANN, G., *et al.* 1993. Physical processes and properties of mires. Aufl. John Wiley & Sons Ltd.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19931983530.

ELKINGTON, T/DAYTON, N/JACKSON, D L, *et al.* 2001. National Vegetation Classification: Field guide to mires and heaths. Aufl. JNCC.

ELLIS, C. J./TALLIS, J. H. 2003. Ecology of Racomitrium lanuginosum in British blanket mire - evidence from the palaeoecological record, in: Journal of Bryology 25, 7-15.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000182328900002.

ENVIRONMENTAL, M. 2010. Assessing Impacts of Wind Farm Development on Blanket Peatland in England: Part 1 Final Report. Part 2 Appendices. IN England, Natural (Ed. Natural England Commissioned Report.

EVANS, M. 2009. Natural changes in upland landscapes, in: Bonn, A, Allott, T, Hubacek, K & Stewart, J (Hrsg.), Drivers of environmental change in uplands. (Aufl.) Routledge, 13-33.

EVANS, M./LINDSAY, J. 2010. Impact of gully erosion on carbon sequestration in blanket peatlands, in: Climate Research 45, 31-41.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000285769100003.

EVANS, M./WARBURTON, J./YANG, J. 2006. Eroding blanket peat catchments: Global and local implications of upland organic sediment budgets, in: Geomorphology 79, 45-57.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000241233500005.

EVANS, M/ALLOT, T/HOLDEN, J, *et al.* 2005. Understanding Gully Blocking in Deep Peat. Moors for the Future Report No 4. Castleton, Moors for the Future. URL:

www.escholar.manchester.ac.uk/api/datastream?publicationPid=uk-ac-manscw:18897&datastreamId=FULL-TEXT.PDF [Accessed April 2013].

EVANS, MARTIN/WARBURTON, J./ROYAL GEOGRAPHICAL, SOCIETY. 2007. Geomorphology of upland peat : erosion, form, and landscape change. Aufl. Malden, MA: Blackwell Pub. URL: http://www.loc.gov/catdir/enhancements/fy0802/2006032840b.html.http://www.loc.gov/catdir/enhancements/fy0802/2006032840-

d.html.http://www.loc.gov/catdir/toc/ecip072/2006032840.html [Accessed April 2013].

FARRICK, K. K./PRICE, J. S. 2009. Ericaceous shrubs on abandoned block-cut peatlands: implications for soil water availability and *Sphagnum* restoration, in: Ecohydrology 2, 530-540.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20103060103. URL: www.interscience.wiley.com/journal/114209870/home [Accessed April 2013].

FENNER, N./WILLIAMS, R./TOBERMAN, H., *et al.* 2011. Decomposition 'hotspots' in a rewetted peatland: implications for water quality and carbon cycling, in: Hydrobiologia 674, 51-66.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000293163900005.

FENNER, N/FREEMAN, C. 2011. Drought-induced carbon loss in peatlands, in: Nature Geosciences 4, 895-900.

FERLAND, C./ROCHEFORT, L. 1997. Restoration techniques for *Sphagnum* -dominated peatlands, in: Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique 75, 1110-1118.

FIELDING, ALAN/HAWORTH, PAUL F./EBRARY, INC. 1999. Upland habitats. Aufl. London: Routledge. URL: http://site.ebrary.com/lib/aberdeenuniv/Doc?id=10054610 [Accessed April 2013].

FORREST, G.I. 1971. Structure and production of North Pennines blanket bog vegetation, in: Journal of Ecology 59, 453-479.

FORREST, G.I/SMITH, R.A.H. 1975. The productivity of a range of blanket bog vegetation types in the northern Pennines, in: Journal of Ecology 63, 173-202.

FOSS, P/O'CONNEL, C. 1998. IPCC peatland conservation and management handbook. Aufl. Dublin: Irish Peatland Conservation Council.

FOWLER, S. M. Vegetation as an indicator of the presence of soil pipes. University College of Wales, Aberystwyth.

FRAGA, M. I./ROMERO-PEDREIRA, D./SOUTO, M., *et al.* 2009. Assessing the impact of wind farms on the plant diversity of blanket bogs in the Xistral Mountains (NW Spain), in: Mires and Peat 4, Article 06.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20103292085.

FUTURE, MOORS FOR THE/LEEDS, UNIVERSITY OF/MANCHESTER, UNIVERSITY OF, *et al.* 2008. A compendium of UK peat restoration and management projects: Research Project Final Report SP0556 to DEFRA. URL: www.peatlands.org.uk/ [Accessed April 2013].

GARNETT, M. H./INESON, P./STEVENSON, A. C., *et al.* 2001. Terrestrial organic carbon storage in a British moorland, in: Global Change Biology 7, 375-388.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000169084700004.

GERDOL, R./VICENTINI, R. 2011. Response to heat stress of populations of two *Sphagnum* species from alpine bogs at different altitudes, in: Environmental and Experimental Botany 74, 22-30.

GIBSON, H. S./WORRALL, F./BURT, T. P., *et al.* 2009. DOC budgets of drained peat catchments: implications for DOC production in peat soils, in: Hydrological Processes 23, 1901-1911.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000267321400007.

GINZLER, C. 1995. A Hydrological Approach to Bog Management, in: Wheeler, B.D, Shaw, S.C, Fojt, W & Robertson, R.A (Hrsg.), Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, 280-286.

GLATZEL, S./FORBRICH, I./KRUGER, C., *et al.* 2008. Small scale controls of greenhouse gas release under elevated N deposition rates in a restoring peat bog in NW Germany, in: Biogeosciences 5, 925-935.

GLATZEL, S/KALBITZ, K/DALVA, M, *et al.* 2003. Dissolved organic matter properties and their relationship to carbon dioxide efflux from restored peat bogs, in: Geoderma 113, 397-411.

GLENDINNING, A. 2012. The continued effect of damming moorland drainage channels on Exmoor Mire vegetation. FdSc Countryside Management.

GORE, A.J.P/GODFREY, M. 1981. Reclamation of eroded peat in the Pennines, in: Journal of Ecology 69, 85-96.

GORHAM, E/ROCHEFORT, L. 2003. Peatland restoration: A brief assessment with special reference to *Sphagnum* bogs, in: Wetlands Ecology and Management 11, 109-119.

GOUBET, P./THEBAUD, G./PETTEL, G. 2006. Ecological constraints on *Sphagnum* bog development: a conceptual model for conservation, in: Revue D Ecologie-La Terre Et La Vie 61, 101-116.

GRANT, M C/MALLORD, J/LEIGH, S, *et al.* 2012. The costs and benefits of grouse moor management to biodiversity and aspects of the wider environment: a review. RSPB Research Report No 43. Sandy, Bedfordshire.

GRAY, ALAN. Ph D. The influence of management on the vegetation and carbon fluxes of blanket bog. Aufl.

GRAY, JONATHAN R./UNIVERSITY OF MANCHESTER. SCHOOL OF, GEOGRAPHY. 2003. An investigation into groundwater systems in upland peat catchments: focusing on evidence from catchments in the Peak District. Aufl. Manchester: University of Manchester.

GRAYSON, R./HOLDEN, J./ROSE, R. 2010. Long-term change in storm hydrographs in response to peatland vegetation change, in: Journal of Hydrology 389, 336-343.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000280976600010.

GRAYSON, R/HOLDEN, J. 2012a. Hydrological Recovery from Grip Blocking in Upland Catchments: Snailsden Moor, Winscar. Final Report. Report to Yorkshire Water (extension to project A9699, July 2008).

GRAYSON, R/HOLDEN, J. 2012b. The impact of grip blocking downstream: Stean Moor update report (draft). Interim report prepared for Natural England, Environment Agency and Yorkshire Water.

GREEN, S/BOARDMAN, C/BAIRD, A, *et al.* 2011. Investigation of peatland restoration (grip blocking) techniques to achieve best outcomes for methane and greenhouse gas emissions/balance. Controlled Environment (Mesocosm) Experiment. Final Report to DEFRA. SP1202. Leeds. URL: http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Menu=Menu&Module=More&Location=None&Complet ed=0&ProjectID=16991 [Accessed April 2013].

GROENEVELD, E. V. G./MASSE, A./ROCHEFORT, L. 2007. Polytrichum strictum as a nurse-plant in peatland restoration, in: Restoration Ecology 15, 709-719.

GROENEVELD, E. V. G./ROCHEFORT, L. 2002. Nursing plants in peatland restoration: on their potential use to alleviate frost heaving problems, in: Suo 53, 73-85.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20033008853.

GROOTJANS, A P/VAN DIGGELEN, R/JOOSTEN, H, *et al.* 2012. Restoration of Mires, in: Van Andel, J & Aronson, J (Hrsg.), Restoration Ecology: The New Frontier (2nd edition). (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

GROSVERNIER, P./MATTHEY, Y./BUTTLER, A. 1997. Growth potential of three *Sphagnum* species in relation to water table level and peat properties with implications for their restoration in cut-over bogs, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 34, 471-483.

GROSVERNIER, P/MATTHEY, Y/BUTTLER, A. 1998. Microclimate and physical properties of peat: new clues to the understanding of bog restoration processes, in: Wheeler, B D & Shaw, S C (Hrsg.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

GUNNARSSON, U./BRONGE, L. B./RYDIN, H., *et al.* 2008. Near-zero recent carbon accumulation in a bog with high nitrogen deposition in SW Sweden, in: Global Change Biology 14, 2152-2165.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000258257700015.

HAAPALEHTO, T. O./VASANDER, H./JAUHIAINEN, S., *et al.* 2011. The Effects of Peatland Restoration on Water-Table Depth, Elemental Concentrations, and Vegetation: 10 Years of Changes, in: Restoration Ecology 19, 587-598.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000295055900007.

HAJEK, T. 2009. Habitat and species controls on *Sphagnum* production and decomposition in a mountain raised bog, in: Boreal Environment Research 14, 947-958.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000273108200004.

HANNIGAN, E./MANGAN, R./KELLY-QUINN, M. 2011. EVALUATION OF THE SUCCESS OF MOUNTAIN BLANKET BOG POOL RESTORATION IN TERMS OF AQUATIC MACROINVERTEBRATES, in: Biology and Environment-Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy 111B, 95-105.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000294649200003.

HAYWARD, P M/CLYMO, R S. 1982. Profiles of water content and pore size in *Sphagnum* and peat, and their relation to peat bog ecology, in: Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B215, 299-325.

HEATHWAITE, A L/GOTTLICH, K. 1993. Mires: process, exploitation and conservation. Aufl. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

HEDBERG, P./KOTOWSKI, W./SAETRE, P., *et al.* 2012. Vegetation recovery after multiple-site experimental fen restorations, in: Biological Conservation 147, 60-67.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000302972700009.

HEIKKILA, H/LINDHOLM, T. 1995. The basis of mire restoration in Finland, in: Wheeler, B D, Shaw, S C, Foyt, W J & Robertson, R A (Hrsg.), Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

HINDE, S. 2009. The factors affecting the reintroduction of *Sphagnum* moss to degraded blanket bog. Unpublished.

HINDE, S/ROSENBURGH, A/WRIGHT, N, *et al.* 2010. *Sphagnum* re-introduction project: A report on research into the re-introduction of *Sphagnum* mosses to degraded moorland. Moors for the Future Research Report 18.

HOBBS, N.B. 1986. Mire morphology and the properties and behaviour of some British and foreign peats, in: Quarterly Journal of Engineering Geology 19, 7-80.

HODGE, K. 2012. How restoring mires on Exmoor can potentially improve the habitat for snipe. Exeter, Bioscience, College of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Exeter.

HOGG, E. H. 1993. DECAY POTENTIAL OF HUMMOCK AND HOLLOW SPHAGNUM PEATS AT DIFFERENT DEPTHS IN A SWEDISH RAISED BOG, in: Oikos 66.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1993KJ53500012.

HOGG, E. H./MALMER, N./WALLEN, B. 1994. MICROSITE AND REGIONAL VARIATION IN THE POTENTIAL DECAY-RATE OF *SPHAGNUM -MAGELLANICUM* IN SOUTH SWEDISH RAISED BOGS, in: Ecography 17, 50-59.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1994ND62000006.

HOLDEN, J. 2009a. A grip-blocking overview. URL:

www.moorsforthefuture.org.uk/sites/default/files/Holden%20(2009)%20grip%20block%20revie w.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

HOLDEN, J. 2009b. Flow through macropores of different size classes in blanket peat, in: Journal of Hydrology 364, 342-348.

HOLDEN, J. 2009c. Upland hydrology, in: Bonn, A, Allott, T, Hubacek, K & Stewart, J (Hrsg.), Drivers of environmental change in uplands. (Aufl.) Routledge, 113-134.

HOLDEN, J. 2005a. Controls of soil pipe frequency in upland blanket peat, in: Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface 110, 11.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000226579400001.

Restoration of degraded blanket bog

HOLDEN, J. 2005b. Peatland hydrology and carbon release: why small-scale process matters, in: Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society a-Mathematical Physical and Engineering Sciences 363, 2891-2913.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000233910400014.

HOLDEN, J. 2005c. Piping and woody plants in peatlands: Cause or effect?, in: Water Resources Research 41, 10.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000229994800002.

HOLDEN, J. 2006. Sediment and particulate carbon removal by pipe erosion increase over time in blanket peatlands as a consequence of land drainage, in: Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface 111.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000238042600001.

HOLDEN, J./BURT, T. P. 2002. Piping and pipe flow in a deep peat catchment, in: Catena 48, 163-199.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000176876100003.

HOLDEN, J./BURT, T. P. 2003a. Hydraulic conductivity in upland blanket peat: measurement and variability, in: Hydrological Processes 17, 1227-1237.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000182240300011.

HOLDEN, J./BURT, T. P. 2003b. Hydrological studies on blanket peat: the significance of the acrotelm-catotelm model, in: Journal of Ecology 91, 86-102.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000180744300009.

HOLDEN, J./BURT, T. P./COX, N. J. 2001. Macroporosity and infiltration in blanket peat: the implications of tension disc infiltrometer measurements, in: Hydrological Processes 15, 289-303.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000167211600008.

HOLDEN, J./CHAPMAN, P. J./LABADZ, J. C. 2004. Artificial drainage of peatlands: hydrological and hydro chemical process and wetland restoration, in: Progress in Physical Geography 28, 95-123.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000189265500004.

HOLDEN, J./EVANS, M. G./BURT, T. P., *et al.* 2006. Impact of land drainage on peatland hydrology, in: Journal of Environmental Quality 35, 1764-1778.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20063227222. URL: http://jeq.scijournals.org [Accessed April 2013].

HOLDEN, J./GASCOIGN, M./BOSANKO, N. R. 2007. Erosion and natural re-vegetation associated with surface land drains in upland peatlands, in: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 32, 1547-1557.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000249708000008.

HOLDEN, J./KIRKBY, M. J./LANE, S. N., *et al.* 2008. Overland flow velocity and roughness properties in peatlands, in: Water Resources Research 44, 11.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000257061900002.

HOLDEN, J./SHOTBOLT, L./BONN, A., *et al.* 2007. Environmental change in moorland landscapes, in: Earth-Science Reviews 82, 75-100.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000246748800003.

HOLDEN, J./SMART, R. P./DINSMORE, K. J., *et al.* 2012. Morphological change of natural pipe outlets in blanket peat, in: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 37, 109-118.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20123028851. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1002/(ISSN)1096-9837 [Accessed April 2013].

HOLDEN, J./WALLAGE, Z. E./LANE, S. N., *et al.* 2011. Water table dynamics in undisturbed, drained and restored blanket peat, in: Journal of Hydrology 402, 103-114.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000291068400009.

HOLL, B. S./FIEDLER, S./JUNGKUNST, H. F., *et al.* 2009. Characteristics of dissolved organic matter following 20 years of peatland restoration, in: Science of the Total Environment 408, 78-83.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000272329700010.

HOPE, G./WHINAM, J./GOOD, R. 2005. Methods and preliminary results of post-fire experimental trials of restoration techniques in the peatlands of Namadgi (ACT) and Kosciuszko National Parks (NSW), in: Ecological Management & Restoration 6, 214-217.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20063000520. URL: www.blackwell-synergy.com/servlet/useragent?func=showlssues&code=een [Accessed April 2013].

HOUSE, J. I./ORR, H. G./CLARK, J. M., *et al.* 2010. Climate change and the British Uplands: evidence for decision-making INTRODUCTION, in: Climate Research 45, 3-12.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000285769100001.

HOWIE, S. A./WHITFIELD, P. H./HEBDA, R. J., *et al.* 2009. Water Table and Vegetation Response to Ditch Blocking: Restoration of a Raised Bog in Southwestern British Columbia, in: Canadian Water Resources Journal 34, 381-392.

HUOTARI, N./TILLMAN-SUTELA, E./KAUPPI, A., *et al.* 2007. Fertilization ensures rapid formation of ground vegetation on cut-away peatlands, in: Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere 37, 874-883.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000248573500003.

JERRAM, R/DREWITT, A. 1997. Optimal Vegetation Condition in the English Uplands: Consultation Draft. IN Nature, English (Ed. English Nature Research Reports.

JERRAM, R/DREWITT, A. 1998. Assessing Vegetation Condition in the English Uplands. English Nature Research Reports (ENRR). Peterborough, English Nature.

JNCC. 2009. Common Standards Monitoring Guidance for Upland Habitats.

JNCC. 2011. Towards an assessment of the state of the UK Peatlands. URL: http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/jncc445_web.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

JONCZYK, J/WILKINSON, M/RIMMER, D, *et al.* 2009. Peatscapes: Monitoring of Hydrology and Water Quality at Geltsdale and Priorsdale.

JONES, J. A. A. 2004. Implications of natural soil piping for basin management in upland Britain, in: Land Degradation & Development 15, 325-349.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000222153100011.

JOOSTEN, J H J. 1992. Bog regeneration in the Netherlands: a review, in: Bragg, O M, Hulme, P D, Ingram, H a P & A, Robertson R (Hrsg.), Peatland Ecosystem and Man: An Impact Assessment. (Aufl.) Dundee: International Peat Society/University of Dundee, 367-373.

KAY, P/EDWARDS, T/FOULGER, M, *et al.* 2008. Impacts of agricultural stewardship measures on raw water quality. Final Report. Yorkshire Water Strategic Research Partnership.

KETCHESON, S. J./PRICE, J. S. 2011. The Impact of Peatland Restoration on the Site Hydrology of an Abandoned Block-Cut Bog, in: Wetlands 31, 1263-1274.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000297864900023.

KOMULAINEN, V. M./NYKANEN, H./MARTIKAINEN, P. J., *et al.* 1998. Short-term effect of restoration on vegetation change and methane emissions from peatlands drained for forestry in southern Finland, in: Canadian Journal of Forest Research 28, 402-411.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19980613488.

KOMULAINEN, V. M./TUITTILA, E. S./VASANDER, H., *et al.* 1999. Restoration of drained peatlands in southern Finland: initial effects on vegetation change and CO₂ balance, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 36, 634-648.

LABADZ, J/ALLOTT, T/EVANS, M, *et al.* 2010. Peatland Hydrology: Draft Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands. URL: www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/sites/all/files/Review%20Peatland%20Hydrology,%20June%202011% 20Draft_0.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

LAROSE, S./PRICE, J./ROCHEFORT, L. 1997. Rewetting of a cutover peatland: Hydrologic assessment, in: Wetlands 17, 416-423.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1997XX56200009.

LAVOIE, C./MARCOUX, K./SAINT-LOUIS, A., *et al.* 2005. The dynamics of a cotton-grass (*Eriophorum vaginatum* L.) cover expansion in a vacuum-mined peatland, southern Quebec, Canada, in: Wetlands 25, 64-75.

LI, Y. H./VITT, D. H. 1995. The dynamics of moss establishment: temporal responses to a moisture gradient, in: Journal of Bryology 18, 677-687.

LINDSAY, R. 2010. Peatbogs and carbon: a critical synthesis to inform policy development in oceanic peat bog conservation and restoration in the context of climate change. London.

LINDSAY, R A. 2003. Peat Forming Process and Restoration Management. IN Meade, R (Ed. Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop. English Nature.

LINDSAY, R.A. 1995. Bogs: The Ecology, Classification and Conservation of Ombrotrophic Mires. Aufl. Battleby, Perth: Scottish Natural Heritage.

LINDSAY, R.A/BRAGG, O.M. 2004. Wind Farms and Blanket Peat - The bog slide of 16th October 2003 at Derrybrien, Co. Galway, Ireland. Commissioned Report for Derrybrien Residents' Co-operative. London. URL: www.uel.ac.uk/erg/Onlinereports.htm [Accessed April 2013].

LINDSAY, R.A/RIGGAL, J/BURD, F. 1985. The use of small-scale surface patterns in the classification of British peatlands, in: Aquilo Seria Botanica 21, 69-79. URL: www.uel.ac.uk/erg/Onelinereports.htm [Accessed April 2013].

LINTON, P. E./SHOTBOLT, L./THOMAS, A. D. 2007. Microbial communities in long-term heavy metal contaminated ombrotrophic peats, in: Water Air and Soil Pollution 186, 97-113.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000249987000010.

LITTLEWOOD, N. A./DENNIS, P./PAKEMAN, R. J., *et al.* 2006. Moorland restoration aids the reassembly of associated phytophagous insects, in: Biological Conservation 132, 395-404.

LITTLEWOOD, N. A./PAKEMAN, R. J./WOODIN, S. J. 2006. A field assessment of the success of moorland restoration in the rehabilitation of whole plant assemblages, in: Applied Vegetation Science 9, 295-306.

LITTLEWOOD, N/ANDERSON, P/ARTZ, R, *et al.* 2010. Peatland Biodiversity: Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands. URL: www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/sites/all/files/Review%20Peatland%20Biodiversity,%20June%202011 %20Final.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

LIVETT, ELIZABETH A. 1982. The interaction of heavy metals with the peat and vegetation of blanket bogs in Britain. Aufl. Manchester: University of Manchester.

LTD, SINCLAIR KNIGHT MERZ (EUROPE). 2008. Lancashire Wind Farms: Peat Assessment and Management. Manchester.

LUNT, P/ALLOTT, T/ANDERSON, P, *et al.* 2010. Peatland Restoration: Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands. IN Evan, M (Ed. URL: www.iucn-uk-peatlandprogramme.org/sites/all/files/Review%20Peatland%20Restoration,%20June%202011 %20Final.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

MACKAY, A. W./TALLIS, J. H. 1996. Summit-type blanket mire erosion in the forest of Bowland, Lancashire, UK: Predisposing factors and implications for conservation, in: Biological Conservation 76, 31-44.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1996UB26300005.

MACKENZIE, S/LEE, J A/WRIGHT, J M. 1990. Ecological impact of liming blanket bog. Report to the Nature Conservancy Council. Peterborough.

MALMER, N./SVENSSON, B. M./WALLEN, B. 1994. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN *SPHAGNUM* MOSES AND FIELD LAYER VASCULAR PLANTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF PEAT-FORMING SYSTEMS, in: Folia Geobotanica & Phytotaxonomica 29.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1994PZ57000006.

MALMER, N./WALLEN, B. 1999. The dynamics of peat accumulation on bogs: mass balance of hummocks and hollows and its variation throughout a millennium, in: Ecography 22.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000085437500015.

MARRS, R. H./PHILLIPS, J. D. P./TODD, P. A., *et al.* 2004. Control of *Molinia caerulea* on upland moors, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 41, 398-411.

MAZEROLLE, M. J./POULIN, M. 2007. Persistence and colonisation as measures of success in bog restoration for aquatic invertebrates: a question of detection, in: Freshwater Biology 52, 383-385.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000243473600017.

MAZEROLLE, M. J./POULIN, M./LAVOIE, C., *et al.* 2006. Animal and vegetation patterns in natural and man-made bog pools: implications for restoration, in: Freshwater Biology 51, 333-350.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000234667900011.

MCHUGH, M. M., *et al.* 2000. Research on the quantification and causes of upland soil erosion. Ministry of Agriculture Fisheries and Food, Research and Development Final Project Report SP0402.

MILLER, G.R/BAYFIELD, N.G/PATERSON, I.S, *et al.* 1991. Restoration of natural vegetation on organic soils from buried viable seeds. ITE Report No 10 to the Yorkshire Dales National Park. Banchory.

MILLIGAN, A. L./PUTWAIN, P. D./COX, E. S., *et al.* 2004. Developing an integrated land management strategy for the restoration of moorland vegetation on *Molinia caerulea*-dominated vegetation for conservation purposes in upland Britain, in: Biological Conservation 119, 371-385.

MILLIGAN, A. L./PUTWAIN, P. D./MARRS, R. H. 1999. A laboratory assessment of the relative susceptibility of *Molinia caerulea* (L.) Moench and *Calluna vulgaris* (L.) Hull to a range of herbicides, in: Annals of Applied Biology 135, 503-508.

MILLIGAN, A. L./PUTWAIN, P. D./MARRS, R. H. 2003. A field assessment of the role of selective herbicides in the restoration of British moorland dominated by *Molinia*, in: Biological Conservation 109, 369-379.

MITCHELL, R. J./ROSE, R. J./PALMER, S. C. F. 2009. The effect of restoration techniques on non-target species: case studies in moorland ecosystems, in: Applied Vegetation Science 12, 81-91.

MITCHLEY, J/BURCH, F/BUCKLEY, P, *et al.* 2000. Habitat restoration monitoring handbook. English Nature Research Report No 378. Peterborough, English Nature.

MONEY, R P. 1995. Re-establishment of a *Sphagnum* dominated flora on cut-over lowland raised bogs, in: Wheeler, B.D, Shaw, S.C, Foyt, W.J & Robertson, R.A (Hrsg.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

MOORE, TIM R./BUBIER, JILL L./BLEDZKI, LESZEK. 2007. Litter decomposition in temperate peatland ecosystems: The effect of substrate and site, in: Ecosystems 10.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000250582400007.

MORRIS, P. J./WADDINGTON, J. M./BENSCOTER, B. W., *et al.* 2011. Conceptual frameworks in peatland ecohydrology: looking beyond the two-layered (acrotelm-catotelm) model, in: Ecohydrology 4, 1-11.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000287154500001.

NATURE CONSERVANCY COUNCIL. INTERPRETATIVE, BRANCH. 1977. Blanket bogs. Aufl. London: Nature Conservancy Council.

NEWBORN, D/WAKEHAM, A/BOOTH, F. 1992. Grazing and the control of Purple Moor Grass. Game Conservancy Review.

NILSSON, M. 1992. Fungi and bacteria in peat and peat-forming plant communities, in: Stencil - Institutionen fo^umalut~r Skoglig Standortslara, Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19951907542.

O'BRIEN, H/LABADZ, J C/BUTCHER, D P. 2007. Review of Blanket Bog Management and Restoration. Technical Report to DEFRA. Project No. CTE0513.

O'DRISCOLL, C./RODGERS, M./O'CONNOR, M., *et al.* 2011. A potential solution to mitigate phosphorus release following clear felling in peatland forest catchments, in: Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 221, 1-11.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20113372837. URL: http://springerlink.metapress.com/link.asp?id=100344 [Accessed April 2013].

O'REILLY, C. 2008. Peatscapes Project: *Sphagna* as management indicators. Final report to North Pennines AONB Partnership.

PARKYN, L/STONEMAN, R.E/INGRAM, H.A.P. 1997. Conserving peatlands. Aufl. Wallingford: CAB International.

PARTNERSHIP, YORKSHIRE PEAT. 2011? Technical Guidance Note 4: Specification for Heather Cutting & Baling. URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013]. (Stand.RL). PARTNERSHIP, YORKSHIRE PEAT. 2011a. Technical Guidance Note 1: Specification for Grip Blocking using Peat Dams. URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013]. (Stand.RL).

PARTNERSHIP, YORKSHIRE PEAT. 2011b. Technical Guidance Note 2: Specification for Large Grip/Gully Blocking. URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013]. (Stand.RL).

PARTNERSHIP, YORKSHIRE PEAT. 2011c. Technical Guidance Note 3: Specification for Restoration of Bare/Eroding Peat. URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ (Stand.RL).

PARTNERSHIP, YORKSHIRE PEAT. 2011d. Technical Guidance Note 5: Specification for application of geotextiles on bare peat. www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013]. (Stand.RL).

PATTERSON, G./ANDERSON, R. 2000. Forests and peatland habitats: guideline note, in: Guideline Note - Forestry Commission 16 pp.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20023067213.

PEAK DISTRICT MOORLAND MANAGEMENT PROJECT.

PEATLAND AND UPLANDS BIODIVERSITY DELIVERY GROUP. 2009. Guidelines for Peatland Restoration. Quarry Products Association Northern Ireland.

PERROW, M.R/DAVY, A.J. 2002. Handbook of ecological restoration Volume 1: Principles of restoration. Aufl. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

PERROW, M.R/DAVY, A.J. Handbook of ecological restoration Volume 2: Restoration in practice. Aufl. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

PHASE III REPORT. Bakewell, Derbyshire.

PHILLIPS, H. 2008. Management of moorlands for Red Grouse: Investigating the case for grip blocking.

PHILLIPS, J/YALDEN, D/TALLIS, J. 1981. Peak District Moorland Erosion Study Phase 1 Report.

PRESS, MALCOLM C. 1983. RESPONSES TO ACIDIC DEPOSITION IN BLANKET BOGS. Aufl.

PRICE, J. S./HEATHWAITE, A. L./BAIRD, A. J. 2003. Hydrological processes in abandoned and restored peatlands: an overview of management approaches, in: Wetlands Ecology and Management 11, 65-83.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20033088695.

PROCTOR, M. 1997. Aspects of water chemistry in relation to surface degradation on ombrotrophic mires. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires Research Group.

PYATT, D.G/JOHN, A.L/ANDERSON, A.R, *et al.* 1992. The drying of blanket peatland by 20-year-old conifer plantations at Rumster Forest, Caithness., in: Bragg, O.M, Hulme, P.D, Ingram, H.A.P & Robertson, R.A (Hrsg.), Peatland Ecosystems and Man: an Impact Assessment. (Aufl.) Dundee: Department of Biological Sciences, University of Dundee, 153-158.

QUINTY, F/ROCHEFORT, L. 2003. Peatland restoration guide. Aufl. Quebec: Canadian Peat Moss Association and New Brunswick Department of Natural Resources and Energy.

RAMCHUNDER, S J. 2010. The effects of artificial drainage, drain-blocking and burning on peatland ecosystems. School of geography. University of Leeds.

RAMCHUNDER, S. J./BROWN, L. E./HOLDEN, J. 2009. Environmental effects of drainage, drainblocking and prescribed vegetation burning in UK upland peatlands, in: Progress in Physical Geography 33, 49-79.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000267087900004.

RAMCHUNDER, S. J./BROWN, L. E./HOLDEN, J. 2012. Catchment-scale peatland restoration benefits stream ecosystem biodiversity, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 49, 182-191.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000299153800022.

RAMCHUNDER, S. J./BROWN, L. E./HOLDEN, J., *et al.* 2011. Spatial and seasonal variability of peatland stream ecosystems, in: Ecohydrology 4, 577-588.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000292965600009.

RATCLIFFE, D. Nature conservation review v1. Aufl.

RAWES, M. 1983. Changes in two high altitude blanket bogs after the cessation of sheep grazing, in: Journal of Ecology 71, 219-235.<Go to ISI>://ZOOREC:ZOOR12000018804.

RAWES, M/HALL, O. W.1978. The blanket bog as part of a Pennine Moorland, in: Heal, O W & Perkins, D F (Hrsg.), Production Ecology of British Moors and Montane Grasslands. (Aufl.) Berlin: Springer.

RAWES, M/HOBBS, R. 1979. Management of semi-natural blanket bog in the northern Pennines, in: Journal of Ecology 67, 789-807.

REID, E/MORTIMER, G N/LINDSAY, R A, *et al.* 1994. Blanket bogs in Great Britain: as assessment of large-scale pattern and distribution using remote sensing and GIS, in: Edwards, Peter John, May, Robert M. & Webb, Nigel R. (Hrsg.), Large scale ecology and conservation biology : the 35th symposium of the British Ecological Society with the Society for Conservation Biology, University of Southampton. (Aufl.) Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications, 229-246.

RENOU-WILSON, F./FARRELL, C. A. 2009. Peatland vulnerability to energy-related developments from climate change policy in Ireland: the case of wind farms, in: Mires and Peat 4, Article 08.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20103292087. URL: www.mires-and-peat.net/map04/map_04_08.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

RICHARDS, J.R.A/WHEELER, B.D/WILLIS, A.J. 1995. The growth and value of *Eriophorum angustifolium* in relation to the re-vegetation of eroding blanket peat., in: Wheeler, B.D, Shaw, S.C, Fojt, W.J & Robertson, R.A (Hrsg.), Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd, 509-523.

RIELEY, JACK O./PAGE, SUSAN E. 1990. Ecology of plant communities : phytosociological account of the British vegetation. Aufl. Longman.

ROBINSON, M. 1985. The hydrological effects of moorland gripping: a re-appraisal of the Moorhouse Research, in: Journal of Environmental Management 41, 123-140.

ROBINSON, M./NEWSON, MALCOLM DAVID/LARGE, ANDREW R. G. LECTURER. 1986. Comparison of forest and moorland hydrology in an upland area with peat soils. Aufl.

ROBROEK, B. J. M./LIMPENS, J./BREEUWER, A., *et al.* 2007. Precipitation determines the persistence of hollow *Sphagnum* species on hummocks, in: Wetlands 27, 979-986.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20103175899.

ROBROEK, B. J. M./RUIJVEN, J. VAN/SCHOUTEN, M. G. C., *et al.* 2009. *Sphagnum* re-introduction in degraded peatlands: the effects of aggregation, species identity and water table, in: Basic and Applied Ecology 10, 697-706.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20103045441. URL: www.elsevier.de/baae [Accessed April 2013].

ROBROEK, B. J. M./SMART, R. P./HOLDEN, J. 2010. Sensitivity of blanket peat vegetation and hydrochemistry to local disturbances, in: Science of the Total Environment 408, 5028-5034.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000282348100015.

ROCHEFORT, L. 2000a. New frontiers in bryology and lichenology - *Sphagnum* - A keystone genus in habitat restoration, in: Bryologist 103, 503-508.

ROCHEFORT, L./PRICE, J. S. 2003. Restoration of *Sphagnum* dominated peatlands. Symposium of the International Peat Society, Quebec City, Canada, August 2000, in: Wetlands Ecology and Management 11, 125 pp.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20033088692.

ROCHEFORT, L./QUINTY, F./CAMPEAU, S., *et al.* 2003. North American approach to the restoration of *Sphagnum* dominated peatlands, in: Wetlands Ecology and Management 11, 3-20.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20033088692.

ROCHEFORT, L./VITT, D. H./BAYLEY, S. E. 1990. Growth, production, and decomposition dynamics of *Sphagnum* under natural and experimentally acidified conditions, in: Ecology 71, 1986-2000.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19921965253.

ROCHEFORT, L.F. 2000b. *Sphagnum* - a keystone genus in habitat restoration, in: The Bryologist 103(3), 503-508.

ROCHEFORT, L/CAMPEAU, S. 1997. Rehabilitation work on post-harvested bogs in south eastern Canada, in: Parkyn, L, Stoneman, R E & Ingram, H (Hrsg.), Conserving Peatlands. (Aufl.) Oxon: CAB International, 287-294.

ROCHEFORT, L/CAMPEAU, S. 2002. Recovery of donor sites used for peatland restoration. IN Schmilewski, G & Rochefort, L (Eds.) Peat in horticulture - Quality and environmental challenges. A joint symposium of Commission II (Industrial utilization of peat and peatlands) and Commission V (After-use of cut-over peatlands) of the International Peat Society. Parnu, Estonia, International Peat Society.

ROCHEFORT, L/GAUTHIER, R/LE QERE, D. 1995. *Sphagnum* regeneration - Towards an optimisation of bog restoration, in: Wheeler, B.D, Shaw, S.C, Foyt, W.J & Robertson, R.A (Hrsg.), Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

ROCHEFORT, L/LODE, E. 2006. Restoration of degraded boreal peatlands, in: Wieder, R K & Vitt, D H (Hrsg.), Boreal Peatlands Ecosystems. (Aufl.) Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 381-423.

RODGERS, M./O'CONNOR, M./ROBINSON, M., *et al.* 2011. Suspended solid yield from forest harvesting on upland blanket peat, in: Hydrological Processes 25, 207-216.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20113033706. URL: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.7836/pdf [Accessed April 2013].

RODWELL, J.S. 1991. British Plant Communities: Vol 2, Mires and Heaths. Aufl. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

ROSS, S. 2011. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management programme. Volume 4. Restoration of Upland Vegetation. URL: http://corporate.unitedutilities.com/scamp-monitoring-reports.aspx [Accessed April 2013].

ROTHWELL, J/EVANS, M/ALLOTT, T. 2005. Heavy metal pollution in eroding Peak District moors. Moors for the Future Research Note 4.

ROWELL, T.A. 1988. The peatland management handbook. Aufl. Peterborough: Nature Conservancy Council.

ROWSON, JAMES. 2007. Carbon emissions from managed upland peat. Aufl. [Durham].

ROYAL SOCIETY FOR THE PROTECTION OF, BIRDS/SCOTTISH WILDLIFE, TRUST. 1995. Conservation management of blanket bog : a review. Aufl. Royal Society for the Protection of Birds.

SAVAGE, ALEXANDRA JANE/UNIVERSITY OF, LEEDS. 2011. Land management impacts on the carbon cycle in UK blanket peats [electronic resource]. Aufl. University of Leeds.

SCHOUWENAARS, J M. 1995. The selection of internal and external water management options for bog restoration, in: Wheeler, B D, Shae, S C, Foyt, W J & Robertson, R A (Hrsg.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 331-346.

SCHOUWENAARS, J. M. 1993. Hydrological differences between bogs and bog-relicts and consequences for bog restoration, in: Hydrobiologia 265, 217-224.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19941902606.

SCHUMANN, M/JOOSTEN, H. 2008. Global peatland restoration manual (Version April 18, 2008). Aufl. Greifswald, Germany.

SHERIDAN, SAYA/UNIVERSITY OF NEWCASTLE UPON, TYNE. 2008. Restoration of blanket bog vegetation as a habitat for red grouse following clearance of immature Sitka spruce forest on the west coast of Scotland [electronic resource]. Aufl. Newcastle upon Tyne: University of Newcastle upon Tyne.

SHOTBOLT, L/ANDERSON, A.R/TOWNEND, J. 1998. Changes to blanket bog adjoining forest plots at Bad a' Cheo, Rumster Forest, Caithness, in: Forestry 71(4), 311-324.

SKEFFINGTON, R/WILSON, E/MALTBY, E, *et al.* 1997. Acid deposition and blanket mire degradation and restoration. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires Research Group.

SLIVA, J./PFADENHAUER, J. 1999. Restoration of cut-over raised bogs in southern Germany - a comparison of methods, in: Applied Vegetation Science 2, 137-148.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19990707660.

SMART, S M/HENRYS, P A/SCOTT, W A, *et al.* 2010. Impacts of pollution and climate change on ombrotrophic *Sphagnum* species in the UK: analysis of uncertainties in two empirical niche models, in: Climate Research 45, 163-177.

SMITH, R. S./CHARMAN, D./RUSHTON, S. P., *et al.* 2003. Vegetation change in an ombrotrophic mire in northern England after excluding sheep, in: Applied Vegetation Science 6, 261-270.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000220133300019.

SMITH, R. S./LUNN, A. G./NEWSON, M. D. 1995. The Border Mires in Kielder Forest: A review of their ecology and conservation management, in: Forest Ecology and Management 79, 47-61.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1995TL88400005.

STANDEN, V./OWEN, M. J. 1999. An evaluation of the use of translocated blanket bog vegetation for heathland restoration, in: Applied Vegetation Science 2, 181-188.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20000705779.

STEWART, A. J. A./LANCE, A. N. 1991. Effects of moor-draining on the hydrology and vegetation of northern Pennine blanket bog, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 28, 1105-1117.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19921965803.

STEWART, A.J.A. 1980. The environmental impacts of moor gripping. IN Council, Nature Conservancy (Ed. Unpublished Research Report.

STEWART, A.J.A/LANCE, A.N. Moor draining: a review of impacts on land use, in: Journal of Environmental Management 4, 251-274.

STUNELL, JUDITH MARGARET/UNIVERSITY OF NEWCASTLE UPON TYNE. DEPT. OF CIVIL, ENGINEERING. 1996. Hydrology and hydrochemistry of an upland peat catchment, Canker Cleugh, Redesdale, Northumberland. Aufl. Newcastle upon Tyne: University of Newcastle upon Tyne.

SUNDBERG, S/RYDIN, H. 2002. Habitat requirements for establishment of *Sphagnum* from spores, in: Journal of Ecology 90, 268-278.

TALLIS, J H. 1995. Blanket mires in the upland landscape, in: Wheeler, B.D, Shaw, S.C, Foyt, W.J & Robertson, R.A (Hrsg.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. (Aufl.) Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

TALLIS, J H. 1997. The South Pennine experience: an overview of blanket mire degradation. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires research Group.

TALLIS, J H/MEADE, R. 1997. Blanket mire degradation and management. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires Research Group.

TALLIS, J. H/YALDEN, D. W. Peak District Moorland Restoration Project. Phase II Report: Revegetation Trials. Bakewell, Derbyshire.

TALLIS, J. H. 1990. Aspects of blanket peat erosion, in: Proceedings of the North of England Soils Discussion Group 27-38.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19921963962.

TALLIS, J. H. 1998. Growth and degradation of British and Irish blanket mires, in: Environmental Reviews 6, 81-122.<Go to ISI>://CABI:19991904949.

TALLIS, JOHN H. 1969. The blanket bog vegetation of the Berwyn Mountains, North Wales. Aufl. [Oxford]: [Blackwell Scientific].

TAYLOR, J.A. 1983. The peatlands of Great Britain and Ireland, in: Gore, A.J.P (Hrsg.), Ecosystems of the World. (Aufl.) Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1-46.

TODD, P. A./PHILLIPS, J. D. P./PUTWAIN, P. D., *et al.* 2000. Control of *Molinia caerulea* on moorland, in: Grass and Forage Science 55.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000087228300011.

TRUST, HEATHER. 1997. The Control of *Molinia* in Heather Moorland after Reduction of Sheep Grazing.

TRUST, NORTHUMBERLAND WILDLIFE. 2003. The border mires active blanket bog rehabilitation project - Final report. Newcastle.

TUITTILA, E. S./VASANDER, H./LAINE, J. 2000. Impact of rewetting on the vegetation of a cut-away peatland, in: Applied Vegetation Science 3, 205-212.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20013011051.

TUITTILA, E. S./VASANDER, H./LAINE, J. 2003. Success of re-introduced *Sphagnum* in a cutaway peatland, in: Boreal Environment Research 8, 245-250.

TURNER, B. L./BAXTER, R./WHITTON, B. A. 2002. Seasonal phosphatase activity in three characteristic soils of the English uplands polluted by long-term atmospheric nitrogen deposition, in: Environmental Pollution 120, 313-317.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20023163887.

TURNER, B. L./CHUDEK, J. A./WHITTON, B. A., *et al.* 2003. Phosphorus composition of upland soils polluted by long-term atmospheric nitrogen deposition, in: Biogeochemistry 65, 259-274.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000185796200007.

USHER, M. B./THOMPSON, D. B. A. 1993. VARIATION IN THE UPLAND HEATHLANDS OF GREAT-BRITAIN - CONSERVATION IMPORTANCE, in: Biological Conservation 66, 69-81.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1993LT11400009.

VASANDER, H/TUITTILA, E S/LODE, E, *et al.* 2003. Status and restoration of peatlands in northern Europe, in: Wetlands Ecology and Management 51-63.

VOLUME 2. Restoring Drained, Burned and Grazed Moorlands. URL: http://corporate.unitedutilities.com/scamp-monitoring-reports.aspx [Accessed April 2013].

VOLUME 3. The Restoration of Highly Degraded Blanket Bog. URL: http://corporate.unitedutilities.com/scamp-monitoring-reports.aspx [Accessed April 2013].

WALKER, CLARE. 1998. Modelling the hydrological impacts of mechanised peat extraction on an upland blanket bog [electronic resource]. Aufl. University of Huddersfield.

WALLAGE, Z. E./HOLDEN, J. 2010. Spatial and temporal variability in the relationship between water colour and dissolved organic carbon in blanket peat pore waters, in: Science of the Total Environment 408, 6235-6242.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000285070800022.

WALLAGE, Z. E./HOLDEN, J. 2011. Near-surface macropore flow and saturated hydraulic conductivity in drained and restored blanket peatlands, in: Soil Use and Management 27, 247-254. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000290872100014.

WALLAGE, Z. E./HOLDEN, J./MCDONALD, A. T. 2006. Drain blocking: An effective treatment for reducing dissolved organic carbon loss and water discolouration in a drained peatland, in: Science of the Total Environment 367, 811-821.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000240042700025.

WALLET, CLARE VICTORIA. 2004. The importance of pipe flow to the flux of carbon from an upland peat. Aufl. Manchester: University of Manchester.

WALMESLY, C/JONES, P. 2008. Methane emissions and their relevance to wetland management and restoration.

WARBURTON, J. 2003. Wind-splash erosion of bare peat on UK upland moorlands, in: Catena 52, 191-207. <Go to ISI>://WOS:000183645700003.

WARBURTON, J./HOLDEN, J./MILLS, A. J. 2004. Hydrological controls of surficial mass movements in peat, in: Earth-Science Reviews 67, 139-156.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000225697300005.

WHEELER, B.D/SHAW, S.C. 1995. Restoration of damaged peatlands. Aufl. HMSO London: Department of the Environment.

WHITE, S/RIVAS-CASADO, M/HOWDEN, N, *et al.* (?) Yorkshire Water Catchment Pilot Trials. Phase 1: Site Selection. Report to Yorkshire Water.

WHITFIELD, P. H./ST-HILAIRE, A./VAN DER KAMP, G. 2009. Improving Hydrological Predictions in Peatlands, in: Canadian Water Resources Journal 34, 467-477.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000273587400012.

WHITTINGHAM, M. J./PERCIVAL, S. M./BROWN, A. F. 2000. Time budgets and foraging of breeding golden plover Pluvialis apricaria, in: Journal of Applied Ecology 37, 632-646.

WHITTINGHAM, M. J./PERCIVAL, S. M./BROWN, A. F. 2001. Habitat selection by golden plover Pluvialis apricaria chicks, in: Basic and Applied Ecology 2, 177-191.

WILCOCK, D. 1979. The hydrology of a peatland catchment in Northern Ireland following channel clearance and land drainage, in: Hollis, G.E (Hrsg.), Man's impact on the impact on the hydrological cycle in the United Kingdom. (Aufl.) Norwich: Geo Books.

WILKIE, N.M/MAYHEW, P.W. (?) The management and restoration of damaged blanket bog in the north of Scotland, in: Botanical Journal of Scotland 55(1), 125-133.

WILKIE, N/THOMPSON, P. 1991. Identification and restoration of damaged blanket bog. A guide to restoring drained and afforested peatland. Unpublished report as part of EU LIFE funded Conservation of ACtive Blanket Bog in Scotland and Northern Ireland.

WILKIE, N/THOMPSON, P/RUSSELL, N. 1997. The conservation and restoration of active blanket bog in Caithness and Sutherland. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, J D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires Research Group.

WILSON, D./ALM, J./LAINE, J., *et al.* 2009. Rewetting of Cutaway Peatlands: Are We Re-Creating Hot Spots of Methane Emissions?, in: Restoration Ecology 17, 796-806.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000272131700005.

WILSON, L./WILSON, J. M./JOHNSTONE, I. 2011. The effect of blanket bog drainage on habitat condition and on sheep grazing, evidence from a Welsh upland bog, in: Biological Conservation 144, 193-201.
<Go to ISI>://WOS:000287168100020.

WILSON, L./WILSON, J./HOLDEN, J., *et al.* 2010. Recovery of water tables in Welsh blanket bog after drain blocking: Discharge rates, time scales and the influence of local conditions, in: Journal of Hydrology 391, 377-386.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000282395600014.

WILSON, L./WILSON, J./HOLDEN, J., *et al.* 2011a. Ditch blocking, water chemistry and organic carbon flux: Evidence that blanket bog restoration reduces erosion and fluvial carbon loss, in: Science of the Total Environment 409, 2010-2018.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000290066000002.

WILSON, L./WILSON, J./HOLDEN, J., *et al.* 2011b. The impact of drain blocking on an upland blanket bog during storm and drought events, and the importance of sampling-scale, in: Journal of Hydrology 404, 198-208.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000292794300010.

WILSON, P./HEGARTY, C. 1993. MORPHOLOGY AND CAUSES OF RECENT PEAT SLIDES ON SKERRY-HILL, CO ANTRIM, NORTHERN-IRELAND, in: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 18, 593-601.<Go to ISI>://WOS:A1993MG15600002.

WISHART, D./WARBURTON, J. 2001. An assessment of blanket mire degradation and peatland gully development in the Cheviot Hills, Northumberland, in: Scottish Geographical Journal 117, 185-206.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000174341200002.

WOODIN, S.J/STUDHOLME, C.J/LEE, J.A. 1987. Effects of acid deposition on peatlands, in: Perry, R, Harrison, R.M, Bell, J.N.B & Lester, J.N (Hrsg.), Acid Rain: scientific and technical advances. (Aufl.) London: Selper.

WORRALL, F./ARMSTRONG, A./HOLDEN, J. 2007. Short-term impact of peat drain-blocking on water colour, dissolved organic carbon concentration, and water table depth, in: Journal of Hydrology 337, 315-325.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000246331200006.

WORRALL, F./BELL, M. J./BHOGAL, A. 2010. Assessing the probability of carbon and greenhouse gas benefit from the management of peat soils, in: Science of the Total Environment 408, 2657-2666.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000278678200004.

WORRALL, F./GIBSON, H. S./BURT, T. P. 2007. Modelling the impact of drainage and drainblocking on dissolved organic carbon release from peatlands, in: Journal of Hydrology 338, 15-27.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000246735800002.

WORRALL, F./ROWSON, J. G./EVANS, M. G., *et al.* 2011. Carbon fluxes from eroding peatlands - the carbon benefit of re-vegetation following wildfire, in: Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 36, 1487-1498.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000294176100006.

WORRALL, F/BLUNDELL, A/HOLDEN, J. (?) Optimising carbon storage in Yorkshire Water peat catchments - Phase II. Report to Yorkshire Water.

WORRALL, F/HOLDEN, J. (?) Optimising carbon storage in Yorkshire Water peat catchments. Report to Yorkshire Water.

YALDEN, P E/YALDEN, D. W. 1988. The level of recreational pressure on blanket bog in the Peak District National Park, England, in: Biological Conservation 44, 213-227.

YALLOP, A. R./CLUTTERBUCK, B. 2009. Land management as a factor controlling dissolved organic carbon release from upland peat soils 1: Spatial variation in DOC productivity, in: Science of the Total Environment 407, 3803-3813.<Go to ISI>://WOS:000266446400022.

YELOFF, D. E./LABADZ, J. C./HUNT, C. O. 2006. Causes of degradation and erosion of a blanket mire in the southern Pennines, UK, in: Mires and Peat 1, art.4.<Go to ISI>://CABI:20083239885. URL: www.mires-and-peat.net/map01/map_1_4.pdf [Accessed April 2013].

YEO, M. 1997. Blanket mire degradation in Wales. IN Tallis, J H, Meade, R & Hulme, P D (Eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester, Mires Research Group.

Appendix 2 References selected for review on second sift

ANDERSON, A., PYATT, D. G. & WHITE, I. M. S. 1995. Impacts of conifer plantations on blanket bogs and prospects of restoration. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOYT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of temperate wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

ANDERSON, A. R., DAY, R. & PYATT, D. G. 2000. Physical and hydrological impacts of blanket bog afforestation at Bad a' Cheo, Caithness: the first 5 years. Forestry, 73, 467-478.

ARDRON, P. A. 1999. Peat cutting in upland Britain, with special reference to the Peak District : its impact on landscape, archaeology, and ecology.

BURKE, W. 1975. Effects of drainage on the hydrology of blanket bog. Irish Journal of Agricultural Research, 14, 145-162.

BURTT, R. & HAWKE, C. 2008. Hydrological restoration on intact and eroding blanket bog in the Peak district, Association of Applied Biologists.

CAPORN, S. J. M. & EMMETT, B. A. 2009. Threats from air pollution and climate change to upland systems: past, present and future. In: BONN, A., ALLOTT, T., HUBACEK, K. & STEWART, J. (eds.) Drivers of environmental change in uplands. Routledge.

CHAMBERS, F. M., MAUQUOY, D. & TODD, P. A. 1999. Recent rise to dominance of *Molinia caerulea* in environmentally sensitive areas: new perspectives from palaeoecological data. Journal of Applied Ecology, 36, 719-733.

COULSON, J. C., BUTTERFIELD, J. E. L. & HENDERSON, E. 1990. The effect of open drainage ditches on the plant and invertebrate communities of moorland and on the decomposition of peat. Journal of Applied Ecology, 27, 549-561.

COUPAR, A., IMMIRZI, P. & REID, E. The nature and extent of degradation in Scottish blanket mires. In: TALLIS, J. H., MEADE, R. & HULME, P. D., eds. Blanket Mire Degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges, 1997. University of Manchester. The Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Aberdeen on behald of the Mires Research Group (British Ecological Society).

ENVIRONMENTAL, M. 2010. Assessing Impacts of Wind Farm Development on Blanket Peatland in England: Part 1 Final Report. Part 2 Appendices. In: ENGLAND, N. (ed.) Natural England Commissioned Report.

GIBSON, H. S., WORRALL, F., BURT, T. P. & ADAMSON, J. K. 2009. DOC budgets of drained peat catchments: implications for DOC production in peat soils. Hydrological Processes, 23, 1901-1911.

GRANT, M. C., MALLORD, J., LEIGH, S. & THOMPSON, P. S. 2012. The costs and benefits of grouse moor management to biodiversity and aspects of the wider environment: a review. RSPB Research Report No 43. Sandy, Bedfordshire.

GUNNARSSON, U., BRONGE, L. B., RYDIN, H. & OHLSON, M. 2008. Near-zero recent carbon accumulation in a bog with high nitrogen deposition in SW Sweden. Global Change Biology, 14, 2152-2165.

HOLDEN, J. 2005a. Controls of soil pipe frequency in upland blanket peat. Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface, 110, 11.

HOLDEN, J. 2005b. Piping and woody plants in peatlands: Cause or effect? Water Resources Research, 41, 10.

HOLDEN, J. 2006. Sediment and particulate carbon removal by pipe erosion increase over time in blanket peatlands as a consequence of land drainage. Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface, 111.

Restoration of degraded blanket bog

HOLDEN, J., CHAPMAN, P. J. & LABADZ, J. C. 2004. Artificial drainage of peatlands: hydrological and hydro chemical process and wetland restoration. Progress in Physical Geography, 28, 95-123.

HOLDEN, J., EVANS, M. G., BURT, T. P. & HORTON, M. 2006. Impact of land drainage on peatland hydrology. Journal of Environmental Quality, 35, 1764-1778.

HOLDEN, J., SHOTBOLT, L., BONN, A., BURT, T. P., CHAPMAN, P. J., DOUGILL, A. J., FRASER, E. D. G., HUBACEK, K., IRVINE, B., KIRKBY, M. J., REED, M. S., PRELL, C., STAGL, S., STRINGER, L. C., TURNER, A. & WORRALL, F. 2007b. Environmental change in moorland landscapes. Earth-Science Reviews, 82, 75-100.

JNCC. 2009. Common Standards Monitoring Guidance for Upland Habitats.

JNCC. 2011. Towards an assessment of the state of the UK Peatlands.

LINDSAY, R. 2010. Peatbogs and carbon: a critical synthesis to inform policy development in oceanic peat bog conservation and restoration in the context of climate change. London.

LINDSAY, R. A. & BRAGG, O. M. 2004. Wind Farms and Blanket Peat - The bog slide of 16th October 2003 at Derrybrien, Co. Galway, Ireland. Commissioned Report for Derrybrien Residents' Co-operative. London.

MACKAY, A. W. & TALLIS, J. H. 1996. Summit-type blanket mire erosion in the forest of Bowland, Lancashire, UK: Predisposing factors and implications for conservation. Biological Conservation, 76, 31-44.

PHILLIPS, J., YALDEN, D. & TALLIS, J. 1981. Peak District Moorland Erosion Study Phase 1 Report. Peak Park Joint Planning Board, Bakewell.

ADAMSON, H. & GARDNER, S. 2004. Upland Management Technical Guideline No.4: Restoration and Management of Blanket Mires. In: DEFRA (ed.).

ANDERSON, P., BUCKLER, M. & WALKER, J. 2009. Moorland restoration: potential and progress. In: BONN, A., ALLOTT, T., HUBACEK, K. & STEWART, J. (eds.) Drivers of environmental change in uplands. Routledge.

ANDERSON, P., ROSS, S., EYRE, G. & LONGDEN, K. 2006. Restoration of *Molinia*-dominated blanket mire. CCW Science Report.

ANDERSON, P., TALLIS, J. H. & YALDEN, D. W. 1995b. Restoring Moorland. Peak District Moorland Management Project, Phase III report. Bakewell, Derbyshire.

ANDERSON, P., WORRALL, P., ROSS, S., HAMMOND, G. & A, K. 2011a. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management Programme.Volume 2. Restoring Drained, Burned and Grazed Moorlands.

ANDERSON, P., WORRALL, P., ROSS, S., HAMMOND, G. & KEEN, A. 2011b. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management Programme. Volume 3. The Restoration of Highly Degraded Blanket Bog.

ANDERSON, R. 2001. Deforesting and Restoring Peat Bogs; A Review. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.

ARMSTRONG, A., HOLDEN, J., KAY, P., FOULGER, M., GLEDHILL, S., MCDONALD, A. T. & WALKER, A. 2009. Drain-blocking techniques on blanket peat: A framework for best practice. Journal of Environmental Management, 90, 3512-3519.

BONNETT, S. A. F., ROSS, S., LINSTEAD, C. & MALTBY, E. 2009. A review of techniques for monitoring the success of peatland restoration. Natural England Commissioned Report. University of Liverpool.

BOUDREAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. Restoration of post-mined peatlands: Effect of vascular pioneer species on *Sphagnum* establishment. In: MALTERER, T., JOHNSON, K. & STEWARD, J., eds. 1998 International Peat Symposium, 1998 Duluth, Minnesota. 39-43.

BRAGG, O. M. 2002. Hydrology of peat-forming wetlands in Scotland. Science of the Total Environment, 294, 111-129.

BRIDGES, M. K. 1985. Stabilisation and revegation of fire damaged deep peat on Glaisdale Moor. Moorland Management. Helmsley: North York Moors National Park Authority.

BROOKS, S. & STONEMAN, R. E. 1997. Conserving Bogs: The Management Handbook, London, The Stationery Office.

BUCKLER, M. 2007. Evaluating Moorland Restoration Techniques: The use of nurse grasses and substrate stabilisation methods in the restoration of bare and eroding peat on Bleaklow in the Peak District National Park.

BUGNON, J. L., ROCHEFORT, L. & PRICE, J. S. 1997. Field experiment of *Sphagnum* reintroduction on a dry abandoned peatland in Eastern Canada. Wetlands, 17, 513-517.

BUTTLER, A., GROSVERNIER, P. & MATTHEY, Y. 1998. Development of *Sphagnum* fallax diaspores on bare peat with implications for the restoration of cut-over bogs. Journal of Applied Ecology, 35, 800-810.

CAMPEAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. 1996. *Sphagnum* regeneration on bare peat surfaces: Field and greenhouse experiments. Journal of Applied Ecology, 33, 599-608.

CAPORN, S., SEN, R., FIELD, C., JONES, E., CARROLL, J. & DISE, N. 2007. Consequences of lime and fertiliser application for moorland restoration and carbon balance. Research report to Moors for the Future.

CHAMBERS, F. M., MAUQUOY, D., CLOUTMAN, E. W., DANIELL, J. R. G. & JONES, P. S. 2007a. Recent vegetation history of Drygarn Fawr (Elenydd SSSI), Cambrian Mountains, Wales: implications for conservation management of degraded blanket mires. Biodiversity and Conservation, 16, 2821-2846.

CHAMBERS, F. M., MAUQUOY, D., GENT, A., PEARSON, F., DANIELL, J. R. G. & JONES, P. S. 2007b. Palaeoecology of degraded blanket mire in South Wales: Data to inform conservation management. Biological Conservation, 137, 197-209.

CHIRINO, C., CAMPEAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. 2006. *Sphagnum* establishment on bare peat: The importance of climatic variability and *Sphagnum* species richness. Applied Vegetation Science, 9, 285-294.

MURPHY P. 2008. Restoring Active Blanket Bog in Ireland, Technical Final Report, LIFE project Number LIFE02 NAT/IRL/8490, Coillte Teoranta, Mullingar, Westmeath.

CRIS, R., BUCKMASTER, S., BAIN, C. & BONN, A. E. 2012. UK Peatland Restoration -Demonstrating Success, Edinburgh, IUCN UK national Committee Peatland Programme.

EVANS, M., ALLOT, T., HOLDEN, J., FLITCROFT, C. & BONN, A. 2005. Understanding Gully Blocking in Deep Peat. Moors for the Future Report No 4. Castleton: Moors for the Future.

FARRICK, K. K. & PRICE, J. S. 2009. Ericaceous shrubs on abandoned block-cut peatlands: implications for soil water availability and *Sphagnum* restoration. Ecohydrology, 2, 530-540.

FERLAND, C. & ROCHEFORT, L. 1997. Restoration techniques for *Sphagnum* -dominated peatlands. Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique, 75, 1110-1118.

FUTURE, M. F. T., LEEDS, U. O., MANCHESTER, U. O. & UNIVERSITY, D. 2008. A compendium of UK peat restoration and management projects: Research Project Final Report SP0556to DEFRA.

GORE, A. J. P. & GODFREY, M. 1981. Reclamation of eroded peat in the Pennines. Journal of Ecology, 69, 85-96.

GROENEVELD, E. V. G., MASSE, A. & ROCHEFORT, L. 2007. Polytrichum strictum as a nurseplant in peatland restoration. Restoration Ecology, 15, 709-719.

GROENEVELD, E. V. G. & ROCHEFORT, L. 2002. Nursing plants in peatland restoration: on their potential use to alleviate frost heaving problems. Suo, 53, 73-85.

Restoration of degraded blanket bog

GROOTJANS, A. P., VAN DIGGELEN, R., JOOSTEN, H. & SMOLDERS, A. 2012. Restoration of mires and wet grasslands. In: VAN ANDEL, J. & ARONSON, J. (eds.) Restoration Ecology: The New Frontier (2nd edition). Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

GROSVERNIER, P., MATTHEY, Y. & BUTTLER, A. 1997. Growth potential of three *Sphagnum* species in relation to water table level and peat properties with implications for their restoration in cutover bogs. Journal of Applied Ecology, 34, 471-483.

GROSVERNIER, P., MATTHEY, Y. & BUTTLER, A. 1995. Microclimate and physical properties of peat: new clues to the understanding of bog restoration processes. In: WHEELER, B. D. & SHAW, S. C. (eds.) Restoration of temperate wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

HANNIGAN, E., MANGAN, R. & KELLY-QUINN, M. 2011. EVALUATION OF THE SUCCESS OF MOUNTAIN BLANKET BOG POOL RESTORATION IN TERMS OF AQUATIC MACROINVERTEBRATES. Biology and Environment-Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy, 111B, 95-105.

HINDE, S., ROSENBURGH, A., WRIGHT, N., BUCKLER, M. & CAPORN, S. 2010. *Sphagnum* reintroduction project: A report on research into the re-introduction of *Sphagnum* mosses to degraded moorland. Moors for the Future Research Report 18.

HODGE, K. 2012. How restoring mires on Exmoor can potentially improve the habitat for snipe. Exeter: Bioscience, College of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Exeter.

HOLDEN, J. 2009. A grip-blocking overview.

HOLDEN, J., GASCOIGN, M. & BOSANKO, N. R. 2007. Erosion and natural re-vegetation associated with surface land drains in upland peatlands. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 32, 1547-1557.

HOPE, G., WHINAM, J. & GOOD, R. 2005. Methods and preliminary results of post-fire experimental trials of restoration techniques in the peatlands of Namadgi (ACT) and Kosciuszko National Parks (NSW). Ecological Management & Restoration, 6, 214-217.

KAY, P., EDWARDS, T., FOULGER, M., WALKER, A., GLEDHILL, S. & NORMAN, S. 2008. Impacts of agricultural stewardship measures on raw water quality. Final Report. Yorkshire Water Strategic Research Partnership.

KOMULAINEN, V. M., TUITTILA, E. S., VASANDER, H. & LAINE, J. 1999a. Restoration of drained peatlands in southern Finland: initial effects on vegetation change and CO₂ balance. Journal of Applied Ecology, 36, 634-648.

LINDSAY, R. A. Peat Forming Process and Restoration Management. In: MEADE, R., ed. Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop, 2003. English Nature.

LUNT, P., ALLOTT, T., ANDERSON, P., BUCKLER, M., COUPAR, A., JONES, P., LABADZ, J. & WORRALL, F. 2010. Peatland Restoration: Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands. In: EVAN, M. (ed.).

MARRS, R. H., PHILLIPS, J. D. P., TODD, P. A., GHORBANI, J. & LE DUC, M. G. 2004. Control of *Molinia caerulea* on upland moors. Journal of Applied Ecology, 41, 398-411.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D., COX, E. S., GHORBANI, J., LE DUC, M. G. & MARRS, R. H. 2004. Developing an integrated land management strategy for the restoration of moorland vegetation on *Molinia caerulea*-dominated vegetation for conservation purposes in upland Britain. Biological Conservation, 119, 371-385.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 1999. A laboratory assessment of the relative susceptibility of *Molinia caerulea* (L.) Moench and *Calluna vulgaris* (L.) Hull to a range of herbicides. Annals of Applied Biology, 135, 503-508.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 2003. A field assessment of the role of selective herbicides in the restoration of British moorland dominated by *Molinia*. Biological Conservation, 109, 369-379.

O'BRIEN, H., LABADZ, J. C. & BUTCHER, D. P. 2007. Review of Blanket Bog Management and Restoration. Technical Report to DEFRA. Project No. CTE0513.

PARTNERSHIP, Y. P. 2011a. Technical Guidance Note 1: Specification for Grip Blocking using Peat Dams [Online]. Available: URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013].

PARTNERSHIP, Y. P. 2011b. Technical Guidance Note 2: Specification for Large Grip/Gully Blocking [Online]. Available: URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013].

PARTNERSHIP, Y. P. 2011c. Technical Guidance Note 3: Specification for Restoration of Bare/Eroding Peat [Online]. Available: URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013].

PARTNERSHIP, Y. P. 2011d. Technical Guidance Note 5: Specification for application of geotextiles on bare peat [Online]. Available: URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013].

PARTNERSHIP, Y. P. 2011? Technical Guidance Note 4: Specification for Heather Cutting & Baling [Online]. Available: URL: www.yppartnership.org.uk/restoration/technical-guidance-notes/ [Accessed April 2013].

PEATLAND AND UPLANDS BIODIVERSITY DELIVERY GROUP. 2009. Guidelines for Peatland Restoration. Quarry Products Association Northern Ireland.

QUINTY, F. & ROCHEFORT, L. 2003. Peatland restoration guide, Quebec, Canadian Peat Moss Association and New Brunswick Department of Natural Resources and Energy.

RAMCHUNDER, S. J., BROWN, L. E. & HOLDEN, J. 2009. Environmental effects of drainage, drainblocking and prescribed vegetation burning in UK upland peatlands. Progress in Physical Geography, 33, 49-79.

RICHARDS, J. R. A., WHEELER, B. D. & WILLIS, A. J. 1995. The growth and value of *Eriophorum angustifolium* in relation to the re-vegetation of eroding blanket peat. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOJT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

ROBROEK, B. J. M., RUIJVEN, J. V., SCHOUTEN, M. G. C., BREEUWER, A., CRUSHELL, P. H., BERENDSE, F. & LIMPENS, J. 2009. *Sphagnum* re-introduction in degraded peatlands: the effects of aggregation, species identity and water table. Basic and Applied Ecology, 10, 697-706.

ROCHEFORT, L. & CAMPEAU, S. Recovery of donor sites used for peatland restoration. In: SCHMILEWSKI, G. & ROCHEFORT, L., eds. Peat in horticulture - Quality and environmental challenges. A joint symposium of Commission II (Industrial utilization of peat and peatlands) and Commission V (After-use of cut-over peatlands) of the International Peat Society, 2002 Parnu, Estonia. International Peat Society.

ROCHEFORT, L., GAUTHIER, R. & LEQUÉRÉ, D. 1995. *Sphagnum* regeneration - Towards an optimisation of bog restoration. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOYT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

ROCHEFORT, L. & LODE, E. 2006. Restoration of degraded boreal peatlands. In: WIEDER, R. K. & VITT, D. H. (eds.) Boreal Peatlands Ecosystems. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.

ROCHEFORT, L., QUINTY, F., CAMPEAU, S., JOHNSON, K. & MALTERER, T. 2003. North American approach to the restoration of *Sphagnum* dominated peatlands. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 11, 3-20.

ROCHEFORT, L. F. 2000b. *Sphagnum* - a keystone genus in habitat restoration. The Bryologist, 103(3), 503-508.

ROSS, S. 2011. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management programme. Volume 4. Restoration of Upland Vegetation.

ROWELL, T. A. 1988. The peatland management handbook, Peterborough, Nature Conservancy Council.

ROYAL SOCIETY FOR THE PROTECTION OF, B. & SCOTTISH WILDLIFE, T. 1995. Conservation management of blanket bog : a review, Royal Society for the Protection of Birds.

SCHUMANN, M. & JOOSTEN, H. 2008. Global peatland restoration manual (Version April 18, 2008), Greifswald, Germany.

SHERIDAN, S. 2008. Restoration of blanket bog vegetation as a habitat for red grouse following clearance of immature Sitka spruce forest on the west coast of Scotland [electronic resource], Newcastle upon Tyne, University of Newcastle upon Tyne.

SKEFFINGTON, R., WILSON, E., MALTBY, E., IMMIRZI, P. & PUTWAIN, P. Acid deposition and blanket mire degradation and restoration. In: TALLIS, J. H., MEADE, R. & HULME, P. D., eds. Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges., 1997 University of Manchester. Mires Research Group.

SLIVA, J. & PFADENHAUER, J. 1999. Restoration of cut-over raised bogs in southern Germany - a comparison of methods. Applied Vegetation Science, 2, 137-148.

TALLIS, J. H. 1998. Growth and degradation of British and Irish blanket mires. Environmental Reviews, 6, 81-122.

TALLIS, J. H. & YALDEN, D. W. 1983. Peak District Moorland Restoration Project. Phase II Report: Re-vegetation Trials. Bakewell, Derbyshire.

TODD, P. A., PHILLIPS, J. D. P., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 2000. Control of *Molinia caerulea* on moorland. Grass and Forage Science, 55.

TRUST, N. W. 2003. The border mires active blanket bog rehabilitation project - Final report. Newcastle.

TUITTILA, E. S., VASANDER, H. & LAINE, J. 2003. Success of re-introduced *Sphagnum* in a cutaway peatland. Boreal Environment Research, 8, 245-250.

VASANDER, H., TUITTILA, E. S., LODE, E., LUNDIN, L., ILOMETS, M., SALLANTAUS, T., HEIKKILA, R., PITKANEN, M. L. & LAINE, J. 2003. Status and restoration of peatlands in northern Europe. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 51-63.

WHEELER, B. D. & SHAW, S. C. 1995. Restoration of damaged peatlands, HMSO London, Department of the Environment.

WILKIE, N., THOMPSON, P. & RUSSELL, N. 1997. The conservation and restoration of active blanket bog in Caithness and Sutherland. In: TALLIS, J. H., MEADE, R. & HULME, J. D. (eds.) Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges. University of Manchester: Mires Research Group.

WILKIE, N. M. & MAYHEW, P. W. ? The management and restoration of damaged blanket bog in the north of Scotland. Botanical Journal of Scotland, 55(1), 125-133.

ARMSTRONG, A., HOLDEN, J., KAY, P., CHAPMAN, P., GLEDHILL, S., FOULGER, M., MCDONALD, A. & WALKER, A. 2008. Grip-blocking in upland catchments: costs and benefits. Final Report. Report to Yorkshire Water.

BELLAMY, P. E., STEPHEN, L., MACLEAN, I. S. & GRANT, M. C. 2012. Response of blanket bog vegetation to drain-blocking. Applied Vegetation Science, 15, 129-135.

CARROLL, M. J., DENNIS, P., PEARCE-HIGGINS, J. W. & THOMAS, C. D. 2011. Maintaining northern peatland ecosystems in a changing climate: effects of soil moisture, drainage and drain blocking on craneflies. Global Change Biology, 17, 2991-3001.

GLENDINNING, A. 2012. The continued effect of damming moorland drainage channels on Exmoor Mire vegetation. FdSc Countryside Management.

GRAYSON, R. & HOLDEN, J. 2012a. Hydrological Recovery from Grip Blocking in Upland Catchments: Snailsden Moor, Winscar. Final Report. Report to Yorkshire Water (extension to project A9699, July 2008).

GRAYSON, R. & HOLDEN, J. 2012b. The impact of grip blocking downstream: Stean Moor update report (draft). Interim report prepared for Natural England, Environment Agency and Yorkshire Water.

HOLDEN, J., WALLAGE, Z. E., LANE, S. N. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2011. Water table dynamics in undisturbed, drained and restored blanket peat. Journal of Hydrology, 402, 103-114.

JONCZYK, J., WILKINSON, M., RIMMER, D. & QUINN, P. 2009. Peatscapes: Monitoring of Hydrology and Water Quality at Geltsdale and Priorsdale.

PHILLIPS, H. 2008. Management of moorlands for Red Grouse: Investigating the case for grip blocking.

RAMCHUNDER, S. J., BROWN, L. E. & HOLDEN, J. 2012. Catchment-scale peatland restoration benefits stream ecosystem biodiversity. Journal of Applied Ecology, 49, 182-191.

WALLAGE, Z. E. & HOLDEN, J. 2011. Near-surface macropore flow and saturated hydraulic conductivity in drained and restored blanket peatlands. Soil Use and Management, 27, 247-254.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2010. Recovery of water tables in Welsh blanket bog after drain blocking: Discharge rates, time scales and the influence of local conditions. Journal of Hydrology, 391, 377-386.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2011. The impact of drain blocking on an upland blanket bog during storm and drought events, and the importance of sampling-scale. Journal of Hydrology, 404, 198-208.

WORRALL, F., ARMSTRONG, A. & HOLDEN, J. 2007. Short-term impact of peat drain-blocking on water colour, dissolved organic carbon concentration, and water table depth. Journal of Hydrology, 337, 315-325.

GREEN, S., BOARDMAN, C., BAIRD, A. & GAUCI, V. 2011. Investigation of peatland restoration (grip blocking) techniques to achieve best outcomes for methane and greenhouse gas emissions/balance. Controlled Environment (Mesocosm) Experiment. Final Report to DEFRA. SP1202. Leeds.

HOLDEN, J. 2005. Peatland hydrology and carbon release: why small-scale process matters. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society a-Mathematical Physical and Engineering Sciences, 363, 2891-2913.

WALMESLY, C. & JONES, P. 2008. Methane emissions and their relevance to wetland management and restoration.

ARMSTRONG, A., HOLDEN, J., KAY, P., FRANCIS, B., FOULGER, M., GLEDHILL, S., MCDONALD, A. T. & WALKER, A. 2010. The impact of peatland drain-blocking on dissolved organic carbon loss and discolouration of water; results from a national survey. Journal of Hydrology, 381, 112-120.

BAIRD, A., HOLDEN, J. & CHAPMAN, P. 2009. A Literature Review of Evidence on Emissions of Methane in Peatlands. DEFRA Project SP0574. Leeds.

BUSSELL, J., JONES, D. L., HEALEY, J. R. & PULLIN, A. S. 2010. How do draining and re-wetting affect carbon stores and greenhouse gas fluxes in peatland soils. Systematic Review CEEE 08-012 (SR49). Centre for Evidence-Based Conservation, Bangor University.

FENNER, N., WILLIAMS, R., TOBERMAN, H., HUGHES, S., REYNOLDS, B. & FREEMAN, C. 2011. Decomposition 'hotspots' in a rewetted peatland: implications for water quality and carbon cycling. Hydrobiologia, 674, 51-66.

KOMULAINEN, V. M., NYKANEN, H., MARTIKAINEN, P. J. & LAINE, J. 1998. Short-term effect of restoration on vegetation change and methane emissions from peatlands drained for forestry in southern Finland. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 28, 402-411.

WALLAGE, Z. E., HOLDEN, J. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2006. Drain blocking: An effective treatment for reducing dissolved organic carbon loss and water discolouration in a drained peatland. Science of the Total Environment, 367, 811-821.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2011b. Ditch blocking, water chemistry and organic carbon flux: Evidence that blanket bog restoration reduces erosion and fluvial carbon loss. Science of the Total Environment, 409, 2010-2018.

WORRALL, F., BELL, M. J. & BHOGAL, A. 2010. Assessing the probability of carbon and greenhouse gas benefit from the management of peat soils. Science of the Total Environment, 408, 2657-2666.

WORRALL, F., GIBSON, H. S. & BURT, T. P. 2007b. Modelling the impact of drainage and drainblocking on dissolved organic carbon release from peatlands. Journal of Hydrology, 338, 15-27.

WORRALL, F., ROWSON, J. G., EVANS, M. G., PAWSON, R., DANIELS, S. & BONN, A. 2011. Carbon fluxes from eroding peatlands - the carbon benefit of re-vegetation following wildfire. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 36, 1487-1498.

AVERIS, A., AVERIS, B., BIRKS, J., HORSFIELD, D., THOMPSON, D. & YEO, M. 2004. An Illustrated Guide to British Upland Vegetation, JNCC.

BAIRD, A., BECKWITH, C. & HEATHWAITE, L. Water movement in undamaged blanket peats. In: TALLIS, J. H., MEADE, R. & HULME, P. D., eds. Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges., 1997 University of Manchester. Mires Research Group.

BRAGG, O. M. & TALLIS, J. H. 2001. The sensitivity of peat-covered upland landscapes. Catena, 42, 345-360.

BURT, T., LABADZ, J. & BUTCHER, D. The hydrology and fluvial geomorphology of blanket peat: implications for integrated catchment management. In: TALLIS, J. H., MEADE, R. & HULME, P. D., eds. Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges., 1997 University of Manchester. Mires Research Group.

ELKINGTON, T., DAYTON, N., JACKSON, D. L. & STRACHAN, I. M. 2001. National Vegetation Classification: Field guide to mires and heaths, JNCC.

EVANS, M. 2009. Natural changes in upland landscapes. In: BONN, A., ALLOTT, T., HUBACEK, K. & STEWART, J. (eds.) Drivers of environmental change in uplands. Routledge.

EVANS, M., & WARBURTON, J. 2007. Geomorphology of upland peat : erosion, form, and landscape change, Royal Geographical Society, Malden, MA, Blackwell Pub.

HOBBS, N. B. 1986. Mire morphology and the properties and behaviour of some British and foreign peats. Quarterly Journal of Engineering Geology, 19, 7-80.

HOLDEN, J. 2009a. Flow through macropores of different size classes in blanket peat. Journal of Hydrology, 364, 342-348.

HOLDEN, J. 2009b. Upland hydrology. In: BONN, A., ALLOTT, T., HUBACEK, K. & STEWART, J. (eds.) Drivers of environmental change in uplands. Routledge.

HOLDEN, J. & BURT, T. P. 2002. Piping and pipe flow in a deep peat catchment. Catena, 48, 163-199.

HOLDEN, J., BURT, T. P. & COX, N. J. 2001. Macroporosity and infiltration in blanket peat: the implications of tension disc infiltrometer measurements. Hydrological Processes, 15, 289-303.

HOLDEN, J., KIRKBY, M. J., LANE, S. N., MILLEDGE, D. G., BROOKES, C. J., HOLDEN, V. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2008. Overland flow velocity and roughness properties in peatlands. Water Resources Research, 44, 11.

HOLDEN, J., SMART, R. P., DINSMORE, K. J., BAIRD, A. J., BILLETT, M. F. & CHAPMAN, P. J. 2012. Morphological change of natural pipe outlets in blanket peat. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 37, 109-118.

JERRAM, R. & DREWITT, A. 1998. Assessing Vegetation Condition in the English Uplands. English Nature Research Reports (ENRR). Peterborough: English Nature.

LABADZ, J., ALLOTT, T., EVANS, M., BUTCHER, D., BILLETT, M., STAINER, S., YALLOP, A., JONES, P., INNERDALE, M., HARMON, N., MAHER, K., BRADBURY, R., MOUNT, D., O'BRIEN, H. & HART, R. 2010. Peatland Hydrology: Draft Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands.

LINDSAY, R. A. 1995. Bogs: The Ecology, Classification and Conservation of Ombrotrophic Mires, Battleby, Perth, Scottish Natural Heritage.

LITTLEWOOD, N., ANDERSON, P., ARTZ, R., BRAGG, O., LUNT, P. & MARRS, R. 2010. Peatland Biodiversity: Scientific Review to IUCN Peatland Programme Commission of Inquiry on Peatlands.

RODWELL, J. S. 1991. British Plant Communities: Vol 2, Mires and Heaths, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

ANDRUS, R. E. 1986. Some aspects of *Sphagnum* ecology. Canadian Journal of Botany, 64, 416-426.

CAPORN, S. J. M., CARROLL, J. A., STUDHOLME, C. & LEE, J. A. 2006. Recovery of ombrotrophic *Sphagnum* mosses in relation to air pollution in the Southern Pennines. Report to Moors for the Future.

CARROLL, J., ANDERSON, P., CAPORN, S., EADES, P., O'REILLY, C. & BONN, A. 2009. *Sphagnum* in the Peak District: Current Status and Potential for Restoration: Moors for the Future Research Report No 16.

CLYMO, R. S. & REDDAWAY, E. F. J. 1971. Productivity of *Sphagnum* (bog-moss) and peat accumulation. Hydrobiologia, 12, 181-192.

HAJEK, T. 2009. Habitat and species controls on *Sphagnum* production and decomposition in a mountain raised bog. Boreal Environment Research, 14, 947-958.

LINDSAY, R. A. Peat Forming Process and Restoration Management. In: MEADE, R., ed. Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop, 2003. English Nature.

MALMER, N., SVENSSON, B. M. & WALLEN, B. 1994. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN *SPHAGNUM* MOSES AND FIELD LAYER VASCULAR PLANTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF PEAT-FORMING SYSTEMS. Folia Geobotanica & Phytotaxonomica, 29.

MALMER, N. & WALLEN, B. 1999. The dynamics of peat accumulation on bogs: mass balance of hummocks and hollows and its variation throughout a millennium. Ecography, 22.

O'REILLY, C. 2008. Peatscapes Project: *Sphagna* as management indicators. Final report to North Pennines AONB Partnership.

ROCHEFORT, L. F. 2000. *Sphagnum* - a keystone genus in habitat restoration. The Bryologist, 103(3), 503-508.

Appendix 3 Studies included in the quality appraisal

ANDERSON, A. R., DAY, R. & PYATT, D. G. 2000. Physical and hydrological impacts of blanket bog afforestation at Bad a' Cheo, Caithness: the first 5 years. Forestry, 73, 467-478.

ANDERSON, A., PYATT, D. G. & WHITE, I. M. S. 1995. Impacts of conifer plantations on blanket bogs and prospects of restoration. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOYT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of temperate wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

ANDERSON, P., TALLIS, J. H. & YALDEN, D. W. 1995b. Restoring Moorland. Peak District Moorland Management Project, Phase III report. Bakewell, Derbyshire.

ANDERSON, P., WORRALL, P., ROSS, S., HAMMOND, G. & A, K. 2011a. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management Programme.Volume 2. Restoring Drained, Burned and Grazed Moorlands.

ANDERSON, P., WORRALL, P., ROSS, S., HAMMOND, G. & KEEN, A. 2011b. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management Programme. Volume 3. The Restoration of Highly Degraded Blanket Bog.

ARDRON, P. A. 1999. Peat cutting in upland Britain, with special reference to the Peak District : its impact on landscape, archaeology, and ecology.

ARMSTRONG, A., HOLDEN, J., KAY, P., CHAPMAN, P., GLEDHILL, S., FOULGER, M., MCDONALD, A. & WALKER, A. 2008. Grip-blocking in upland catchments: costs and benefits. Final Report. Report to Yorkshire Water.

ARMSTRONG, A., HOLDEN, J., KAY, P., FRANCIS, B., FOULGER, M., GLEDHILL, S., MCDONALD, A. T. & WALKER, A. 2010. The impact of peatland drain-blocking on dissolved organic carbon loss and discolouration of water; results from a national survey. Journal of Hydrology, 381, 112-120.

BOUDREAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. Restoration of post-mined peatlands: Effect of vascular pioneer species on *Sphagnum* establishment. In: MALTERER, T., JOHNSON, K. & STEWARD, J., eds. 1998 International Peat Symposium, 1998 Duluth, Minnesota. 39-43.

BUCKLER, M. 2007. Evaluating Moorland Restoration Techniques: The use of nurse grasses and substrate stabilisation methods in the restoration of bare and eroding peat on Bleaklow in the Peak District National Park.

BUGNON, J. L., ROCHEFORT, L. & PRICE, J. S. 1997. Field experiment of *Sphagnum* reintroduction on a dry abandoned peatland in Eastern Canada. Wetlands, 17, 513-517.

BURKE, W. 1975. Effects of drainage on the hydrology of blanket bog. Irish Journal of Agricultural Research, 14, 145-162.

BURTT, R. & HAWKE, C. 2008. Hydrological restoration on intact and eroding blanket bog in the Peak district, Association of Applied Biologists.

BUSSELL, J., JONES, D. L., HEALEY, J. R. & PULLIN, A. S. 2010. How do draining and re-wetting affect carbon stores and greenhouse gas fluxes in peatland soils. Systematic Review CEEE 08-012 (SR49). Centre for Evidence-Based Conservation, Bangor University.

BUTTLER, A., GROSVERNIER, P. & MATTHEY, Y. 1998. Development of *Sphagnum* fallax diaspores on bare peat with implications for the restoration of cut-over bogs. Journal of Applied Ecology, 35, 800-810.

CAMPEAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. 1996. *Sphagnum* regeneration on bare peat surfaces: Field and greenhouse experiments. Journal of Applied Ecology, 33, 599-608.

CAPORN, S. J. M., CARROLL, J. A., STUDHOLME, C. & LEE, J. A. 2006. Recovery of ombrotrophic *Sphagnum* mosses in relation to air pollution in the Southern Pennines. Report to Moors for the Future.

CAPORN, S., SEN, R., FIELD, C., JONES, E., CARROLL, J. & DISE, N. 2007. Consequences of lime and fertiliser application for moorland restoration and carbon balance. Research report to Moors for the Future.

CARROLL, J., ANDERSON, P., CAPORN, S., EADES, P., O'REILLY, C. & BONN, A. 2009. *Sphagnum* in the Peak District: Current Status and Potential for Restoration: Moors for the Future Research Report No 16.

CLAY, G. D., WORRALL, F., CLARK, E., FRASER, E. D. G. 2009. Hydrological responses to managed burning and grazing in an upland blanket bog. Journal of Hydrology, 376, 486-495.

CHAMBERS, F. M., MAUQUOY, D. & TODD, P. A. 1999. Recent rise to dominance of *Molinia caerulea* in environmentally sensitive areas: new perspectives from palaeoecological data. Journal of Applied Ecology, 36, 719-733.

CHAMBERS, F. M., MAUQUOY, D., CLOUTMAN, E. W., DANIELL, J. R. G. & JONES, P. S. 2007a. Recent vegetation history of Drygarn Fawr (Elenydd SSSI), Cambrian Mountains, Wales: implications for conservation management of degraded blanket mires. Biodiversity and Conservation, 16, 2821-2846.

CHAMBERS, F. M., MAUQUOY, D., GENT, A., PEARSON, F., DANIELL, J. R. G. & JONES, P. S. 2007b. Palaeoecology of degraded blanket mire in South Wales: Data to inform conservation management. Biological Conservation, 137, 197-209.

CHIRINO, C., CAMPEAU, S. & ROCHEFORT, L. 2006. *Sphagnum* establishment on bare peat: The importance of climatic variability and *Sphagnum* species richness. Applied Vegetation Science, 9, 285-294.

CLYMO, R. S. & REDDAWAY, E. F. J. 1971. Productivity of *Sphagnum* (bog-moss) and peat accumulation. Hydrobiologia, 12, 181-192.

EVANS, M., ALLOT, T., HOLDEN, J., FLITCROFT, C. & BONN, A. 2005. Understanding Gully Blocking in Deep Peat. Moors for the Future Report No 4. Castleton: Moors for the Future.

FARRICK, K. K. & PRICE, J. S. 2009. Ericaceous shrubs on abandoned block-cut peatlands: implications for soil water availability and *Sphagnum* restoration. Ecohydrology, 2, 530-540.

FENNER, N., WILLIAMS, R., TOBERMAN, H., HUGHES, S., REYNOLDS, B. & FREEMAN, C. 2011. Decomposition 'hotspots' in a rewetted peatland: implications for water quality and carbon cycling. Hydrobiologia, 674, 51-66.

FERGUSON, P., LEE, J.A., BELL, J.N.B. 1978. Effects of sulphur pollutants on the growth of Sphagnum species. Environmental Pollution, 16, 151-162.

GIBSON, H. S., WORRALL, F., BURT, T. P. & ADAMSON, J. K. 2009. DOC budgets of drained peat catchments: implications for DOC production in peat soils. Hydrological Processes, 23, 1901-1911.

GLENDINNING, A. 2012. The continued effect of damming moorland drainage channels on Exmoor Mire vegetation. FdSc Countryside Management.

GORE, A. J. P. & GODFREY, M. 1981. Reclamation of eroded peat in the Pennines. Journal of Ecology, 69, 85-96.

GRAYSON, R. & HOLDEN, J. 2012a. Hydrological Recovery from Grip Blocking in Upland Catchments: Snailsden Moor, Winscar. Final Report. Report to Yorkshire Water (extension to project A9699, July 2008).

GRAYSON, R. & HOLDEN, J. 2012b. The impact of grip blocking downstream: Stean Moor update report (draft). Interim report prepared for Natural England, Environment Agency and Yorkshire Water.

GREEN, S., BOARDMAN, C., BAIRD, A. & GAUCI, V. 2011. Investigation of peatland restoration (grip blocking) techniques to achieve best outcomes for methane and greenhouse gas emissions/balance. Controlled Environment (Mesocosm) Experiment. Final Report to DEFRA. SP1202. Leeds.

GROENEVELD, E. V. G., MASSE, A. & ROCHEFORT, L. 2007. Polytrichum strictum as a nurseplant in peatland restoration. Restoration Ecology, 15, 709-719.

GROSVERNIER, P., MATTHEY, Y. & BUTTLER, A. 1995. Microclimate and physical properties of peat: new clues to the understanding of bog restoration processes. In: WHEELER, B. D. & SHAW, S. C. (eds.) Restoration of temperate wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

GROSVERNIER, P., MATTHEY, Y. & BUTTLER, A. 1997. Growth potential of three *Sphagnum* species in relation to water table level and peat properties with implications for their restoration in cutover bogs. Journal of Applied Ecology, 34, 471-483.

GUNNARSSON, U., BRONGE, L. B., RYDIN, H. & OHLSON, M. 2008. Near-zero recent carbon accumulation in a bog with high nitrogen deposition in SW Sweden. Global Change Biology, 14, 2152-2165.

HAJEK, T. 2009. Habitat and species controls on *Sphagnum* production and decomposition in a mountain raised bog. Boreal Environment Research, 14, 947-958.

HINDE, S., ROSENBURGH, A., WRIGHT, N., BUCKLER, M. & CAPORN, S. 2010. *Sphagnum* reintroduction project: A report on research into the re-introduction of *Sphagnum* mosses to degraded moorland. Moors for the Future Research Report 18.

HOLDEN, J. & BURT, T. P. 2002. Piping and pipe flow in a deep peat catchment. Catena, 48, 163-199.

HOLDEN, J. 2005b. Piping and woody plants in peatlands: Cause or effect? Water Resources Research, 41, 10.

HOLDEN, J. 2006. Sediment and particulate carbon removal by pipe erosion increase over time in blanket peatlands as a consequence of land drainage. Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface, 111.

HOLDEN, J. 2009a. Flow through macropores of different size classes in blanket peat. Journal of Hydrology, 364, 342-348.

HOLDEN, J., BURT, T. P. & COX, N. J. 2001. Macroporosity and infiltration in blanket peat: the implications of tension disc infiltrometer measurements. Hydrological Processes, 15, 289-303.

HOLDEN, J., EVANS, M. G., BURT, T. P. & HORTON, M. 2006. Impact of land drainage on peatland hydrology. Journal of Environmental Quality, 35, 1764-1778.

HOLDEN, J., GASCOIGN, M. & BOSANKO, N. R. 2007. Erosion and natural re-vegetation associated with surface land drains in upland peatlands. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 32, 1547-1557.

HOLDEN, J., KIRKBY, M. J., LANE, S. N., MILLEDGE, D. G., BROOKES, C. J., HOLDEN, V. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2008. Overland flow velocity and roughness properties in peatlands. Water Resources Research, 44, 11.

HOLDEN, J., SMART, R. P., DINSMORE, K. J., BAIRD, A. J., BILLETT, M. F. & CHAPMAN, P. J. 2012. Morphological change of natural pipe outlets in blanket peat. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 37, 109-118.

HOLDEN, J., WALLAGE, Z. E., LANE, S. N. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2011. Water table dynamics in undisturbed, drained and restored blanket peat. Journal of Hydrology, 402, 103-114.

JONCZYK, J., WILKINSON, M., RIMMER, D. & QUINN, P. 2009. Peatscapes: Monitoring of Hydrology and Water Quality at Geltsdale and Priorsdale.

KOMULAINEN, V. M., TUITTILA, E. S., VASANDER, H. & LAINE, J. 1999a. Restoration of drained peatlands in southern Finland: initial effects on vegetation change and CO₂ balance. Journal of Applied Ecology, 36, 634-648.

LINDSAY, R. A. 1995. Bogs: The Ecology, Classification and Conservation of Ombrotrophic Mires, Battleby, Perth, Scottish Natural Heritage.

LINDSAY, R. A. Peat Forming Process and Restoration Management. In: MEADE, R., ed. Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop, 2003. English Nature.

MACKAY, A. W. & TALLIS, J. H. 1996. Summit-type blanket mire erosion in the forest of Bowland, Lancashire, UK: Predisposing factors and implications for conservation. Biological Conservation, 76, 31-44.

MALMER, N. & WALLEN, B. 1999. The dynamics of peat accumulation on bogs: mass balance of hummocks and hollows and its variation throughout a millennium. Ecography, 22.

MALMER, N., SVENSSON, B. M. & WALLEN, B. 1994. INTERACTIONS BETWEEN *SPHAGNUM* MOSES AND FIELD LAYER VASCULAR PLANTS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF PEAT-FORMING SYSTEMS. Folia Geobotanica & Phytotaxonomica, 29.

MARRS, R. H., PHILLIPS, J. D. P., TODD, P. A., GHORBANI, J. & LE DUC, M. G. 2004. Control of *Molinia caerulea* on upland moors. Journal of Applied Ecology, 41, 398-411.

MCHUGH, M. M. *et al.* 2000. Research on the quantification and causes of upland soil erosion. Ministry of Agriculture Fisheries and Food, Research and Development Final Project Report SP0402.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 1999. A laboratory assessment of the relative susceptibility of *Molinia caerulea* (L.) Moench and *Calluna vulgaris* (L.) Hull to a range of herbicides. Annals of Applied Biology, 135, 503-508.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 2003. A field assessment of the role of selective herbicides in the restoration of British moorland dominated by *Molinia*. Biological Conservation, 109, 369-379.

MILLIGAN, A. L., PUTWAIN, P. D., COX, E. S., GHORBANI, J., LE DUC, M. G. & MARRS, R. H. 2004. Developing an integrated land management strategy for the restoration of moorland vegetation on *Molinia caerulea*-dominated vegetation for conservation purposes in upland Britain. Biological Conservation, 119, 371-385.

MURPHY P. 2008. Restoring Active Blanket Bog in Ireland, Technical Final Report, LIFE project Number LIFE02 NAT/IRL/8490, Coillte Teoranta, Mullingar, Westmeath.

O'REILLY, C. 2008. Peatscapes Project: *Sphagna* as management indicators. Final report to North Pennines AONB Partnership.

PHILLIPS, H. 2008. Management of moorlands for Red Grouse: Investigating the case for grip blocking.

PHILLIPS, J., YALDEN, D. & TALLIS, J. 1981. Peak District Moorland Erosion Study Phase 1 Report. Peak Park Joint Planning Board, Bakewell.

RAMCHUNDER, S. J., BROWN, L. E. & HOLDEN, J. 2012. Catchment-scale peatland restoration benefits stream ecosystem biodiversity. Journal of Applied Ecology, 49, 182-191.

RICHARDS, J. R. A., WHEELER, B. D. & WILLIS, A. J. 1995. The growth and value of *Eriophorum angustifolium* in relation to the re-vegetation of eroding blanket peat. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOJT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

ROBINSON, M. 1985. The Hydrological Effects of Moorland Gripping: a Re-appraisal of the Moor House Research. Journal of Environmental Management, 21, 205-211.

ROBROEK, B. J. H., SMART, R. P., HOLDEN, J. 2010. Sensitivity of blanket peat vegetation and hydrochemistry to local disturbances. Science of the Total Environment, 408, 5028-5034.

ROCHEFORT, L. & CAMPEAU, S. Recovery of donor sites used for peatland restoration. In: SCHMILEWSKI, G. & ROCHEFORT, L., eds. Peat in horticulture - Quality and environmental challenges. A joint symposium of Commission II (Industrial utilization of peat and peatlands) and Commission V (After-use of cut-over peatlands) of the International Peat Society, 2002 Parnu, Estonia. International Peat Society.

ROCHEFORT, L., GAUTHIER, R. & LEQUÉRÉ, D. 1995. *Sphagnum* regeneration - Towards an optimisation of bog restoration. In: WHEELER, B. D., SHAW, S. C., FOYT, W. J. & ROBERTSON, R. A. (eds.) Restoration of Temperate Wetlands. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

ROCHEFORT, L., QUINTY, F., CAMPEAU, S., JOHNSON, K. & MALTERER, T. 2003. North American approach to the restoration of *Sphagnum* dominated peatlands. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 11, 3-20.

ROSS, S. 2011. United Utilities. Sustainable Catchment Management programme. Volume 4. Restoration of Upland Vegetation.

SHEPPARD, L. J., LEITH, I. D., MIZUNUMA, T., NEIL CAPE, J., CROSSLEY, A., LEESON, S., SUTTON, M. A., VAN DIJK, N. AND FOWLER, D. 2011. Dry deposition of ammonia gas drives species change faster than wet deposition of ammonium ions: evidence from a long-term field manipulation. Global Change Biology, 17: 3589–3607. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02478.x.

SHERIDAN, S. 2008. Restoration of blanket bog vegetation as a habitat for red grouse following clearance of immature Sitka spruce forest on the west coast of Scotland [electronic resource], Newcastle upon Tyne, University of Newcastle upon Tyne.

SHOTBOLT, L., ANDERSON, A.R. & TOWNEND, J. 1998. Changes to blanket bog adjoining forest plots at Bad a'Cheo, Rumster Forest, Caithness. Forestry, 71, 311-324.

SKEFFINGTON, R., WILSON, E., MALTBY, E., IMMIRZI, P. & PUTWAIN, P. Acid deposition and blanket mire degradation and restoration. In: TALLIS, J. H., MEADE, R. & HULME, P. D., eds. Blanket mire degradation: Causes, Consequences and Challenges., 1997 University of Manchester. Mires Research Group.

STEWART, A. J. A. & LANCE, A. N. 1991. Effects of moor-draining on the hydrology and vegetation of Northern Pennine blanket bog. Journal of Applied Ecology, 28,1105-1117.

TALLIS, J. H. & YALDEN, D. W. 1983. Peak District Moorland Restoration Project. Phase II Report: Re-vegetation Trials. Bakewell, Derbyshire.

TODD, P. A., PHILLIPS, J. D. P., PUTWAIN, P. D. & MARRS, R. H. 2000. Control of *Molinia caerulea* on moorland. Grass and Forage Science, 55.

WALLAGE, Z. E. & HOLDEN, J. 2011. Near-surface macropore flow and saturated hydraulic conductivity in drained and restored blanket peatlands. Soil Use and Management, 27, 247-254.

WALLAGE, Z. E., HOLDEN, J. & MCDONALD, A. T. 2006. Drain blocking: An effective treatment for reducing dissolved organic carbon loss and water discolouration in a drained peatland. Science of the Total Environment, 367, 811-821.

WARBURTON, J. 2003. Wind-splash erosion of bare peat on UK upland moorlands. Catena, 52, 191-207.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2010. Recovery of water tables in Welsh blanket bog after drain blocking: Discharge rates, time scales and the influence of local conditions. Journal of Hydrology, 391, 377-386.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2011. The impact of drain blocking on an upland blanket bog during storm and drought events, and the importance of sampling-scale. Journal of Hydrology, 404, 198-208.

WILSON, L., WILSON, J., HOLDEN, J., JOHNSTONE, I., ARMSTRONG, A. & MORRIS, M. 2011b. Ditch blocking, water chemistry and organic carbon flux: Evidence that blanket bog restoration reduces erosion and fluvial carbon loss. Science of the Total Environment, 409, 2010-2018.

WORRALL, F., BELL, M. J. & BHOGAL, A. 2010. Assessing the probability of carbon and greenhouse gas benefit from the management of peat soils. Science of the Total Environment, 408, 2657-2666.

WORRALL, F., ROWSON, J. G., EVANS, M. G., PAWSON, R., DANIELS, S. & BONN, A. 2011. Carbon fluxes from eroding peatlands - the carbon benefit of re-vegetation following wildfire. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms, 36, 1487-1498.

Appendix 4 Study categorization

The distribution of broad study type by the categories given in Table 2 and by the quality categories given in Table 3 is provided below in Table B.

Table A Categorisation of studies

Study type and quality	Authors and date	
1++	(Anderson <i>et al</i> , 1995); (Anderson <i>et al</i> , 2000); (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998); (Bussell <i>et al</i> , 2010); (Buttler <i>et al</i> , 1998); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996); (Chirino <i>et al</i> , 2006); (Groeneveld <i>et al</i> , 2007); (Grosvernier <i>et al</i> , 1995); (Grosvernier <i>et al</i> , 1997); (Milligan <i>et al</i> , 2003); (Rochefort & Campeau, 2002); (Rochefort <i>et al</i> , 2003); (Sheridan, 2008); (Todd <i>et al</i> , 2000); (Marrs <i>et al</i> , 2004)	
1+	(Bugnon <i>et al</i> , 1997); (Caporn <i>et al</i> , 2007); (Ferguson, Lee & Bell, 1978); (Milligan <i>et al</i> , 1999); (Milligan <i>et al</i> , 2004); (Robroek <i>et al</i> , 2009 [1+]); (Richards <i>et al</i> , 1995); (Skeffington <i>et al</i> , 1997)	
1-	(Rochefort <i>et al</i> , 1995)	
2++	(Carroll <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Evans <i>et al</i> , 2005); (Grayson & Holden, 2012a); (Grayson & Holden, 2012b); (Green <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Gunnarsson <i>et al</i> , 2008); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2001); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2008); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2012); (Holden, 2006); (O'Reilly, 2008); (Ramchunder <i>et al</i> , 2012); (Sheppard <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Shotbolt <i>et al</i> , 1998); (Stewart and Lance, 1991); (Wilson <i>et al</i> , 2010); (Wilson <i>et al</i> , 2011);	
2+	(Armstrong <i>et al</i> , 2010); (Clay <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971); (Farrick & Price, 2009); (Fenner <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Gibson <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Glendinning, 2012); (Hajek, 2009); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2006); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2007); (Holden, 2005b); (Holden, 2009a); (Komulainen <i>et al</i> , 1999a); (Malmer & Wallen, 1999); (McHugh <i>et al</i> , 2000); (Phillips <i>et al</i> , 1981); (Robinson, 1985); (Ross, 2011); (Wallage & Holden, 2011); (Wallage <i>et al</i> , 2006); (Warburton, 2003); (Worrall <i>et al</i> , 2010)	
2-	(Anderson <i>et al</i> , 1995b); (Anderson <i>et al</i> , 2011a); (Anderson <i>et al</i> , 2011b); (Armstrong <i>et al</i> , 2008); (Buckler, 2007); (Caporn <i>et al</i> , 2006); (Gore & Godfrey, 1981); (Hinde <i>et al</i> , 2010); (Phillips, 2008); (Tallis & Yalden, 1983)	
3+	(Burke, 1975); (Chambers <i>et al</i> , 2007a); (Chambers <i>et al</i> , 2007b); (Jonczyk <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Holden & Burt, 2002); (Malmer <i>et al</i> , 1994); (Robroek <i>et al</i> , 2010)	
3-	(Ardron, 1999); (Burtt & Hawke, 2008); (Mackay & Tallis, 1996); (Murphy, 2008)	
4	(Lindsay, 1995); (Lindsay <i>et al</i> , 2003)	

The scientific approach to the 105 studies included in the review comprised:

- 31 treatment/control comparisons;
- 13 monitoring / repeat survey;
- 15 surveys;
- 12 case studies;
- 8 before and after studies;
- 6 treatment comparisons;
- 4 surveys with control/treatment comparisons;
- 4 treatment/control comparisons with controlled before and after studies;
- 6 reviews;
- 1 systematic review of treatment/control comparison studies;

- 1 survey, with a case study and a before and after study;
- 1 monitoring with a treatment/control comparison;
- 1 meta-analysis;
- 1 controlled before and after study with a case study; and
- 1 controlled before and after study.

Table B presents the studies by country and lead author.

Table B Summary of studies by country of origin

Country of origin	Number of studies	Authors
UK	78	(Anderson <i>et al</i> , 1995); Anderson <i>et al</i> , 2000); (Ardron, 1999); (Burtt & Hawke, 2008); (Gibson <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Holden, 2005b); (Holden, 2006); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2006); (Mackay & Tallis, 1996); (Phillips <i>et al</i> , 1981); (Anderson <i>et al</i> , 1995b); (Anderson <i>et al</i> , 2011a); (Anderson <i>et al</i> , 2007a); (Chambers <i>et al</i> , 2007); (Caporn <i>et al</i> , 2007); (Chambers <i>et al</i> , 2007a); (Chambers <i>et al</i> , 2007b); (Clay <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Evans <i>et al</i> , 2005); (Gore & Godfrey, 1981); (Hinde <i>et al</i> , 2010); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2007); (Marrs <i>et al</i> , 2004); (Milligan <i>et al</i> , 2004); (Milligan <i>et al</i> , 2004); (Milligan <i>et al</i> , 2007); (Marrs <i>et al</i> , 2003); (Richards <i>et al</i> , 1995); (Ross, 2011); (Sheridan, 2008); (Skeffington <i>et al</i> , 1997); (Tallis & Yalden, 1983); (Todd <i>et al</i> , 2000); (Armstrong <i>et al</i> , 2008); (Glendinning, 2012); (Grayson & Holden, 2012a); (Grayson & Holden, 2012b); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Jonczyk <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Phillips, 2008); (Ramchunder <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Jonczyk <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Phillips, 2008); (Ramchunder <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Green <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Wilson <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Worrall <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Holden, 2009a); (Holden & Burt, 2002); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2010); (Wilson <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Holden <i>et al</i> , 2009); (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971); (Lindsay <i>et al</i> , 2003); (O'Reilly, 2008); (Robinson, 1985); (Robroek <i>et al</i> , 2000); (Warburton, 2003); (Sheppard <i>et al</i> , 2011); (Ferguson, Lee & Bell, 1978); (Coulson <i>et al</i> , 1990 [2++]); (Holden, 2005a [2++]); (Armstrong <i>et al</i> , 2002 [2+]); (Carroll <i>et al</i> , 2011 [2++]); (Lindsay, 1995 [4]); (Wishart and Warburton, 2001 [3-]); (Stroud <i>et al</i> , 1988 [4])
Canada	11	(Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998); (Bugnon <i>et al</i> , 1997); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996); (Chirino <i>et al</i> , 2006); (Farrick & Price, 2009); (Groeneveld <i>et al</i> , 2007); (Rochefort & Campeau, 2002); (Rochefort <i>et al</i> , 1995); (Rochefort <i>et al</i> , 2003); (Ferland & Rochefort, 1997 [1++]); (Lavoie <i>et al</i> , 2005 [2+])
Finland, Estonia	4	(Komulainen <i>et al</i> , 1999a); (Robroek <i>et al</i> , 2009 [1+]); (Tuittila <i>et al</i> , 2003 [2+]); (Vasander <i>et al</i> , 2003 [2-])
Ireland	3	(Burke, 1975); (Murphy, 2008); (Robroek et al, 2009 [1+])
Switzerland	3	(Buttler et al, 1998); (Grosvernier et al, 1997); (Grosvernier et al, 1995)
Various worldwide	3	(Bussell et al, 2010); (Worrall et al, 2010); (Malmer et al, 1994)
Sweden	2	(Gunnarsson et al, 2008); (Malmer & Wallen, 1999)
Czech Republic, Germany	2	(Hajek, 2009); (Sliva & Pfadenhauer, 1999 [1++])

A total of 16 studies measured short-term outcomes (up to 12 months follow up) only ((Holden, 2005b); (Bugnon *et al*, 1997); (Buttler *et al*, 1998); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996); (Caporn *et al*, 2007); (Evans *et al*, 2005); (Farrick & Price, 2009); (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997); (Grosvernier *et al*, 1995); (Rochefort & Campeau, 2002); (Ramchunder *et al*, 2012); (Wilson *et al*, 2010); (Wilson *et al*, 2011); (Green *et al*, 2011); (Wallage *et al*, 2006); (Ferguson, Lee & Bell, 1978).

A total of 66 studies measured long-term outcomes (over 12 months follow up) only ((Anderson et al, 1995); Anderson et al, 2000); (Ardron, 1999); (Burke, 1975); (Clay et al, 2009); (Gibson et al, 2009); (Holden et al, 2006); (Mackay & Tallis, 1996); (Phillips et al, 1981); (Anderson et al, 2011a); (Anderson et al, 2011b); (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998); (Buckler, 2007); (Chirino et al, 2006); (Murphy, 2008); (Gore & Godfrey, 1981); (Groeneveld et al, 2007); (Hinde et al, 2010); (Holden et al, 2007); (Komulainen et al, 1999a); (Marrs et al, 2004); (Milligan et al, 2004); (Milligan et al, 1999); (Milligan et al, 2003); (Richards et al, 1995); (Rochefort et al, 1995); (Rochefort et al, 2003); (Ross, 2011); (Sheridan, 2008); (Skeffington et al, 1997); (Tallis & Yalden, 1983); (Todd et al, 2000); (Armstrong et al, 2008); (Glendinning, 2012); (Grayson & Holden, 2012a); (Grayson & Holden, 2012b); (Holden et al, 2011); (Jonczyk et al, 2009); (Wallage & Holden, 2011); (Armstrong et al, 2010); (Fenner et al, 2011); (Wilson et al, 2011b); (Worrall et al, 2011); (Holden, 2009a); (Holden & Burt, 2002); (Holden et al, 2001); (Holden et al, 2008); (Holden et al, 2012); (Lindsay, 1995); (Caporn et al, 2006); (Carroll et al, 2009); (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971); (Hajek, 2009); (Lindsay et al, 2003); (Malmer et al, 1994); (Malmer & Wallen, 1999); (Robroek et al, 2009 [1+]); (Robinson, 1985); (Shotbolt et al, 1998); (McHugh et al, 2000); (Warburton, 2003); (Sheppard et al, 2011)) (Bridges, 1985 [2++]); (Sliva & Pfadenhauer, 1999 [1++]); (Tuittila et al, 2003 [2+]); (Vasander et al, 2003 [2-]).

A single study measured a combination of short and long-term measures (Anderson *et al*, 1995b) and a for a further 10 studies an assessment of the length of outcome measures was either not possible or inappropriate to the study type ((Burtt & Hawke, 2008); (Gunnarsson *et al*, 2008); (Holden, 2006); (Chambers *et al*, 2007a); (Chambers *et al*, 2007b); (Bussell *et al*, 2010); (Worrall *et al*, 2010); (O'Reilly, 2008); (Robroek *et al*, 2010); (Stewart and Lance, 1991)).

Appendix 5 Analysis of evidence

This report presents each of the questions addressed by this review, sub-divided into topics, and presents evidence that has been identified from the studies reviewed that is relevant to these topics. The range of evidence presented is then summarized into one or more Evidence statements, which have been presented in the main body of the report. Some sections also provide an analysis of areas where evidence appears to be weak or lacking, as potential priorities for additional research or further review.

What are the features of a bog in good condition?

This section identifies evidence considered in this review that addresses the following key question.

Key question: a) what are the hydrological, structural and floristic characteristics indicative of functioning and active blanket bog?

The definition of a bog in good condition, and to some extent its structural characteristics have already been provided in paragraph 1.26. This part of the topic review, therefore, seeks to illustrate the likely characteristics in terms of the hydrological function of an intact bog, along with other functional characteristics that are influenced by hydrology.

See also paragraph 2.5 (Shotbolt *et al*, 1998 [2++]) for data on bulk density, water content and surface subsidence/rise dynamics in intact peatlands, as well as possible evidence of mass movement.

Water tables in intact bogs

One study (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]) comparing two drained with two undrained blanket peat catchments in the North Pennines found mean water tables were higher and more uniform (0-12cm) in the intact peatlands than in drained peatlands.

A case study of peat composition and accumulation in the Forest of Bowland observed that water tables were higher in the *Sphagnum*-dominated area (mean 8.4 cm), than in the gullyside *Eriophorum* area (mean 25.1) or the hagg-top dwarf shrub area where water tables were too low to be measured for most of the year (39-55 cm).

A report on the impacts of deforestation on Irish bogs (Murphy, 2008 [3-]) reported that water tables in intact blanket bogs were generally within 5 cm of the mire surface except in dry weather, but drained bogs had water tables more than 30 cm below the surface, and lower in dry weather.

A case study comparison of drained, blocked and intact peatlands in Upper Wharfefale (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that mean water table depths were significantly different between the intact, blocked and drained sites being 5.8, 8.9 and 11.5 cm from the surface, respectively.

A comparative survey of 3 catchments (intact, drained and blocked peatlands (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]) found that mean water table in the intact peatland was highest (5.8 cm from the surface) and remained at the surface for longest (18% of time), compared with 10.1 cm in the drained area and 7.3 cm in blocked area which had water tables at the surface for only 2% of the time.

A comparative survey and detailed case study of drained and intact blanket peat catchments in the North Pennines (Stewart and Lance, 1991 [2++]) found that water tables in intact peatlands, and those furthest from drainage grips in drained peatlands, were higher and less responsive to rainfall events than those near drainage channels.

A case study on the impacts of drainage in a hyper-oceanic blanket bog dominated by Shoenus nigricans (Burke, 1975 [3+]) found that water levels in the dipwells in the drained plot were always lower than in the undrained plots.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Functioning and active blanket bogs are characterised by a high mean annual water table (5-10 cm from surface). (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Stewart and Lance, 1991 [2++]); (Burke, 1975 [3+]) supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]); (Murphy, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Structure of intact blanket bogs

A review of the structure, biology and chemistry of bogs (Lindsay, 1995 [4]) reported that bog formation is typically driven by presence of *Sphagnum*, which produces litter that is chemically resistant to decay and which generates peat that has a slow rate of downward water movement.

A descriptive review of the formation and structure of bogs ((Lindsay *et al*, 2003 [4]) describes a permanently waterlogged and anaerobic zone, the catotelm, lying close to the bog surface, with a thin acrotelm of seasonally fluctuating water levels in which the mosses and vascular plants grow.

A comparative survey of three blanket peat catchments in Yorkshire (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]) found that intact blanket bogs had significantly higher near-surface macropore flows than the drained or blocked areas.

A field survey of macroporosity under different semi-natural vegetation and bare peat at Moor House, North Pennines (Holden *et al*, 2001 [2++]), found that *Sphagnum*-dominated blanket peat macropore flow rates that changed little between 0 and 20 cm, compared with those under *Calluna* or *Eriophorum*-dominated vegetation, where macropore flow declined rapidly over the same depth, indicating greater macropore, and overall, water flow in near-surface peat under *Sphagnum*.

A comparative case study of drained and undrained sites in Upper Wharfedale, Yorkshire (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]), found that intact peatlands showed smaller fluctuations during storm events compared with drained peatland, and rate of decline following the storm event was slower.

Evidence statement

The description of bog structure is not a subject that is amenable to intervention-based experimental research, however the statements above suggest that in intact bogs there is a surface layer of high hydraulic conductivity, but that this is underlain by a high water table layer (where water does not drain due to low hydraulic conductivity) which results in attenuated water table fluctuations following rainfall. The following statement is therefore supported by the evidence above:

Active blanket bogs are characterised by a zone of fluctuating water table, with high hydraulic conductivity, overlying a thicker zone of peat with almost permanent waterlogging and low hydraulic conductivity (the catotelm). (Lindsay, 1995 [4]); (Lindsay *et al*, 2003 [4]); (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2001 [2++]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Peat accumulation in intact blanket bogs

A field study examining rates of short term peat accumulation in a Swedish bog using measurements around pine seedlings (Gunnarsson *et al*, 2008 [2++]) found that peat growth rate was significantly and positively correlated with *Sphagnum* cover and modelled peat decay rates were lowest in the more *Sphagnum*-rich vegetation.

A study of peat macrofossils in eroded and intact blanket peat in the Forest of Bowland (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]) found that lower peat horizons were dominated by macrofossils of *Eriophorum vaginatum* and upper layers dominated by *Sphagnum* papillosum, with subcomponents of ericaceous shrubs and other *Sphagnum* species.

A review of mire and bog processes in the northern hemisphere (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]) reported that *Sphagnum* has formed the majority of blanket bog peat and that high water table and anoxic conditions are required to prevent oxidative decomposition of organic remains.

A case study of peat macrofossils and palynology at several blanket peat and shallower peaty soil locations in South Wales (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]) found that unidentified monocotyledons, *Sphagnum* and ericaceous plants were important at profile bases, becoming dominated more by *Sphagnum affine (imbricatum)* higher in the profile, and by varying amounts of *Eriophroum vaginatum* and *Molinia*.

Evidence statement

The evidence for peat accumulation is hard to demonstrate experimentally due to the long timescales involved. However since 'active' peatlands are those that deposit peat, the macrofossil remains that make up peat deposits are indicators of the types of habitats that have accumulated peat in the past. Patterns of peat accumulation and carbon accumulation are the same, since carbon forms approximately half of dry blanket peat material (Lindsay, 2010). The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Functioning and active peatlands accumulate peat, and peat carbon, through ongoing deposition of material into the catotelm. (Gunnarsson *et al*, 2008 [2++]); (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]); (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]) supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Peat pipes and gullies in intact peatlands

A field survey of 320 sites across upland Britain (Holden, 2006 [2++]) determined that undrained peatlands were likely to have 41.6km of peat pipes per square kilometre, and that this modelled value was close to observed values.

A case study of intact peatland at Moor House, North Pennines, (Holden & Burt, 2002 [3+]), mapped peat pipes in this relatively intact peatland. Pipes appeared to have little impact on drainage of the catotelm, with some pipes not carrying water despite high water tables, but instead seemed to collect runoff and near surface flow.

A repeated monitoring survey of peat pipes at Moor House (Holden *et al*, 2012 [2++]) found that these were present, and could appear, infill, collapse, or enlarge over a ~2.5 year period.

A review of blanket bog distribution and the timing and conditions for its formation (Tallis, 1998 [4]) concluded that gullying of blanket peat is a natural process, but can be initiated by both long-term management practices and by climate change. It also concluded that the presence of gullies need not stop peat growth and suggests that some gullies should be conserved as natural examples of peatland geomorphology.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Peat pipes occur naturally in relatively intact peatlands. (Holden, 2006 [2++]); (Holden & Burt, 2002 [3+]); (Holden *et al*, 2012 [2++]). A further review study suggests that gullies are natural features of undamaged peatlands (Tallis, 1998 [4]). There are no studies that refute these statements.

Runoff and hydrology in intact peatlands

A comparison of drained and undrained catchments in the North Pennines (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]) found that overland flow was far more common in the intact sites than in drained sites and that intact catchments had lower hydrograph peaks, and significantly longer lag times, than the drained catchments.

A comparison of the data from two drained and two undrained catchments in the North Pennines (Robinson, 1985 [2+]) which seem likely to be the same catchments as studied by (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]) found that the two intact catchments had flood hydrographs that suggested a significantly longer mean response time to peak flow (less flashy flow) than the catchments with artificial drainage, based on data from all non-snow storm events in the four catchments over two years.

A study of moorland footpaths, compared to undisturbed blanket bog vegetation (Robroek *et al*, 2010 [3+]) found that runoff occurred 5.5-7.4 times more often on paths than in the intact vegetation.

A survey of runoff velocities relating to moorland vegetation observed that runoff events were common in the study area of intact blanket peatland, dominated by *Eriophorum* spp. and *Sphagnum* spp. (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]).

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Functional and active blanket bogs generate predominantly surface and near-surface runoff and so are characterised by rapid flow responses compared to most other areas, but because the channel network is limited these do not necessarily give rise to such rapidly-responding (flashy) hydrographs compared to less intact peatlands. (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]); (Robinson, 1985 [2+]); (Robroek *et al*, 2010 [3+]); (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]).

Impact of intact bog vegetation on runoff

A comparison of artificially induced runoff speed across different moorland vegetation types in the North Pennines (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]) found that overland flow was consistently and significantly higher over bare peat than over vegetated surfaces, and flow over *Sphagnum*-dominated vegetation was significantly lower than for other vegetation types.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Runoff travels more slowly across *Sphagnum*-dominated vegetation, than some other moorland vegetation types or bare peat. (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Dissolved Organic Carbon and water colour in intact peatlands

A study examining the impact of grip blocking, with comparison to drained and untrained catchments across four sites in the Pennines (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]) found that intact sites had significantly lower absorbance and DOC concentrations than drained sites and that, when water yield was considered as a covariate, undrained catchments had significantly lower DOC export than drained and drain-blocked catchments.

A comparison of the carbon budgets of bare, vegetated and re-vegetated peatlands in the Peak District (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that lowest DOC flux was from the *Eriophorum*-dominated site (13 tonnes C km⁻² yr⁻¹), and highest DOC flux was from the dwarf shrub dominated site with managed burning (96 tonnes C km⁻² yr⁻¹), while DOC flux from bare peat and re-vegetated sites varied between these extremes.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Intact (undrained) blanket peatlands export less DOC and water colour than drained or drain-blocked peatlands. (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]); (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Methane emissions from intact peatlands

A systematic review of the impact of drainage and re-wetting of peatlands on greenhouse gas and carbon flux (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) found that 27 studies compared methane in drained and intact peatlands, and intact peatlands emitted significantly more CH_4 (by ~8mg CH_4 m⁻² day⁻¹) than drained peatlands.

However, a further field study in the Peak District examining the greenhouse gas and carbon budgets of intact, bare and re-vegetated peatlands found no significant differences in methane emissions between intact peatland, bare peatlands, dwarf-shrub covered peatlands or re-vegetated peatlands (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]).

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 Intact peatlands are net emitters of methane, and emit more than drained peatlands and less than recently restored peatlands. A single study, representing data from 27 qualityassessed studies, supports this statement: (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]). There was one study that could find no difference in methane flux between intact and damaged peatlands (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]).

Areas requiring further study

The contention that intact peatlands have 'flashy' storm hydrographs is not supported by the evidence in this review. Although intact peatlands may have more of their rainfall leaving catchments as overland flow than damaged peatlands, the speed at which this travels across the surface and through the upper layers of an intact peatland may slow the flow and reduce flashy flow. However, the evidence for this has come from only 2 catchment scale studies, both of which are likely to have been conducted on the same study catchments. It cannot be ruled out that local differences in topography have influenced these results. Furthermore, the comparators in this review are between intact and damaged peatlands, and intact peatlands may indeed have flashier storm hydrographs than non-peat catchments with smaller areas of waterlogged soils.

A study of afforestation impacts on peat subsidence using transects of peat properties crossing intact and afforested bogs (Shotbolt *et al*, 1998 [2++]) seems to indicate that over decades there have been reductions in surface height in the highest, wettest, least dense intact peat, and increases in height where peat is driest and densest and downslope (where there is a layer of less dense, wetter peat underlying this area). One potential interpretation of this is that gradual mass movement has occurred, with accumulation of wet peat material upslope which is gradually sliding under the peat downslope, raising it and allowing it to dry and become denser. Gradual mass movement of peat, despite this material being ~95% water, is not well studied, but may help to explain the dynamics of peat distribution and erosion on hill top peat. More research is required to demonstrate the occurrence of gradual peat mass movement and investigate its implications for erosion, degradation and restorability.

Peat-forming plants

This section identifies evidence considered in this review that addresses the following key question.

Key question: c) what species of plant are peat- forming and what are their physical (hydrological and other) requirements?

It has already been noted in this review that peat formation is more a characteristic of the prevailing environmental conditions, rather than necessarily the type of plant species that contribute litter. However, a certain range of plant species are associated with the ombrogenous, and permanently waterlogged conditions that are required to form blanket peat. Furthermore, the properties of the litter of plants, mainly in terms of its hydraulic conductivity, serve to retain water and encourage waterlogged conditions. This section seeks to present evidence on the niche requirements of key blanket bog species, and on the types of plants that have demonstrably formed peat in the past, through analysis of their remains in peat deposits, or which can be demonstrated to be forming peat in current studies.

Wetland plants, waterlogging and peat formation

A review of peat formation and mire processes in the northern hemisphere (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]) noted that while *Sphagnum* is not essential to peat formation , historically *Sphagnum* has formed the bulk of most blanket bog peat and that high water table and anoxic conditions are required to prevent oxidative decomposition of organic remains.

A field experiment examining impact of clipping existing vegetation, and mulches, on *Sphagnum* reestablishment in a cut-over raised bog peatland in Canada (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]) found that *Sphagnum* establishment was greater in plots which were dominated by *Eriophorum* species than those in the blocks vegetated with dwarf-shrubs, which were drier, both in terms of peat water content, water table and humidity

A laboratory experiment comparing the success of *Sphagnum* establishment on different peat types at different water table depths (Buttler *et al*, 1998 [1++]) found that higher water tables produced significantly more *Sphagnum* growth in terms of both length and relative weight.

A laboratory experiment exploring the impact of water tables on the success of reintroduction of different *Sphagnum* species (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]) and found significantly more capitula and higher cover for most species (except *S. fuscum*) in the high water level treatment.

Another laboratory experiment examining peat type and water table effects on growth of *Sphagnum* shoots in transplanted mats (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]) found that, while *Sphagnum* species was the main influence over growth rate, water table was the next most important factor and interacted significantly with peat type and species.

A field experiment looked at the impacts of tree felling and drain blocking on vegetation and gas fluxes in a finish blanket bog (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]) and found that increased water tables were associated with increases in bog species (Andromeda polifolia, Vaccinium oxycoccus and V. microcarpum, *Sphagnum balticum*, *S. fuscum* and Polytrichum strictum) and a reduction in *Calluna vulgaris* and Cladonia.

A series of repeated surveys on revegetating cut-over peatland in Canada (Lavoie *et al*, 2005 [2+]) found that the there was a positive correlation between cover of *Eriophorum vaginatum* and higher water tables (shallower water table depths).

A case study comparison of drained, drain-blocked and intact sites dominated by *Eriophorum* spp. in the Yorkshire dales (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]) observed that the intact site, with higher water tables, supported a greater cover of *Sphagnum* that the drained or blocked sites.

A field survey of *Sphagnum* distribution across northern England (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]) found that *Sphagnum* diversity and cover were significantly higher at sites with higher moisture content.

Repeated field surveys of *Sphagnum* growth rates in the North Pennines (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971 [2+]) found that plants generally elongate most in wetter pool conditions but this did not necessarily coincide with the greatest mass accumulation, *Sphagnum (capillifolium ssp.) rubellum* elongates least on hummocks yet still puts on most mass on hummocks and *Sphagnum papillosum* elongates and accumulates most in lawn settings.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Peat forms where decomposition is retarded by waterlogging, so plant species which are found in peat are those which tolerate wet conditions, and form wetland communities. (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]); (Buttler *et al*, 1998 [1++]); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]); (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]); (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]);(Lavoie *et al*, 2005 [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]); (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971 [2+]); (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Composition of peat deposits

A study of peat macrofossils and palynology in intact and damaged peatlands in the Forest of Bowland (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]) found that the plant remains in peat deposits were dominated near their bases by *Eriophorum vaginatum*, with some ericaceous plants and *Sphagnum tenellum* or *S. recurvum (fallax)*, with more *S. papillosum* in their centres or upper halves, with surface peat deposits reflecting the current vegetation more.

A case study of macrofossil remains in *Molinia*-dominated blanket bog in Mid Wales (Chambers *et al*, 2007a [3+]) found that lower deposits were dominated by *Eriophorum vaginatum* remains, which were replaced in the upper peat profile by undifferentiated organic matter and unidentifiable monocotyledonous remains, which were replaced over the top 10cm of peat with recognisable *Molinia* remains. Since no explanation is provided for the origin of the unidentifiable remains, it is possible that these represent *Molinia* which has decomposed beyond recognition before entering the catotelm to form peat.

A series of peat macrofossil cores were analysed from a range of deep and shallow peat areas in South Wales (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]) which indicated a wide variety of different patterns of vegetation over time, across relatively short distances. The longest core was mostly unidentified organic matter with ericaceous plants, replace above with *Sphagnum*, which is replaced above again by unidentifiable organic matter. Other cores showed mixtures of unidentified organic matter, ericales, *Eriophourm, Molinia* and *Sphagnum* remains.

A review of peat composition and formation (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]) noted that while *Sphagnum* is not essential to peat formation, historically *Sphagnum* has formed the bulk of most blanket bog peat.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 Blanket peat is typically composed of a variable mixture of remains of Sphagnum spp., *Eriophorum* spp., dwarf shrubs, unidentified organic matter and *Molina caerulea*, the balance of which varies down the peat profile and between sites over small scales. (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]); (Chambers *et al*, 2007a [3+]); (Malmer *et al*, 1994 [3+]) supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Water tables and Sphagnum mosses

A before and after study of gully blocking in the Peak District (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]) found that local rises in water tables were accompanied by increases in *Sphagnum* mosses.

A peat profile study in the Forest of Bowland noted that (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]) noted that the study site dominated by *Sphagnum papillosum* had high mean water tables (8.4cm below the surface).

A field experiment examining *Sphagnum* re-establishment in a cut-over raised bog in Canada (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]) found that *Sphagnum* establishment was greater in plots which had higher peat water content, water table and humidity

A laboratory experiment explored the impact of water tables on *Sphagnum* growth (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]) and found significantly more *capitula* and higher cover for most species (except *S. fuscum*) in the high water level treatment.

A laboratory study of *Sphagnum* growth impacts of peat type and water table (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]) found that high water table's enhanced *Sphagnum* growth rates in most species (except *S. fuscum*).

In a Finnish field experiment (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]), tree felling and drain blocking resulted in both increased water tables and increases in *Sphagnum balticum* and *S. fuscum*.

A field experiment examining the introduction of different species of *Sphagnum*, as different fragment sizes, with different fertiliser regimes and water tables (Rochefort *et al*, 1995 [1-]) found that *Sphagnum magellanicum* formed more new capitula under a higher water regime.

A field survey of *Sphagnum* distribution in northern England (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]) found higher *Sphagnum* diversity and cover at sites with higher moisture content.

A field experiment in Ireland and Estonia to introduce *Sphagnum* plugs into intact bogs (Robroek *et al*, 2009 [1+]) found that the response to water table was species specific, with bog pool species declining less under high water tables (5 cm)and hummock species maintaining or increasing cover under lower (20 cm) water tables.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 High water tables facilitate the growth and increase the abundance of *Sphagnum*. (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]); (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]); (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]); (Rochefort *et al*, 1995 [1-]); (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]) and supported by (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]); (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Major peat-forming plants

In the peat cores examined in the Forest of Bowland by (Mackay & Tallis (1996 [3-]) remains of drier moorland species *Hypnum cupressiforme and Empetrum nigrum, Dicranum* moss, ericaceous shrubs and *Deschampsia flexuosa* were found without *Eriophorum* or *Sphagnum* only at the surface (litter layer) of the peat mass, while ericaceous shrub remains were found throughout the profiles in association with *Eriophorum* and *Sphagnum*.

In the peat cores from South Wales examined by Chambers *et al*, (2007b [3+]), ericaceous shrubs form a sub-component of the peat profile, along with varying dominance of undifferentiated organic matter, *Eriophorum* and *Sphagnum* remains, but only become a dominant component at the upper surface of cores taken from under *Calluna*-dominated vegetation.

A study of peat accumulation rates in a Swedish bog (Gunnarsson *et al*, 2008 [2++]) found that while peat growth rate was significantly and positively correlated with *Sphagnum* cover, productivity was lowest in the areas dominated by evergreen dwarf shrubs, and cumulative accumulation of peat depth was lowest under evergreen dwarf shrubs.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Calluna vulgaris, and other moorland plants of drier habitats, don't form blanket peat on their own, without the presence of Sphagnum or Eriophorum of other wetland plants. (Chambers et al, 2007b [3+]); (Gunnarsson et al, 2008 [2++]) and supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Molinia and peat formation

The peat cores examined in Mid Wales by Chambers *et al*, (2007a [3+]) have a majority component of unidentifiable organic matter or undifferentiated monocotyledonous material, the origin of which is not explained by the authors. They cite the presence of identifiable *Molinia* macrofossils at the top 10 cm of peat but small scale fluctuations between this material and unidentified material are not explored, and nor is the relationship with water table. It would seem likely that a proportion, if not all, of this unidentified material is derived from *Molinia* and that presence at the top 10 cm of recognisable *Molinia* remains indicates *Molinia* that has been deposited into an acrotelm layer, and has not yet decomposed to become an unrecognisable component of the catotelm.

Some of the cores examined in South Wales by the same author (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]) also have large components of unidentified organic material, but one core also contains a layer containing much recognisable *Molinia*, in a matrix of undifferentiated monocotyledonous material that may or may not be *Molinia*-derived.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• *Molinia* can form peat on its own. (Chambers *et al*, 2007a [3+]); (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Areas requiring further study

The evidence for *Molinia* as a major peat-forming species is weak, and subject to differing interpretations of the data. More research on this topic would be valuable to understand the importance of *Molinia*-dominated blanket peat to carbon sequestration.

There is some evidence present in the review to suggest that the species found in contemporary peat macrofossil deposits approximate to NVC communities now defined as blanket bog and associated vegetation types. A total of 3 studies support this statement: (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]); (Chambers *et al*, 2007a [3+]); (Chambers *et al*, 2007b [3+]). However, this data has not been digitised and analysed, and would benefit from multivariate analysis for trends over time/depth.

Causes and impacts of degradation

This section identifies evidence considered in this review that addresses the following key question.

Key question: b) what factors (management, atmospheric deposition and climatic) affect the hydrological, structural and floristic status and composition of blanket bog, and leads to its degradation?

Presented here is evidence of the impacts of specific deliberate or accidental human interventions applied to peatlands (afforestation, peat cutting, drainage, atmospheric deposition of pollutants). Grazing and burning are specifically considered in separate and concurrent reviews. Also included here are studies of situations which are the outcomes of non-specific management interventions (changes in semi-natural vegetation, erosion or bare peat). The type of semi-natural vegetation or extent of erosion and bare peat that occurs in the upland is influenced by management, climatic and depositional factors, and therefore fall within the scope of this review. There is a clear lack of evidence in the review shortlist relating to climatic impacts, which could be addressed by existing intervention and palaeoecological studies but which were not identified (or excluded) during the sift process.

Afforestation

Impact of afforestation on water table and peat subsidence

A repeated field survey of afforested and intact peatlands in Scotland (Shotbolt *et al*, 1998 [2++]) found that peat surface subsidence had occurred in afforested bog, with half the subsidence occurring within 7 years of planting, and the oldest forestry plots had lowest surface water contents and highest surface bulk densities.

A study of the impact of afforestation on blanket peat at the same site as above (Anderson *et al*, 2000 [1++]) found that ploughed, planted plots had significantly lower water tables than unplanted controls, with differences more marked during drier weather and that plots with tree planting and drainage had significantly higher rates of surface subsidence (10.7cm) than for the drained, but unplanted, control plots (3.7cm) and that peat shrinkage occurred throughout the 1.5m profile measured.

A monitoring programme of tree felling on blanket bog in Ireland (Murphy, 2008 [3-]) noted that water table in better drained plots rose following tree felling.

Evidence statement

The following statements are supported by the evidence above:

• Ploughing and planting coniferous trees on peat lowers the peat water table and causes peat surface subsidence and compaction. (Shotbolt *et al*, 1998 [2++]); Anderson *et al*, 2000 [1++]) and supported by (Murphy, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of afforestation on methane emissions and carbon balance

A meta-analysis of the impact of land management changes on peatland GHG and C flux (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) found that afforestation reduced methane emissions in 7 out of 7 studies increased primary productivity in 9 out of 9 studies, but also increased soil respirational loss of CO₂ in 10 out of 13 studies.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Afforestation reduces methane emissions from peatlands and increases short-term carbon sequestration. (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of afforestation on blanket bog vegetation

A monitoring study of forestry clearance in Ireland (Murphy, 2008 [3-]) found that found that the vegetation composition of the ground flora under older (25-35 year old) plantations was dominated by needle litter and bryophytes (*Hypnum cupressiforme, Rhytidiadelphus loreus*, with some *Sphagnum capillifolium* and other woodland mosses), while younger (13-20 year old) plantations having a more even balance of herbs, dwarf shrubs and bryophytes more similar to intact bog (*Calluna vulgaris*, *Molinia caerulea*, Potentilla erecta, *Sphagnum capillifolium*, *Erica tetralix*).

Repeated surveys of cleared forestry in Kintyre, Scotland (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]) found that vegetation communities in felled sites with a range of felling dates showed a significant and consistent change in community from being similar to older Sitka-dominated plantation (with competitive species relating to felling Chamerion *angustifolium*, *Holcus lanatus*, *Dicranella sp.*) through increasing *Eriophorum vaginatum*, *Molinia caerulea* and *Potentilla erecta*, towards M19 communities supporting *Sphagnum spp.*, *Drosera rotundifolia*, *Eriophorum angustifolium*, *Erica tetralix* and *Calluna*.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 Increasing time under forestry plantation results in greater changes in the understory community composition making it less similar to typical blanket bog vegetation. (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]) supported by (Murphy, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of afforestation on birds

A review of the impact of afforestation of blanket bog birds(Stroud *et al,* 1988 [4]) reported that afforestation of blanket bog peatlands replaces bog bird communities with forest bird assemblages of lower conservation value, and that higher populations of displaced birds are not maintained Birds on adjacent blanket bog are likely to be adversely affected by changes in land management due to forestry, changes in vegetation and increased predation of moorland birds by woodland or woodland edge species such as crows and foxes. A loss of 17-19% of greenshank, dunlin and golden plover were reported directly due to afforestation in Caithness and Sutherland.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 Afforestation of blanket peatlands impacts negatively on blanket bog bird communities of high conservation value both in, and adjacent to, plantation areas. (Stroud *et al*, 1988 [4]).

Areas requiring further study

The contention that afforestation impacts on bird populations of blanket mires is supported by a review study which references many studies. However it mentions ongoing work on forest edge effects on blanket bog birds, the results of which may now be available, along with other studies since. Additional literature review is required to affirm and update this Evidence statement.

Peat cutting

A field-based case study and laboratory study looked at evaporation dynamics of bare and naturally re-vegetated cut-over peatlands in Canada (Farrick & Price, 2009 [2+]) and found that, in the field, evaporation from bare peat was significantly higher than that for litter covered peat initially, (~ 3 mm per day compared to ~0.4-0.6 mm) but fell between 20-30 days into the season to similar levels to litter covered peat, while in the laboratory water tension in bare peat remained stable as water tables fell, but experienced a sudden decline, after a lag of 11 days, following draw-down to 30 cm, while in peat dominated by dwarf shrubs, the water tension reduced steadily with drawdown.

Areas requiring further study

It was not possible to develop any Evidence statements from the literature reflecting peat cutting, because there was little included in the review. There is little evidence available to this review on the impact of peat cutting on the hydrology and other functions of peatlands. One laboratory study indicates that bare peat in peat cuttings initially dries out rapidly when water tables are low, but then remains stable, whereas dwarf-shrub vegetated peat continues to dry out (Farrick & Price, 2009 [2+]).

There is weak evidence (Ardron, 1999 [3-]) that there are distinctive plant communities between uncut blanket bog, in peat cuttings and at the boundary of cuttings and no evidence was reviewed that indicated impacts of peat cutting on many other functions. The weakness of the evidence base for the impact of peat cutting (rather than subsequent natural re-vegetation) is probably either because it is assumed that peat cutting will result in total loss of most peatland functions or because upland peat cutting is not now a common practice, except for small-scale domestic purposes which are unlikely to be studied. More literature on the impacts of peat cutting on the hydrology and other properties of peatlands may be available from technical studies designed to facilitate peat extraction, which may not have been identified during the original literature search.

Drainage

Impact of drainage on water table

A monitoring study of deforestation in Ireland (Murphy, 2008 [3-]) noted that water tables in intact blanket bogs were generally within 5cm of the mire surface except in dry weather, but drained bogs had water tables more than 30 cm below the surface, and lower in dry weather.

A detailed case study of two blanket peat areas in the North Pennines drained 27 and 1 years previously (Stewart and Lance,1991 [2++]) found that dipwells at midpoints between grips showed no differences in hydrological properties from dipwells in intact peatlands, but that mean water tables at both sites were significantly lower for 2-2.3 m immediately downslope of the grip, but only for 0.3-1 m upslope of the grip. Water tables in these bore holes were less responsive to rainfall than those immediately above, or distant from, the grip.

A case study comparison of drained, blocked and intact peatlands in Upper Wharfedale, Yorkshire (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that mean water table depths were significantly lower in the drained peatland (11.5 cm from the surface) than in the intact peatland (5.8 cm), that water tables were lowest nearest the drain, but increased rapidly over 2 m either side of the drain and that water tables fluctuated more, and more rapidly, in response to storm events in the drained site than in the intact site.

A comparative survey of three areas comprising drained, blocked and intact blanket bog in Yorkshire (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]) found that mean water table in the intact peatland was highest (5.8 cm from the surface) and remained at the surface longest (18% of time), compared with 10.1 cm in the drained area where water tables were at the surface for only 2% of the time.

A field experiment examining the impact of deep and shallow drainage treatments and afforestation on blanket peat in Scotland (Anderson *et al*, 1995 [1++]) found that all drainage treatments resulted in significant lowering of the water table compared with the undrained control, with intensively drained

treatments having lower water tables than less intensively drained areas and after 19 years all drained areas had water tables significantly lower than in the undrained plots. A later plot experiment also found that 30 cm deep ploughing lowered water table depth.

A comparative survey of gripped peatlands in the North Pennines (Coulson *et al*, 1990 [2++]), found that water table and surface soil moisture content was higher 1.5 above the ditch than the same distance below the ditch. The overall pattern was for water tables to be near the surface at midpoints between grips, lowered slightly above the grip and lowered more deeply and over a longer distance downslope of the grip. Grips lowered water tables more and affected then for greater distances, at the lower rainfall sites.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Drainage of blanket peatland lowers the overall water table compared to undrained peatlands, in a changing pattern relating to the location of the grips. (Murphy, 2008 [3-]); (Stewart and Lance,1991 [2++]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Anderson *et al*, 1995 [1++]); (Coulson *et al*, 1990 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of drainage on flood hydrographs

A re-examination of flow data from 2 drained and 2 undrained catchments in the North Pennines (Robinson, 1985 [2+]) found that the two artificially-drained catchments had flood hydrographs with significantly shorter mean response time to peak flow (flashier flow), than the catchments with natural drainage, based on data from all non-snow storm events over two years.

Holden *et al,* (2006 [2+]) studying the same site over 40 years after these data were recorded, also found that the two drained catchments had higher peaks, and significantly shorter lag times, than the control intact catchments.

A before and after study of blanket bog grip blocking in the Yorkshire Dales (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]) found little evidence at catchment scale that grips had impacted storm hydrographs.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• The impact of drainage on the response times for storm hydrographs (flashiness) is not consistent between studies. (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]); (Robinson, 1985 [2+]) showed higher flashiness in drained catchments while (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++])indicated no differences in flashiness.

Impact of drainage on overland flow

A detailed study of 2 drained and two intact catchments in the North Pennines (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]) found that overland flow was far more common in the intact sites than in drained sites, and in the latter it was absent downslope of ditches and most common 2 m upslope of ditches, where the water table was highest and least variable.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Drained blanket peatlands have less overland flow than intact peatlands. (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of drainage on peat pipes

A field survey of 160 blanket peatland sites (Holden, 2005a [2++]) found that plots on gripped hill slopes had significantly higher pipe densities (127.4 pipes km⁻¹) than those on non-gripped slopes (56.6 pipes km⁻¹), and the effect appeared to be independent of rainfall or topographic index in the catchment.

A field survey of 320 blanket peatland sites using GPR to detect peat pipes (Holden, 2006 [2++]) found that there was a strong, significant, linear, positive correlation between peat pipe density and the number of years a peatland had been drained (km pipes per km² = 2.1 x number of years drained + 41.6) and a significant correlation indicating that pipe cross-sections and total pipe volume were larger in sites drained for longer.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Drained peatlands have a higher density and volume and larger size of peat pipes than undrained peatlands. (Holden, 2005a [2++]); (Holden, 2006 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of drainage on DOC concentrations

A controlled before and after study in the North Pennies comparing one gripped, one blocked and 2 intact peat catchments (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]) found that drained sites had significantly higher absorbance and DOC concentrations than intact sites.

A systematic review of the impacts of drainage and rewetting on peatland GHG flux and c dynamics (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) reported that, based on analysis of eight effects from four studies, drained peatlands had significantly higher DOC concentrations in soil water than undrained examples.

A treatment/control comparison study in the field and laboratory examined drained and undrained blanket mire in Yorkshire Dales (Wallage *et al*, 2006 [2+]) and found that DOC concentration values from drained peat were significantly greater than intact peat.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Drained blanket peatlands have higher concentrations of DOC in their peat water. (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]); (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]); (Wallage *et al*, 2006 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of drainage on blanket bog vegetation

A case study of two drained blanket bog sites, in the North Pennines (Stewart and Lance, 1991 [2++]) found that *Sphagnum* was absent near both sides of the grips, while *Eriophorum* was reduced more along the downslope edge, and *Calluna* was evenly distributed. Analysis of former vegetation records at the site showed that *Calluna* increased on the downslope side of the drain 8 years after drainage, *Eriophorum* declined downslope after 8 years and upslope after 15 years, and after 19-23 years *Sphagnum* capillifolium had been almost completely lost from near the drains and from the rest of the transect. Liverworts at the drain edge declined after 8 years to two thirds of the typical site abundance while lichens increased at the lower drain edge after 19 years. A survey of a wider sample of drained blanket bogs in the area indicated that *Eriophorum* angustifolium, E. vaginatum, *Sphagnum* capillifolium and *S. papillosum* were significantly less frequent, and *Calluna* shoot length, cover of *Rubus chamaemorus* and of lichens were greater in a zone up to 2 m downslope of the grip when compared with a reference plot 10 m upslope of the grip. *Trichophorum cespitosum* was more frequent 0.5 m upslope of the grip than at the 10 m upslope plots.

A comparative survey of gripped peatlands in the North Pennines (Coulson *et al*, 1990 [2++]) found that vegetation composition near the grips was more affected in the lower sites surveyed, with large increases in grasses at the expense of *Calluna* downslope of the grip, while there were few changes at the upper, more bryophyte-dominated, sites at the distances measured.

A comparative survey of vegetation along transects running perpendicular to open grips, and those blocked for 3, 4, 5 and 11 years (Bellamy *et al*, 2012 [2+]) found that for most sites, the index of wetter vegetation was highest furthest from open drains and indicated drier vegetation close to the drain.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

- Drained peatlands have a lower frequency or abundance of *Sphagnum* and *Eriophorum* spp., and a higher frequency or abundance of lichens or grasses, especially close to the drain. (Stewart and Lance,1991 [2++]); (Coulson *et al*, 1990 [2++]); (Bellamy *et al*, 2012 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Drained peatland may show higher or lower abundance of *Calluna* adjacent to grips, the response varying between sites. (Stewart and Lance,1991 [2++]) showed an increase in *Calluna* vigour while (Coulson *et al*, 1990 [2++])showed a reduction. Other site factors (altitude, grazing) may be interacting to influence this response.

Impact of drainage on erosion

A field survey of drainage grips in the Pennines and Scotland (Holden *et al*, 2007 [2+]) found that drains with slopes under 20 were commonly infilling and only rarely eroding, while those with 40 slopes or more were most commonly eroding and rarely infilling. Slopes over 50 have a wider range of erosion values and can have 1 m2 or more of cross sectional area eroded. Erosion was often most extensive at confluences.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Moorland drains on steep slopes (>40) tend to erode, while those on gentler slopes tend to infill, and there is more erosion at drain confluences that along lengths. (Holden *et al*, 2007 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of drainage on methane emissions

A systematic review of the impacts of drainage and rewetting on peatland GHG and C fluxes (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) found, based on 27 studies of methane in drained and intact peatlands, that drained peatlands emitted significantly less CH_4 (by ~8mg CH_4 m⁻² day⁻¹) than intact peatlands.

A meta-analysis of comparative field studies looking at land management impacts on peatland GHG and C flux (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) found that 12 out of 13 studies showed reductions in methane emissions following drainage.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Drained blanket peatlands emit less methane than undrained ones. (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]); (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Areas requiring further study

There is one study which suggests that while there is weak evidence for higher gross respiration (including plant roots) there is no difference in net ecosystem respiration between drained peatlands and undrained peatlands (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]), while another study (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) suggests that the drained peatlands emit more CO_2 than undrained peatlands. The former study took into account magnitude of impacts and rejected poorer quality studies, while the latter assessed more studies, but only examined direction of change and did not quality-assess studies.

The evidence shows that drainage increases DOC concentrations in soil water, suggesting that this may be an important pathway for C loss following drainage, yet there were no studies available to compare the impact of drainage on DOC export from blanket peatland catchments. Further review or research into the impact of drainage on DOC loss would indicate the importance of this as a pathway for C loss from drained peatlands.

Atmospheric deposition of pollutants

Impact of sulphur deposition on Sphagnum

An outdoor chamber experiment (Ferguson *et al*, 1978 [1+]) exposed *Sphagnum* to sulphate or bisulphate in solution or as gaseous SO_2 equivalent to 1970's urban pollution concentrations, or 1950's levels in the Peak District. They found that *Sphagnum* growth was negatively affected by all three forms of sulphur pollution. In solution bisulphite was more harmful to growth and chlorophyll content than sulphate, with *S.recurvum* (now fallax) most tolerant and *S.tenellum* most sensitive. Gaseous SO_2 reduced growth in four *Sphagnum* species but not in *S.magellanicum* and had no effect on chlorophyll content.

A survey of *Sphagnum* distribution in relation to other environmental variables (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]) found higher *Sphagnum* diversity and cover was associated with higher peat pH, but found no significant correlations between *Sphagnum* abundance or diversity and extractable sulphate content.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• High past rates of deposition of acidic sulphur compounds will have slowed the growth rate several typical blanket bog *Sphagna*. (Ferguson *et al*, 1978 [1+]).

Impact of nitrogen deposition on blanket bog vegetation

A field experiment applying dry and wet ammonia deposition to blanket bog vegetation in Scotland (Sheppard *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that dry ammonia deposition at 20–56 kg NH3-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ led to almost total loss of *Calluna vulgaris*, *Sphagnum* capillifolium and *Cladonia portentosa* while *Eriophorum vaginatum* and *S.fallax* and *S.papillosum* were less damaged, and wet N deposition caused significant decreases in *S. capillifolium* only.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 High levels of dry atmospheric deposition of ammonia will alter Sphagnum communities to remove some species of Sphagnum completely, or increase 'undesirable' nutrient-tolerant species such as S. fallax, and can damage the health of plants of drier moorland (Calluna vulgaris and Cladonia portentosa), while wet deposition of ammonium reduced cover of one Sphagnum species. (Sheppard et al, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Areas requiring further study

More research has been conducted on the impacts of nitrogen deposition on *Molinia caerulea*, *Calluna vulgaris* and probably also on other species, although some of this has been outside of blanket bog habitats. There were no other studies included in this review to indicate the impact of atmospheric deposition of pollutants on other blanket bog plants.

The field survey of *Sphagnum* distribution and relationship with environmental parameters across the Pennines (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]) found no significant correlations between *Sphagnum* abundance or diversity and extractable ammonium or extractable sulphate content of peat. This may indicate either that the levels of ammonia and sulphate deposition currently occurring across much of the Pennines are insufficient to elicit a detectable response, that deposition rates are too uniform across the area to elicit a variable response required to detect a correlation, or that extractable ammonium or sulphate in peat is a poor indicator of current rates of atmospheric deposition. More research may be required to determine the extent to which these explanations apply.

The literature analysed for this review represents only a few key papers relating to the impact of air pollution on semi-natural habitats. A review of air pollution (NEGTAP, 2001) noted that while sulphur pollution impacts had ameliorated, bog communities had seen increases in plants associated with higher N requirements. A more recent UK-wide project (Review of Transboundary Air Pollution – RoTAP, 2012) has examined the impacts and extent of acidification, eutrophication, heavy metals and low-level ozone pollution, including impacts on semi-natural vegetation. This report concluded that declining species richness in moorlands, and replacement of pollution sensitive bryophytes with more pollution-tolerant communities was a relatively recent phenomenon. However, the links to pollutant deposition were correlatory, and causal relationships required further experimental studies to establish. It notes that while 40-50 % of the area of UK bogs are subject to N deposition that exceed critical load values (10 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) vegetation responses to deposition are a continuum, and do not take the form of a critical threshold. However, they recognise that ammonia gas appears to be more damaging to moorland vegetation that wet ammonium deposition and a new threshold is identified of 1 µg m-3 above which impacts on bryophytes would be expected. While some 69% of the UK is identified as being above this threshold, the majority of English uplands appear to be below it, suggesting that N pollution should not present an insurmountable obstacle to bog restoration.

Changes in semi-natural vegetation

By the definition of active, functioning blanket bog used for this review (using CSM thresholds) changes to semi-natural vegetation that prevent a bog from meeting CSM species cover targets, which are used to define good condition, will be defined as floristic degradation (for example, *Molinia* dominance). This does not necessarily mean that the other functions of the bog are degraded, although they may be affected. These impacts are explored in the following sub-sections.

Impact of Calluna dominance on peat pipes

A field survey used GPR to detect and map peat pipes in 160 sites throughout the UK, and also conducted a case study at Moor House, North Pennines, and a laboratory experiment looking at the impact of *Calluna* on peat pipes and changes in macroporosity due to rainfall (Holden, 2005b [2+]). The study found that plots with *Calluna* and bare peat had significantly higher frequency of peat pipes than plots without these features, and the case study found that, of two areas with dominated by either *Calluna* or *Eriophorum* (and at different altitudes) but with otherwise similar topographic features, more pipes were found in the lower *Calluna* dominated plots. The laboratory study found that peat under *Calluna* increased its macropore flow in response to rainfall more than peat from under *Sphagnum*, *Eriophorum* or bare peat, where macropore flow remained stable.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Blanket peatlands dominated by *Calluna vulgaris* have more frequent and dense peat pipes, and higher macropore flow lower in the soil, which increases with ongoing high rainfall, unlike that for peat under *Eriophorum*, *Sphagnum* or bare ground. (Holden, 2005b [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of different vegetation types on overland flow speeds

A comparative field survey explored the overland flow speeds associated with bare peat, *Sphagnum*, *Eriophorum* or a mix of these 2 genera (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]) and found that overland flow speeds were consistently and significantly higher over bare peat than over vegetated surfaces, and those over *Sphagnum* -dominated vegetation were significantly slower than for other vegetation types.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• *Sphagnum* -dominated blanket bog vegetation has slower rates of overland flow during storm conditions than blanket bog dominated by *Eriophorum* or a mix of *Eriophorum* and *Sphagnum*. (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Vegetation impacts on macropore flow

A laboratory study looking at rainfall impacts on macropore flow under different moorland vegetation types found that (Holden, 2005b [2+]) *Sphagnum* -dominated peat blocks initially had a significantly higher proportion of macropore flow through 0.05-2 mm pore sizes than other vegetation types, and Calluna-dominated blocks had significantly higher proportional of flow through macropores >2 mm.

A comparative survey of macropore flow under different blanket peatland vegetation types in the North Pennines (Holden, 2009a [2+]) found that under bare peat, *Eriophorum* or Calluna, macropore flow declined at deeper soil depths, whereas under *Sphagnum* this component of flow either maintaining or increased as a proportion of overall flow rate with increased peat depth.

This study is more fully described in Holden *et al*, (2001 [2++]) which reported that *Sphagnum* sites have significantly larger proportions of flow through macropores than other vegetation types and different patterns with depth. They also found that saturated hydraulic conductivity under Bare peat, and *Eriophorum*-dominated and Calluna-dominated peat was generally highest at the peat surface, slightly lower at 5 cm, and falling rapidly at 10 and 20 cm from the surface, while under *Sphagnum* there was a sharp drop in conductivity from 0-5 but below this conductivity remained stable, and higher than other vegetation types.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• *Eriophorum vaginatum*-dominated and *Calluna vulgaris*-dominated vegetation have lower peat macropore flow at deeper layers (10-30cm) compared with peat under *Sphagnum* - dominated vegetation. (Holden, 2005b [2+]); (Holden, 2009a [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2001 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of *Calluna* dominance on DOC

A comparative survey study of sites affected by wildlife, re-vegetation, and intact sites with different semi-natural vegetation (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that lowest DOC flux was from the *Eriophorum* dominated site (13 tonnes C km⁻² yr⁻¹), and highest was from the dwarf shrub dominated

site with managed burning (96 tonnes C km⁻² yr⁻¹), while bare peat and re-vegetated sites varied between these extremes.

A survey of water colour and DOC in blocked and open drainage grips in blanket bogs (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]) found that vegetation type was the best predictor of variation in DOC and water colour at both absorbance levels, with Calluna-dominated sites being associated with highest DOC and water colour when all grip types were combined. This appeared to interact with burning, in that unburnt *Calluna* sites had the highest levels of DOC.

This data is revisited in Armstrong *et al*, (2010 [2+]) and additional multivariate analysis indicates that concentrations of colour (400nm absorbance) and DOC were significantly positively related to easting, duration of blocked, drain cross sectional area, grazing and heather dominance and negatively related to rainfall, blocking, slope (400nm colour only) and drain depth (DOC only).

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Blanket peat dominated by *Calluna vulgaris* tends to have higher DOC export through its drainage waters (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]), and higher DOC concentrations in its grips (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]), than blanket peat dominated by other vegetation. There are no studies that refute these findings.

Impact of vegetation type on methane emissions

A controlled environment incubation experiment of large peat cores from blanket bog in North Wales (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that under raised water tables different plants were associated with significantly different emissions of methane, being lowest in *Sphagnum* papillosum-dominated vegetation and 2-4 times higher under *Calluna* and *Eriophorum*, with *Calluna* emitting more under warmer climates. Net ecosystem exchange was lowest in *Sphagnum* or *Eriophorum* and 4-5 times greater in the *Calluna mesocosms*, and GWP was lowest in *Sphagnum*, twice as high under *Eriophorum* and 3 times as high under Calluna.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

It is suggested that blanket bog vegetation dominated by *Calluna* and *Eriophorum* vaginatum are likely to have larger annual methane emissions, and larger overall contribution to global warming, than those dominated by *Sphagnum* papillosum, and this effect is likely to be exacerbated by warmer climates. (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]). No studies refute this statement but this has yet to be proved in the field.

Areas requiring further study

There are no studies available to this review which indicate the impact on blanket peat function of dominance of *Molinia caerulea*. *Molinia* is seen as undesirable in terms of biodiversity, but there is no evidence whether its dominance may be beneficial or detrimental to functions such as peat formation, maintaining water quality, ameliorating runoff or GHG fluxes. Further review or research would help to inform the wider impacts of the current efforts to control this species.

There were also no studies which allowed a comparison of the impact of transpiration by dry moorland vascular plants on peat hydrological function. There is one study (Farrick & Price, 2009 [2+]) which indicate that dwarf shrubs reduce peat moisture content lower down the peat profile than is observed in bare peat. A further study (Clay *et al*, 2009) reported significant increases in water table following removal of moorland vegetation (presumably *Calluna*) by burning, and that rotationally burnt plots had higher water tables than plots with no burning for 50 years, but did not provide details of the vegetation type, structure or biomass, or clearly describe the number of years since the most

recent burn. Since high water tables are needed to preserve peat, lowering of water tables by vascular plant transpiration might be expected to accelerate peat decomposition. Conifers (which like *Calluna* are evergreen vascular plants) have been shown to lower water tables and increase subsidence (Shotbolt *et al*, 1998 [2++]). If drying of peat by vascular plant transpiration were better understood it could help to explain the relationships observed between *Calluna* dominance and DOC and inform management to reduce carbon loss, water colour and improve bog condition in terms of biodiversity.

Gullying and hagging

Gullies are drainage channels through peatlands and are likely to be natural features. It has long been suggested that anthropogenic factors can increase the rate of gully formation. Gullies in peatlands are often described in terms of their extent of branching, from unbranched, linear gullies (type 2 erosion), to highly branched, reticulate gullies (Type 1 erosion, see Bower, 1961). Where branches of gullies join they may leave uneroded blocks of peat isolated from the rest of the peat mass. These are known as haggs. Gullies and haggs may have areas of bare peat, or may be partially, or entirely vegetated. As such, these features are considered separately from erosion of bare peat.

Timing of onset of gully erosion

A study of peat macrofossils at intact, gullied and hagged sites in the Forest of Bowland (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]) concluded that the vegetation has remained broadly unchanged since the early 19th century, except for the gradual loss of *Sphagnum* from the gully side and hagg top sites, and interprets this as meaning that the site was probably eroded since this time.

A study of erosion distribution and rates in the peak district (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]) extrapolated current assumed rates and extent of erosion to indicate that there was probably gradual erosion at stream headwaters into the peat mass, but that rapid extension of the gully networks began after 1770 AD.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Gully erosion of blanket peatlands in northern England accelerated during the late 18th/early 19th centuries. (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]) supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Topographic relationships in peat erosion

A study of the distribution of gully and hagg erosion in the Peak District (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]) found that within parishes, the extent of peat erosion was positively correlated with extent of elevated and steeply sloping ground. Branching or reticulate erosion (type 1) was associated with higher flatter ground and more erosion of peat margins, while linear (type 2) gullying was associated with lower, more sloping ground and more intact peat margins.

A field survey of soil erosion in upland England and Wales (McHugh *et al*, 2000 [2+]) found an estimated 18,025 ha of erosion driven by water (including gullying and hagging in blanket peatlands). Gully depth increased with increasing altitude and slope and in convex catchments, and was associated with heath/bog and bog vegetation. Extent of erosion was positively correlated with elevation and negatively correlated with slope (ie most prevalent on high flat areas). Erosion was more prevalent on peat soils, followed by wet mineral soils, followed by other mineral soils.

A case study of peat erosion in the Cheviot Hills (Wishart and Warburton, 2001 [3-]) found that anastomosing (reticulate) erosion was associated with high flat ground, linear erosion with more uniform, steeper, slops, and dendritic (branched) erosion gullies were found in catchment basins.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Severity of gullying and hagging is associated with higher, flatter areas, with reticulate (type 1) erosion on flatter tops, and linear (type 2) erosion on more sloping ground. (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]); (McHugh *et al*, 2000 [2+]) supported by Wishart and Warburton, 2001 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of gullying and hagging on water table

A comparative field study of the hydrology of drained and intact catchments (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]) found that water movement through an eroded peat catchment passes through deeper peat layers (43% through layers below 50 cm deep) compared to intact and drained catchments where flows are dominated by surface (0-1 cm) and shallow (1-5 cm) flows and or by sub-surface flows (5-10cm and 10-50cm) respectively, and lower water tables in the two drained (which includes the eroded catchment) than the intact catchments.

A peat macrofossil and palynological study of intact, gullied and hagged peat (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]) recorded that mean water tables were too low to be measured for most of the year (at least 39-55 cm below the peat surface) in the peat hagg, intermediate in the gullyside site (25.1 cm below surface) and highest in the intact peatland (8.4 cm below surface).

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Water table in peatlands is lowered by gully/hagg erosion. (Holden *et al*, 2006 [2+]) supported by (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Erosion of bare peat

Rate of surface lowering in bare peat areas

A study of rates of erosion of bare peat using erosion 'pins' (straws) in the Peak District (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]) found that bare peat typically loses 5-10mm per year, rising to 40-60 mm in some situations, such as at eroding peat margins.

A study of re-vegetation of bare peat in the Peak District (Buckler, 2007 [2-]) observed that peat erosion continued on bare peat where re-vegetation was no successful.

A comparison of the C budgets for vegetated, bare and re-vegetated peat (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that bare peat surfaces consistently subsided by 1.9 to 6.2 cm each year.

A study examining rates of surface lowering using a pin quadrant in the Peak District (Anderson *et al*, 1995b [2-]) reported that bare peat surfaces reduced in height significantly faster than surfaces with vegetation, litter or 'roots'. However, this contention does not appear to be supported by the data presented.

A study of wind erosion on a bare peat flat in the North Pennines (Warburton, 2003 [2+]) estimated an annual erosional loss rate of erosion rates of 0.46 and 0.48 tonnes ha⁻¹ (equating to ~47mm per year), but is subject to assumptions about the source area of trapped material.

A nationwide survey of erosion gullies, including those in peat, using transects of measurements (McHugh *et al*, 2000 [2+]) found no significant erosional losses of peat over 2 years.

A case study of peat erosion in the Cheviot Hills (Wishart and Warburton, 2001 [3-]) found little or no change when comparing photographs of peat erosion taking from the 1920's, 1950s, 1980s and 1990s.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Bare peat surfaces rapidly recede vertically (up to 62 mm per year). A total of 5 studies (4 from the Peak District and one case study of an eroding peat flat) support this statement: (Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-]); (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Warburton, 2003 [2+]) supported by (Anderson *et al*, 1995b [2-]). However two studies, comprising a national survey (McHugh *et al*, 2000 [2+]) and a case study of the Cheviot Hills (Wishart and Warburton, 2001 [3-]) found no detectable changes in erosion features in the short or long term.

Overland flow over bare peat

A comparative field survey of overland flow rates over different blanket bog vegetation and bare peat (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]) found that overland flow was consistently and significantly higher over bare peat than over vegetated surfaces.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Overland flow over bare peat is faster than over vegetated peat. (Holden *et al*, 2008 [2++]) and no studies that refute it.

Water tables in bare peat

A case study of the impacts of natural re-vegetation on water dynamics in a cut-over peatland in Canada (Farrick & Price, 2009 [2+]) and found that, in the field, evaporation from bare peat was significantly higher than that for litter covered peat initially, (~ 3 mm per day compared to ~0.4-0.6 mm) but fell between 20-30 days into the season to similar levels to litter covered peat, while in the laboratory water tension in bare peat remained stable as water tables fell, but experienced a sudden decline, after a lag of 11 days, following draw-down to 30 cm, while in peat dominated by dwarf shrubs, the water tension reduced steadily with drawdown.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• In drought conditions bare peat loses water from its surface rapidly, but retains it at depth. (Farrick & Price, 2009 [2+]) and there are no studies that refute it.

Impact of bare peat on carbon loss by soil respiration

A study in the Peak District of carbon budgets in bare, vegetated and re-vegetated blanket peat (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that the bare areas lost intermediate amounts of DOC (around half of the dwarf shrub site) and the largest amount of POC (155-206 tonnes C km⁻² yr⁻¹) with near-zero or moderate emissions of CO₂.

A study examining the impact of re-vegetation, lime, and fertiliser on peat (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]) observed low background levels of CO_2 emissions in bare peat compared to formerly vegetated soils, which increased less when treated with lime and fertiliser.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Bare peat loses significant amounts of POC, moderate amounts of DOC, does not emit much CO₂ (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]), and has low biological activity (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]). No studies were considered that refute these findings.

Areas requiring further study

The rate of erosional loss from peat in gullies, edges of peat masses and from other bare peat areas varies with location, and the prevalence of studies in the Peak District may give a bias towards more actively eroding sites, which are more likely to be studied since they are likely to benefit most from restoration management. Erosion rates in natural or long-established gullies may be low, and this suggests that not all gullies may need to be blocked to ensure the stability of the peatland.

Impacts of restoration

This section identifies evidence considered in this review that addresses the following key question.

Key question: d) what interventions are required to restore a degraded blanket bog to a functioning and active blanket bog system with abundant peat-forming species, and over what timescale?

The evidence base is not available to indicate the timescales or interventions required for full recovery of degraded blanket bog to be indistinguishable from intact bog. Presented here is evidence indicating how different restoration techniques impact on the function and characteristics of blanket peatlands in various states of degradation. Many of these restoration interventions could be seen as a hierarchy of interventions which restore ever more function. Where peat is actively eroding or absent, then re-vegetation may restore some functions, but leave topographic degradation features that continue to affect the water table. These are then the subject of management of water table, which may impact on a different range of functions, but may not fully restore the desired vegetation characteristics. These may then become the focus of efforts to establish more appropriate blanket bog communities. From different starting points, other restoration efforts, such as deforestation, may follow a different path.

Deforestation

Vegetation recovery following felling

Monitoring of deforestation effects on blanket peatland in Ireland (Murphy, 2008 [3-]) indicated that younger plantations (13-20 years old) on felling had ground flora more similar to intact bog, than older plantations (25-35 years old).

A four year study of trees felled at different ages, and at different times in Kintyre, Scotland (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]) found that younger Picea sitchensis plantations had vegetation more similar to the M19 NVC (blanket bog) communities.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Felling coniferous trees on blanket peatland is more likely to result in blanket bog vegetation recovery where the plantation is younger. (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]) supported by (Murphy, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Disposal of forestry waste on felling

A study of the impact of different forestry waste disposal methods on cleared blanket bog in Kintyre, Scotland (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]) found little difference between types of post felling treatment (chipping, removal, leaving chain sawed brash) and best recovery of blanket bog species after longer periods following felling, on deeper peat depths and on gentler slopes. Also, while thicker layers of woodchip resulted in lower covers, the effect was more likely to delay recovery of blanket bog species, by 2-4 years, rather than prevent it.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• The practise of felling trees to waste, and disposing of waste on site need not prevent recovery towards blanket bog vegetation. Also blanket bog vegetation will recover more quickly, and to more characteristic vegetation, where the ground is flatter, wetter and where forest residues are thinner. (Sheridan, 2008 [1++]) There are no studies that refute these statements.

Areas requiring further study

The impact of deforestation on carbon and GHG budgets is reported as being unlikely to result in improved C or GHG flux (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) but this intervention has the lowest effective sample size of all analyses in this study and may represent short-term measurements. A further two studies (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+] & Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]) applied both felling and drain blocking treatments, and so the impact of these cannot readily be separated. Vassander *et al*, 2003 [2-]), reported water quality benefits suggesting that felling and ditch blocking caused temporary increases in P due to fertiliser applied to the forest, then caused drastic reductions in suspended solids and nitrate-N concentrations. Further research is needed to elucidate the impacts of deforestation on GHG and C flux in peatlands, but would also benefit from comparison with longer term analysis of the impact of peatlands in a forested condition.

Given the impact of afforestation on water tables, deforestation could be expected to raise water tables, thus preventing peat decomposition and providing conditions for recovery of blanket bog communities and functions. Additional review or research might help to indicate the extent to which felling alone is required to restore bog functions, and where additional interventions are required.

Re-vegetation of bare peat

Success of, and conditions for, re-vegetation of bare peat.

A field experiment in the Peat District looking at the impacts of fertiliser, lime and live vegetation mulch on the establishment of transplanted *Eriophorum* spp. and moorland grasses on bare and trampled peat (Anderson *et al*, 1995b [2-]) found that fertiliser increased cover of transplanted species and reduced loss of moss cover over winter, and mulch increased cover of mosses and other species. Fertiliser and lime appeared to reduce bare ground in trampled *Eriophorum* areas. Other unreplicated trials in this report all suggest that it is possible to re-vegetate bare peat using predominantly species of drier moorland and grasses.

A study looking at use of geojute, brash and reseeding on bare peat in the Peak District (Anderson *et al*, 2011b [2-]) found that all seeding and/or heather brash treatments increased vegetation cover from 0-10% to 60-90% after 3 years, compared to declining cover in untreated plots. Initially 'nurse' grasses increased followed *Calluna*. In seeded fertilised and limed plots application of geojute increased heather cover over plots with brash.

A series of studies looking at use of lime, fertiliser, brash, geojute and seeding on bare peat in the Peak District (Buckler, 2007 [2-]) found that in the absence of grazing lime/ fertiliser and seed resulted in 40% mean vegetation cover after 3 years. *Festuca ovina, Agrostis castellana* and *Deschampsia flexuousa* established well, especially with heather brash, while lowland species performed poorly as nurse grasses. Heather brash encouraged *Calluna* establishment and geo-jute improved grass establishment on gully sides.

A field experiment in the Peak District, examining lime, fertiliser and seeding treatments on bare peat (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]) found that application of lime or lime and fertiliser had a significant positive effect on grass establishment, with the effect of lime continuing after 8 months.

A field experiment in the North Pennines looked at impacts of disturbance, lime, fertiliser and seeding on re-vegetation of bare peat (Gore & Godfrey, 1981 [2-]) and found that, while lowland grasses died, Deschampsia flexuousa survived after several years and was encouraged by phosphorus and/or lime, and that N fertiliser treatment (regardless of N source type or digging) produced the greatest cover of mixed grasses, with agricultural grasses gradually declining over time.

A field experiment looked at the impacts of cultivation and fertiliser on vegetation establishment on bare burnt peat using a range of species in the North York Moors (Bridges, 1985 [2++]) and found that *Festuca spp, Agrostis capillaries* and *Deschampsia flexusosa* germinated well and responded well to both cultivation and fertiliser treatment, while, Holcus lanatus, Lotus *corniculatus* and *Poa*

pratensis did not survive or germinated poorly. Sown *Calluna* failed to germinate but cultivation treatments and fertiliser treatments enhanced volunteer establishment of Calluna.

A field experiment explored the re-vegetation of disturbed peat and other substrates in the Peak District (Skeffington *et al*, 1997 [1+]) and found that fertiliser and lime application increases likelihood of establishment and cover of vegetation on formerly bare and macerated peat. Overall cover effects continued to persist 17 years after treatment.

Laboratory and field experiments in the Peak District (Richards *et al*, 1995 [1+]) examined the impacts of peat type, fertiliser and lime on *Eriorphorum angustifolium* establishment on bare peat and found that plants grown first in pots, especially in ericaceous compost, performed better on transplantation to the field than directly introduced plants, and that fertiliser and lime, or alginure soil improver, encouraged growth better than no treatment or fertiliser alone. Moderately acid conditions (pH 3.7) produced better growth responses than extremely acid conditions (2.9) independent of calcium availability.

A series of field experiments on cut over peat in Germany (Sliva & Pfadenhauer, 1999 [1++]) found that fleece, geojute and *Calluna* brash materials significantly increased germination of E. *angustifolium, Molinia caerulea* and *Calluna vulgaris*, while E. *vaginatum* germinated well on both bare and uncovered ground. Fertiliser application increased the number and spread of shoots of *Carex rostrata* and *E. angustifolium*. Fertilised plots showed spontaneous germination of *Rhynchospora alba, Drosera intermedia, Molinia caerulea, Calluna vulgaris* and *Betula carpatica*, but only fertiliser treatments containing P significantly improved germination of plants.

Tallis & Yalden (1983 [2-]) examined the impact of bituminous soil stabilisers and Larix or *Calluna* brash application on re-vegetation of bare peat in the Peak District and found that that it is possible to establish plants of heather on bare peat and mineral soil in the Peak District.

Evidence statement

The following statements are supported by the evidence above:

- Re-vegetation of bare blanket peat is possible, using *Calluna vulgaris*, grasses, or *Eriophorum angustifolium*. (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]); (Skeffington *et al*, 1997 [1+]); (Richards *et al*, 1995 [1+]); (Bridges, 1985 [2++]); (Sliva & Pfadenhauer, 1999 [1++]) and supported by (Anderson *et al*, 1995b [2-]); (Anderson *et al*, 2011b [2-]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-]); (Gore & Godfrey, 1981 [2-]); (Tallis & Yalden, 1983 [2-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Addition of both lime and fertiliser enhances the success of nurse grass, *Eriophorum angustifolium* and *Calluna vulgaris* establishment. (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]); (Richards *et al*, 1995 [1+]); (Skeffington *et al*, 1997 [1+]); (Bridges, 1985 [2++]); (Sliva & Pfadenhauer, 1999 [1++]) and supported by (Anderson *et al*, 1995b [2-]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-]); (Gore & Godfrey, 1981 [2-]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Plants of lowland situations, such as agricultural grasses or legumes, are less likely to germinate and survive than those found naturally in uplands. (Bridges, 1985 [2++]) supported by (Buckler, 2007 [2-]); (Gore & Godfrey, 1981 [2-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of re-vegetation on CO₂ emissions

A laboratory comparison of respiration responses in vegetated and un-vegetated peat soils (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]) found that application of lime and fertiliser stimulated larger CO_2 emissions on formerly vegetated soils than on bare ones, and that both exceeded the low background level of respiration in both untreated bare and vegetated soils.

A comparison of the carbon budget for vegetated, bare and re-vegetated peat in the Peak District (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that re-vegetated sites varied from being a strong sink, a weak sink,

a moderately strong source or varying from source to sink between years, while the bare peat sites were either a negligible sink, or a moderate source of CO₂.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Re-vegetation of bare peat, along with interventions to aid re-vegetation, can result in increased rates of CO₂ emissions compared with bare peat. (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]); Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute this statement.

Impact of re-vegetation on soil microbes

A laboratory comparison of peat from under bare and vegetated areas (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]) found that culturable microbial colonies were observed to be higher in vegetated peat than in bare peat, and levels of basal respiration were higher.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Bare peat, following re-vegetation, shows a related increase in the activity and abundance off soil microbes. (Caporn *et al*, 2007 [1+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of re-vegetation on carbon budgets

A comparison of carbon budgets for vegetated, bare and re-vegetated peat in the Peak District (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that indicated that the *Eriophorum* site, and one of the restored sites, were overall carbon sinks, while the dwarf shrub site, and 3 of the re-vegetated sites were carbon sources of a similar magnitude. The bare peat sites were very strong carbon sources around 4-5 times the magnitude of the other sources, and over half of their lost carbon was accounted for by POC losses.

A meta-analysis of carbon and GHG budget studies of peatlands under different managements (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) concluded that re-vegetation of bare peat would be likely to improve both C and GHG budgets.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 Re-vegetation of bare peat with grasses and *Calluna vulgaris* will reduce, but will probably not reverse, net loss of carbon from hydrologically unrestored peatlands. (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of re-vegetation on erosional peat loss

A comparison of carbon budgets for vegetated, bare and re-vegetated peat in the Peak District (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that POC loss from re-vegetated peatland at most of the sites studied was similar to the intact *Eriophorum* site, at 6-8 tonnes C km⁻² yr⁻¹ compared with 155-206 tonnes C km⁻² yr⁻¹ from the 2 bare sites.

The meta-analysis of C and GHG studies on peatlands (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) found that both of the 2 studies considered showed reductions in POC loss on re-vegetation of bare peat.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Re-vegetation of bare peat results in reduction of POC loss. (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of re-vegetation on DOC losses

A study of Re-vegetation of bare peat in the Peak District (Anderson *et al*, 2011b [2-]) found that water colour in the treated catchments either showed a slight increasing trend or no detectable change over time.

A comparison of vegetated, bare and re-vegetated peat in the Peak District (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that DOC flux from bare and re-vegetated sites had similar and overlapping values.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Re-vegetation of bare peat with nurse and moorland grasses, and *Calluna* will not reduce DOC loss. (Worrall *et al*, 2011 [2++]) supported by (Anderson *et al*, 2011b [2-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Areas requiring further study

There are two lower-quality studies that report that applying geojute to bare peat encourages more rapid development of cover (Anderson *et al*, 2011b [2-]); (Buckler, 2007 [2-]). While it is not suspected that these results are flawed, further rigorous research, or data from new sources, may also reveal the extent to which geojute application, an expensive intervention, is necessary.

Re-establishment of Sphagnum

Suitability of conditions for Sphagnum growth in English uplands

A study of the impact of gully blocking in the Peak District (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]) found that *Sphagnum* mosses colonised areas with locally raised water tables.

A catchment scale monitoring study (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]) noted that grip blocking, grazing reductions and control of burning was followed by increases in *Sphagnum* abundance in a Forest of Bowland catchment.

Various field experiments to reintroduce *Sphagnum* to blanket peat (Hinde *et al*, 2010 [2-]) found that *Sphagnum* established from propagules (beads or strands) survived for at least a year, if not sown in the driest conditions, and seemed to survive best in wetter micro sites with sparse vegetation.

A repeated survey in the Peak District (Caporn *et al*, 2006 [2-]) revisited sites where *Sphagnum* had been introduced or recorded in bog pools the past, and found that over 30 years 4 of the introduced species were present, and 3 frequent, while two additional species were also found, and that *Sphagnum* and bryophytes in general had increased in species richness in the bog pools surveyed, over the last 20 years.

A field survey of 256 sites across the uplands of Northern England (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]) found regional patterns in *Sphagnum* species distribution, with greater abundance, higher cover and more hummock-forming species in the North Pennines, but diversity and cover were also driven by higher water contents and pH values.

Over 40 years ago a survey in the North Pennines (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971 [2+]) noted only 3 species associated with lawns and bog pools, while a more recent and survey in the same area (O'Reilly, 2008 [2++]) found at least seven *Sphagnum* species associated with a range of conditions.

Toxic effects of sulphur pollution on *Sphagnum* observed by Ferguson *et al*, (1978 [1+]) were representative of 1950s conditions of sulphur deposition in the most polluted areas of the pennines, however, the ammonia deposition ranges tested by Sheppard *et al*, (2011 [2++]) may still be experienced in some areas.

A total of 16 field studies considered in this review report the presence of *Sphagnum* on blanket peat in England; in the Peak District (1999, 2000, 2006, 2008, 2009 and 2011), Forest of Bowland (1996, 2009, 2011), Exmoor (2000), Yorkshire Dales (2000, 2008, 2011) and the North Pennines (1971, 1991, 2001, 2008, 2009 and 2010). The species are not always identified.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Current atmospheric and climatic conditions in English blanket peatlands are not prohibitive to the growth of *Sphagnum*. A total of 7 studies indicate recent increases in *Sphagnum* abundance or widespread distribution with no climatic or depositional effects: (Carroll *et al*, 2009 [2++]); (Clymo & Reddaway, 1971 [2+]); (O'Reilly, 2008 [2++]) supported by (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]); (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]); (Hinde *et al*, 2010 [2-]); (Caporn *et al*, 2006 [2-]).

Management to enhance Sphagnum survival and growth

A range of *Sphagnum* reintroduction experiments in cut-over peatlands in Canada and in the laboratory (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]) found that, for most species, diaspores collected from 0-10cm established best, and most species (except *S. fuscum*) grew best in the laboratory under higher water tables but there was little effect on cover of diaspore size. A field experiment found that plots sown with S. *angustifolium* and *S. fuscum* had better establishment than plots sown with S. *magellanicum* and S. capillifolium with higher-density sowing resulting in better establishment but little influence of fragment length.

An experiment to look at the impact on *Sphagnum* reintroduction of reprofiling and addition of plastic sheets to divert rainfall into low lying areas and locally raise water supply (Bugnon *et al*, 1997 [1+]) found that this treatment increased capitulum density of introducted *Sphagnum* in the lowest parts of the reprofiled areas.

An experiment on the impact of former vegetation type and straw mulch on *Sphagnum* reintroduction success in a cut-over bog in Canada (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]) found that *Sphagnum* established better in the plots formerly vegetated by *Eriophorum*, which were wetter, but responded well to addition of straw mulch to drier areas formerly dominated by dwarf shrubs.

A laboratory experiment examined the effects on *Sphagnum* growth of peat type, water table and fabics to increase shade/humidity (Buttler *et al*, 1998 [1++]) and found that *Sphagnum* plants grown on higher water tables were longer and heavier, while covering mesh increased length by etiolation, and plastic sheeting increased mass. Growth was higher on undisturbed peat with larger pores, but mesh or high water tables helped to increase growth on disturbed peat with finer pores.

A field experiment in a cut-over peatland in Finland (Tuittila *et al*, 2003 [2+]) examined the establishment of *Sphagnum angustifolium* in areas with uncontrolled lower and higher water tables, by placing *Sphagnum* material in shallow cuttings. They found that *Sphagnum* capitula regenerated better than stem material, especially in the drier treatment (water table 35-10 cm below surface), but that establishment was worse in the wetter treatment, which was regularly flooded.

Field surveys and experiments on the impact of Politrichum strictum as a nurse crop for *Sphagnum* re-establishment on a cut over bog in Canada (Groeneveld *et al*, 2007 [1++]) found that *Sphagnum* presence was associated with *P. Strictum*, despite it being associated with intermediate water table and implanting *Sphagnum* under *P. Strictum* carpets or under straw mulch improved its retention of moisture compared to bare peat.

An experiment examining various approaches to *Sphagnum* reintroduction to a Canadian cut over bog (Rochefort *et al*, 1995 [1-]) found that different species regenerated differently from different types of fragments, with some responding better under a high water regime and only *S. nemorosum* did not establish well under any water regime. Fertiliser treatments enhanced *Sphagnum* growth.

Three species of *Sphagnum* were grown individually and in mixtures over different peat substrates in a laboratory experiment (Grosvernier *et al*, 1995 [1++]) and *S. fallax* grew faster than *S. magellanicum* and *S. fuscum* in the mixed-species pots, and in those with higher water tables. More porous peats were associated with higher *S. fallax* growth rate, interacting with water table depth, while more humid microclimates delivered higher growth rates, similar to those delivered by raised water tables.

An experiment examining growth of different species of *Sphagnum* shoots implanted into conspecific *Sphagnum* mats over different peat substrates and water tables (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]) found that *Sphagnum* species, then water table and then peat type all significantly influenced *Sphagnum* growth responses. *S. fallax* and S. *magellanicum* grew more at higher water tables and *S. fuscum* was less sensitive to water table, and the response depended on peat type. Peat conditions associated with dry heath vegetation (high Mg:Ca ratio, small particle size, and very low pH) were least conducive to *Sphagnum* growth and while the most condusive conditions were associated with cut-over peat.

An experiment examining the impact of microtopography, companion plants and fertiliser on revegetation of cut-over raised bog peatland in Canada (Ferland & Rochefort, 1997 [1++]) found that there was no overall difference caused by microtopography treatments on the establishment of *Sphagnum*, but within plots, establishment was better in hollows than on ridges and flat surfaces. Companion species had no impact on *Sphagnum* capitulum counts, but presence of *Eriophorum angustifolium* treatments increased *Sphagnum* cover (ie. plants were larger), while poorer establishment of dwarf shrubs and mosses probably reduced their impact as companion plants. A larger number of *Sphagnum* capitula were observed in the P-fertilised plots.

The impact on *Sphagnum* re-establishment of *Sphagnum* species, fragment sizes, rates o application, mulches and netting was explored in a series of laboratory and field experiments (Rochefort *et al*, 2003 [1++]). Best regeneration was from *Sphagnum* material collected from 0-10cm, fragments originating less than 6cm below the capitulum, greater densities of application and larger species (with larger fragments). The same collected area of *Sphagnum* fuscum could restore a larger cover of vegetation than for *Sphagnum* magellanicum. Shredded fragments proved less effective as diaspores than non-shredded fragments, and there was comparable recovery in areas spread at collection: spreading ratios of 1:20 and 1:30 which delivered two thirds of the cover of the 1:10 ratio treatment. Application of straw mulch consistently produced approximately 3-8 times as much cover as unmulched plots. The three mulching/shade treatments applied all increased *Sphagnum* cover over the control with straw mulch also increasing cover of other bryophytes.

The impact of species mixtures and conditions during restoration was explored in a repeated field plot experiment on a cut-over bog in Canada (Chirino *et al*, 2006 [1++]) which found *Sphagnum* recovery rates depended on the climatic conditions with those established in drier growing seasons developing more slowly. Soil moisture was not significant as a covariant predicting the recovery of the *Sphagnum* carpet and hummock species (fuscum and rubellum) produced more cover, compared to lawn species.

Recovery of donor sites used for collecting *Sphagnum* material for restoration was examined by Rochefort & Campeau (2002 [1++]) and they found that, depending on species, collected plots

recovered to between 14 and 33% cover after 1 growing season, with no benefit to *Sphagnum* cover recovery in cut plots of adding straw mulch or reintroducing *Sphagnum*. After 5-7 growing season plots showed little difference in community composition from intact bog with some small differences in community composition.

An experiment to implant different sized plugs of different *Sphagnum* species into intact bogs in Ireland and Estonia (Robroek *et al*, 2009 [1+]) found that higher water tables helped to reduce the decline of implanted bog pool *Sphagnum*, but larger plugs of introduced *Sphagnum* helped to maintain or increase cover, especially in more hummock-forming species.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Sphagnum reintroduction is more successful where water table is raised, humidity is high, and with either shade fabric, nurse vegetation or mulch, and where Sphagnum diaspores were collected from the top 10 cm of intact bog, but this depends also on the species used and the physico-chemical conditions of the peat substrate. (Boudreau & Rochefort, 1998 [1++]); (Bugnon *et al*, 1997 [1+]); (Buttler *et al*, 1998 [1++]); (Campeau & Rochefort, 1996 [1++]); (Groeneveld *et al*, 2007 [1++]); (Grosvernier *et al*, 1997 [1++]); (Rochefort *et al*, 1995 [1-]); (Rochefort *et al*, 2003 [1++]), (Grosvernier *et al*, 1995 [1++]); (Robroek *et al*, 2009 [1+]); (Ferland & Rochefort, 1997 [1++]). There are 2 studies that found contrasting results: one found no relationship between recovering and soil moisture (Chirino *et al*, 2002 [1++]); another found no benefit of straw mulch application (Rochefort & Campeau, 2002 [1++]), and another found higher water tables detrimental due to regular flooding (Tuittila *et al*, 2003 [2+]).

Areas requiring further study

The application of mulches, nurse plants or shade fabric has been demonstrated in the studies above to reduce or counteract the impact of lower water tables to aid *Sphagnum* recovery, in either laboratory experiments on in cut-over Canadian raised bogs. However, no evidence was identified in this review to indicate that the natural recovery of *Sphagnum* or the establishment of newly-planted *Sphagnum* could occur in areas of degraded blanket bog with low water tables, but high humidity, due to mulching, rainfall, nurse crops etc. Given the water retentive properties of both living and dead *Sphagnum*, and difficulties in restoring water tables in severely eroded peatlands, demonstration of this effect on English blanket bogs would be useful to inform practical conservation measures.

A single lower-quality study (Caporn *et al*, 2006 [2-]) indicates that *Sphagnum* reintroductions to upland *Eriophorum* blanket bog can persist unaided for several decades. The long-term prospects for reintroduced *Sphagnum* on English Blanket peatlands would inform its management, but opportunities to study this on long-established reintroduction trials are likely to be scarce. Given the medium-term success of *Sphagnum* reintroductions seen in Canadian cut-over bogs, a lack of knowledge of the long term impacts should not prevent reintroduction programmes for English blanket peatlands, but indicate the importance of establishing accurate monitoring, with controls.

Control of 'undesirable' semi-natural vegetation

Reducing the dominance of Molinia

A field experiment examined the impact of herbicide, cutting, heather brash and grazing on *Molinia* dominance on a possibly shallow peaty soil (Milligan *et al*, 2004 [1+]) and found that very frequent cutting reduced *Molinia* dominance and increased *Calluna* seedling density, which was also increased during some seasons by herbicide application.

A laboratory experiment explored the effectiveness of different herbicides against *Molinia caerulea* (Milligan *et al*, 1999 [1+]) and found that only three herbicides (glyphosate, quizalofop-ethyl and

sethoxydim) produced a sufficient response to calculate ED50 values for *Molinia caerulea*. Only glyphosate reduced *Molinia* root growth to 50% of control levels but this, and some other herbicides tested, also reduced vigour of *Calluna vulgaris*.

A field experiment examined the impact of a range of herbicides on *Molinia* and *Calluna* dominated plots (Milligan *et al*, 2003 [1++])

A field experiment examining the impact of burning, grazing and glyphosate herbicide on *Molinia* dominance on moorland (some deep and shallow peat) in Exmoor, the Peak District and the Yorkshire Dales (Todd *et al*, 2000 [1++]) found that glyphosate, and grazing at some sites, reduced vegetation height, while spring burning either reduced or increased sward height. Burning and grazing reduced litter at some sites, and there were no consistent responses in dry matter yield to treatments. *Molinia* cover was reduced by herbicide throughout, but reductions due to burning did not last past the first year.

A field experiment looked at burning, grazing and litter removal impacts on *Molinia* dominance in the Peak District and the Yorkshire Dales (Marrs *et al*, 2004 [1++]) and found that glyphosate treatment significantly reduced the height and cover of the *Molinia* on where it was a sole dominant throughout the experiment, while other treatments had some significant local effects but no consistent pattern.

A monitoring study of restoration management in the Peak District (Ross, 2011 [2+]) looked at the impacts of a regime of cattle grazing and herbicide on *Molinia* dominance, and found significant reductions in total vegetation cover and *Molinia caerulea* cover from 2006-2008, and significant increases in Campylopus moss from 2006-2010.

Evidence statement

The following statements are supported by the evidence above:

- The dominance of *Molinia caerulea* can be reduced by vigorous cutting, grazing and herbicide treatments. (Milligan *et al*, 2004 [1+]); (Milligan *et al*, 1999 [1+]); (Milligan *et al*, 2003 [1++]); (Todd *et al*, 2000 [1++]); (Marrs *et al*, 2004 [1++]); (Ross, 2011 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.
- Spring burning does not reduce the dominance of *Molinia*, unless in combination with a more successful approach such as those mentioned above. (Todd *et al*, 2000 [1++]); (Marrs *et al*, 2004 [1++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Areas requiring further study

There were no studies which sought to control the over-dominance of other moorland species. Given the association between *Calluna vulgaris* and piping, DOC, methane and CO₂ emissions, and potential drying impact of this species on blanket peat soils, and its high extent of dominance in blanket peatlands (which represents a cause of floristic degradation), more review or research would be required into how best to control this species, if hydrological, geochemical and biodiversity functions are to be restored.

There were also no studies examining the management of over-dominance by *Eriophorum vaginatum*, which may also exclude positive indicator species and therefore represent floristic degradation. However, presence of this species seems to be associated with loss of fewer functions in peatland, and therefore represent less serious degradation.

Research efforts into control strategies for *Molinia caerulea* are often accompanied by efforts to reestablish *Calluna vulgaris*. None of the studies examined in this review have looked at anything other than vegetation responses, and it would seem appropriate to examine the impact of successful control of *Molinia*, and replacement with Calluna, on the full range of blanket bog hydrological functions. However, it should be noted that some of the research quoted in this review was probably conducted on sites with shallower (<40 cm) peat, and may not represent true blanket peatlands.

Gully blocking

Impact of gully blocking on sediment trapping and re-vegetation

A comparative case study in the Peak District looked at natural re-vegetation of gullied bare blanket peat (Evans *et al*, 2005 [2++]) and found that stone and wood blocks were effective at trapping sediment, encouraging re-vegetation by *Eriophorum angustifolium*.

A before and after study was made of gullies blocked with wooden dams, plastic piling, stones or pine logs (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]) found that plastic piling dams raised water tables and trapped sediment, which was colonised by *Eriophorum angustifolium*.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Blocking gullies with plastic piling dams, stone or wooden barriers trap peat sediment and enable colonisation by plants, particularly *Eriophorum angustifolium*. (Evans *et al*, 2005 [2++]) supported by (Burtt & Hawke, 2008 [3-]). There are no studies that refute it.

Areas requiring further study

This review has found little evidence of the hydrological impacts of gully blocking. Given that the evidence of rapid gully erosion may be biased towards actively eroding sites, and many gullies may not be eroding rapidly (McHugh *et al*, 2000 [2+]) and may be long-established (Mackay & Tallis, 1996 [3-]; Phillips *et al*, 1981 [2+]), further investigation of the impact of gully blocking on the wider functions of peatlands, especially those that are more intact, would help to forestall future problems. A review of how water drains from peatlands, if not through gullies and streams, would be a valuable addition to this.

Grip (drain) blocking

This section identifies evidence considered in this review that addresses the following key question.

Key question: e) Does the blocking of artificial drainage channels (grips)on degraded blanket bog result in a functioning and active blanket bog with abundant peat forming species and representative bog flora and fauna. If so, do all drains require to be blocked?

Impact of grip blocking on wetland plant species

A field experiment in Finland, examining the impact of tree felling and drain blocking on a bog (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]) found that tree felling and grip blocking increased cover of *Sphagnum* balticum, *S. fuscum* and *Polytrichum* strictum, *Andromeda* polifolia, *Vaccinium* oxycoccus and *V. microcarpum*, while *Empetrum* nigrum increased on hummocks, *Cladonia* cover decreased and *Calluna* vulgaris started to die in hollows.

A before and after case study of re-wetted cut-over peatland in Finland (Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]) found that abundance of *Eriophorum* increased following re-wetting, over 4 years compared to a control, unblocked site.

A series of repeated surveys on revegetating cut-over peatland in Canada, where water table was raised in part of the area (Lavoie *et al*, 2005 [2+]) found that the re-wetted site increased in cover of *Eriophorum vaginatum*, through larger, less frequent tussocks.

Monitoring of the impact of grip blocking, and other catchment-scale changes in grazing and burning management, in the Forest of Bowland, and other areas (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]) reported an increase in the cover of *Sphagnum*, alongside a temporary increase then a decline in *Calluna* cover.

A case study comparison of drained, intact and drain-blocked blanket peatland in the Yorkshire dates (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]) noted that the vegetation differed between the 3 sites (*Molinia* being more common in the blocked site), but this could not be ascribed to the treatment.

Monitoring surveys of peatlands in Exmoor where grips had been blocked (Glendinning, 2012 [2+]) found inconsistent evidence that wetland plant species abundance had increased following blocking.

A comparative survey of vegetation along transects running perpendicular to open grips, and those blocked for 3, 4, 5 and 11 years (Bellamy *et al*, 2012 [2+]) found that the longer-blocked site had lower scores for 'dry' vegetation indices and lower indices for bog degradation indices close to the drain. Bog recovery index increased with increased time since blocking for blocked sites, indicating greater prevalence of wetland plants.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

There is moderate evidence that grip blocking increases the abundance of wetland plant species. (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]); (Lavoie *et al*, 2005 [2+]); (Glendinning, 2012 [2+]); (Bellamy *et al*, 2012 [2+]) supported by (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]); (Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]). There are no studies that refute it, but much of the evidence is either gleaned from general descriptions rather than experimental interventions, poorly-replicated case studies, or could be related to several treatments.

Impact of grip blocking on invertebrates

A survey and study of intact peatlands, gripped and grip-blocked blanket peatland in the North Pennines (Ramchunder *et al*, 2012 [2++]) found that invertebrate abundance and richness was highest in drain-blocked and intact sites and lowest in drained sites.

A case study of a blocked and open grip in North Yorkshire (Phillips, 2008 [2-]) found no significant differences in the Shannon diversity index for invertebrates between the sites based on either the sweep netting or pitfall trapping. More tipulids (presumably larvae) were collected at the blocked site than the gripped site and more chironomids from the open grip site than at the blocked site.

A two year comparative survey of cranefly emergence near blocked and open grips in Wales, the South Pennines and the North York Moors (Carroll *et al*, 2012 [2++]) found that Cranefly abundance increased with soil moisture, with high and low numbers at wetter sites, but only low numbers where dry. This relationship was most prevalent at unblocked drains where there was a higher range of soil moisture values. Soil moisture was higher where drains were blocked, but was lower at the edges of unblocked drains, in the wetter year, and lower 10m away from unblocked than blocked drains in the drier year. In the later year only, with sampling across 3 sites nationally, craneflies were more abundant at blocked drain sites than at unblocked sites.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• (Ramchunder *et al*, 2012 [2++] & Carroll *et al*, 2012 [2++])) found that grip blocking increases invertebrate abundance and diversity but a further, lower quality, study, found no significant differences in invertebrate communities at blocked and open drains (Phillips, 2008 [2-]).

Impact of grip blocking on water table

A case study of three blocked and three open grips in the Yorkshire Dales (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]) found that blocked grips were found to have higher water tables than those without blocks,

especially downslope, where blocking raised the water table from 12-19 cm to 7-4 cm below the peat surface between 0.5 and 3.5m from the centre of the grip.

An experiment examining clearance of trees and ditch blocking on a bog in Finland (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]) found that water table was higher in the treated bog (average 20 cm below peat surface).

A before and after case study on the impacts of ditch blocking in cut over bog in Finland (Vasander *et al,* 2003 [2-]) reported increased water table over 4 years, compared to the unblocked site.

A before and after study of the impacts of grip blocking in the North Pennines (Jonczyk *et al*, 2009 [3+]) found that water table remained relatively unresponsive and unchanged on either side of blocked and unblocked grips.

Monitoring of three blocked and three open drains on blanket peat in the Yorkshire dales (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]) found that water tables around the blocked drains were higher than around the open drains, especially downslope.

A before and after study of grip blocking impacts in blanket peatland in Wales (Wilson *et al*, 2010 [2++]) found that water table became closer to the surface following blocking, at different rates in different areas.

A case study comparison of drained, intact and drain-blocked sites (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that mean water table depths were significantly different between the intact, blocked and drained sites (5.8, 8.9 and 11.5cm from the surface, respectively), and water tables were less responsive to storm events in the blocked site, but more responsive than the intact site.

Monitoring of the impacts of grip blocking, and changes to burning and grazing regime in the Forest of Bowland and Peak District (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]) observed that dipwells near blocked grips had have higher water table than unblocked controls.

A comparative survey of the hydrological properties of intact, drained, and drain-blocked blanket peatlands in Yorkshire (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]) found that mean water table was 10.1 cm below the surface in the drained area and 7.3 cm in the blocked area, but 5.8 cm below the surface in intact peatland.

A study of the impact of grip blocking in blanket peat in mid Wales (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that dipwell data was very variable, and no overall trend could be detected.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 Grip blocking raises the water table but not to the level found in intact peatlands. (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Wilson *et al*, 2010 [2++]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]) supported by (Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]); (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]). However, a further 2 studies found that grip blocking had no detectable impact on water tables (Jonczyk *et al*, 2009 [3+]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]).

Impact of grip blocking on flood hydrographs (flashiness)

A before and after study of the impact of grip blocking on blanket peat in Yorkshire (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]) found that grip blocking delayed peak discharge following onset of rainfall and slowed the rate of increase on the rising arm of the hydrograph.

Another before and after study on the impacts of grip blocking in Wales (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found overall higher flow rates across all catchments but hydrograph recession rates were generally slower after blocking.

However, an ongoing before and after study (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]) looking at the impact of grip blocking in Yorkshire found little evidence at catchment scale that blocking of grips had yet impacted upon storm hydrographs.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• There is inconsistent evidence that blocking reduces the flashiness of flood hydrographs. (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) recorded lower flashiness in blocked catchments while (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]) found no impact of blocking on hydrograph flashiness.

Impact of grip blocking on water yield (catchment efficiency)

A study examining the properties of intact, drained, and areas with recently or longer-blocked drains (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]) detected a significant difference in water yield, between blocked and open sites, with blocked sites yielding 0.07m3 m⁻² less than drained ones

A before and after study of grip blocking on Blanket peatland in Yorkshire (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]) found that the amount of discharge resulting from a given amount or intensity of rainfall also appeared to be lower following blocking.

A before and after study of the impact of drain blocking on blanket peatland in Wales (Wilson *et al*, 2010 [2++]) found that average discharge rates were significantly lower after blocking, indicating overall lower yield of water.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Grip blocking reduces overall water yield and catchment 'efficiency'. (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]); (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2010 [2++]). There are no studies that refute it.

Impact of grip blocking on base flows

A before and after study of grip blocking in blanket peatland in Wales(Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that drain blocking resulted in more stable and higher flow rates during droughts and slower declines in flow rate during first 5 days of drought periods, in both drains and streams.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Grip blocking resulted in more stable and higher flow rates during droughts and slower declines in flow rate during first 5 days of drought periods. (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]). There are no studies that refute this statement.

Impact of grip blocking on peat hydrological properties

A comparison of intact, blocked and drained blanket peat catchments in Yorkshire (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]) found that surface hydraulic conductivity was significantly higher in the blocked areas, than in the drained areas. The blocked areas had a significantly lower bulk density at the

surface (0-5cm) than the drained area. This study, however, took no measurements prior to blocking and represented only 3 sites, so pre-existing differences in bulk density cannot be ruled out.

A case study comparison of intact, drained and drain-blocked blanket bog in the Yorkshire Dales (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that surface peat bulk density (at 5cm deep) was significantly lower at the blocked site, than the unblocked site.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

 Grip blocking increases surface hydraulic conductivity in peat and reduces surface bulk density. (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]); (Holden *et al*, 2011 [2++]). The study reporting increased hydraulic conductivity (Wallage & Holden, 2011 [2+]) however, took no measurements prior to blocking, and represented only 3 sites, so pre-existing differences in bulk density cannot be ruled out.

Impact of grip blocking on DOC export

A before and after study of grip blocking in blanket bog in Wales (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that flow-weighted loads of DOC showed slight declines after blocking.

Another study of grip blocking impacts on Welsh blanket bog (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]) found that DOC yield declined considerably after blocking.

A comparative and intervention study of intact, drained and drain blocked blanket peatlands in the North Pennines (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]) found that the annual DOC budgets did not consistently show the blocked catchment to have lower DOC than the controls, with the pattern changing from year to year.

A before and after study of grip blocking on two blanket peat catchments in Yorkshire (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]) found that DOC load exported reduced on one site and increased on the other.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

The evidence relating total DOC export from catchments to blocking suggests variable responses. (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]) found that blocking grips slightly reduces the DOC export from the catchment: while (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]); (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]) found inconsistent responses (reducing and increasing) among different blocked catchments.

Impact of grip blocking on stream DOC concentrations

Catchment monitoring in the Forest of Bowland and Peak District following grip blocking and changes to burning and grazing regimes (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]) indicated that grip blocking, along with reductions in grazing and burning, was followed by a slight but consistent decline in measured water colour in most of the catchments studied

A national survey of blocked and open drains (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]) that DOC and water colour (at both wavelengths measured) were significantly lower in blocked flowing drains than blocked or open still drains. DOC was significantly lower in blocked flowing drains than in open drains.

A re-appraisal of this survey data (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]) found that DOC concentrations in blocked flowing drains was significantly (28%) lower than in open flowing drains

However, a before and after study of grip blocking in the North Pennines (Jonczyk *et al*, 2009 [3+]) indicated no significant difference in colour of water between gripped and blocked, with differences instead related to date of sampling.

A further before and after study on blanket bog grip blocking in Yorkshire (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]) found no impact of grip blocking on DOC concentrations.

A comparison of DOC in drains blocked at different times in the North Pennines (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]) found the highest average stream water DOC concentration was found at the shallow peat site blocked for the longest time, while the catchment with open drains had average DOC concentrations between those of the two recently blocked catchments.

One before and after study of blanket bog grip blocking in Wales (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]) found that DOC concentrations in streams and drains increased slightly.

Another before and after study on grip-blocked Welsh blanket bog (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that DOC concentration during droughts increased significantly after blocking but this variation was not apparent in streams.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

There is no clear pattern in the response of stream DOC/colour concentrations to grip blocking. (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]) supported by (Anderson *et al*, 2011a [2-]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]) showed lower DOC in stream/drain waters in blocked compared to openly drained sites. (Jonczyk *et al*, 2009 [3+]; Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]; Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]) showed no change (Gibson *et al*, 2009 [2+]) showing no change or variable responses and (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]) showed higher DOC concentrations in these situations.

Impact of grip blocking on colour and DOC in soil water

A systematic review of the impacts of drainage and re-wetting on peatland GHG and C dynamics (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) found that, based on analysis of three studies, with eleven effects, there was overall significant difference in DOC concentrations in soil water between rewetted and drained peatlands.

A comparative study between intact, drained and drain-blocked mires in the Yorkshire dales (Wallage *et al*, 2006 [2+]) found that DOC concentrations in water in drained peat were significantly greater than intact peat and those from Intact peat were significantly greater than those from grip-blocked peat.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Grip blocking does not reduce DOC and water colour in soil water. A single study, incorporating 3 studies (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) supports this statement, while (Wallage *et al*, 2006 [2+]) found reduced DOC in peat soil water in blocked sites.

Impact of grip blocking on POC export

A before and after study of grip blocking on blanket peat in Yorkshire (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]) found weak evidence that POC concentrations were lower following blocking.

Another before and after study of grip blocking in Welsh blanket peatlands (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that blocking led to declines in loads POC exported, but little change in POC concentrations.

A further before and after study of grip blocking impacts on Welsh blanket peatland (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]) found that grip blocking resulted in marked declines in the annual flux of POC.

A case study of ditch blocking and tree felling (Vassander *et al*, 2003 [2-]) reported that suspended sediment and nitrate N were reduced to almost nothing, or halved, respectively, following treatment, but noted a temporary increase in P flux which they ascribed to fertiliser treatments formerly applied to the forest.

However, an ongoing monitoring study of grip blocking impacts in a Yorkshire blanket peatland (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]) could find no indication of significant reductions in suspended sediment since blocking took place.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Grip blocking resulted in lower POC export: (Grayson & Holden, 2012a [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011b [2++]); (Wilson *et al*, 2011 [2++]) supported by (Vassander *et al*, 2003 [2-]) while (Grayson & Holden, 2012b [2++]).suggests no significant impact.

Impact of grip blocking on CO₂ emissions

A meta-analysis of the impact of land management on peatland GHG and C flux (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) found that 7 of 13 studies saw reductions in CO_2 emissions from soil respiration following grip blocking, while 5 showed no change and 1 showed an increase.

One of the studies considered in this meta analysis, on re-wetting and tree felling in a Finnish bog (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]), found that mean CO_2 rates were significantly lower from rewetted plots compared to untreated plots in one year, and that CO_2 efflux significantly decreased in the hollow-level plots with highest water tables, which were generally significantly lower than in the lawn and hummock level plots over 3 years. Seasonal estimates for CO_2 -C balance were positive in rewetted sites (101 g m⁻²) but near zero in untreated plots. Deep water tables in the untreated plot and the hummock plot increased CO_2 efflux whilst the high water table decreased it in the rewetted plot.

A controlled before and after case study of re-wetted cut-over peatland in Finland (Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]) reported that two rewetted areas of peatland either became less of a carbon source or became a sink after 4 years.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

Grip blocking reduces CO₂ emissions. (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]); (Komulainen *et al*, 1999a [2+]) supported by (Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]). However, the second paper is included in the first, which concludes that there is a low probability of improvement in carbon budget on grip blocking. CO₂ emissions are almost as likely to remain unchanged on grip blocking as to reduce.

Impact of grip blocking on methane emissions

A systematic review of the impact of drainage and rewetting on peatland GHG and C dynamics (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]) found five effects measured in 2 studies indicating that rewetted peatlands typically emitted ~16mg CH_4 m⁻² day⁻¹ more than drained ones.

A meta-analysis of the impacts of land management of GHG and C budgets (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) indicated that drain blocking increased methane emissions, given that 9 out of 9 studies considered showed increased methane emissions following blocking of grips

A controlled before and after case study on a cut-over bog in Finland (Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]) found that two rewetted areas of peatland increased methane emissions over 4 years.

A laboratory study examining the impacts of different grip in fills and water tables on peat under different vegetation types on greenhouse gas fluxes (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]) found that mesocosms representing pools of open water behind grips had the lowest methane emissions compared to those representing grips infilled with heather brash or reprofiled grips, and pools even took up methane from the atmosphere, and that there was no influence of water table (high and static or fluctuating) on methane emissions in these mesocosms. They also found that different plants were associated with significantly different emissions of methane, being lowest in *Sphagnum* papillosum-dominated vegetation and 2-4 times higher under *Calluna* and *Eriophorum*, with *Calluna* emitting more under warmer climates.

Evidence statement

The following statements are supported by the evidence above:

- Grip blocking increases methane emissions. (Bussell *et al*, 2010 [1++]); (Worrall *et al*, 2010 [2+]) supported by Vasander *et al*, 2003 [2-]). However (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]) suggests that high and constant water tables would not increase CH₄ over more fluctuating ones.
- The type of grip infill used is likely to strongly influences the methane emissions and carbon balance of the grip (Green *et al*, 2011 [2++]) with heather brash infill and reprofiling of grips leading to higher emissions of both CO₂ and methane compare with open water or *Sphagnum* mats. This impact has yet to be proved in the field.

Success of different damming materials

A national survey of blocked and open grips on blanket peatland (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]) did not present an analysis of the success of damming materials in the report, and (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]) later reported on the same data that no significant effect of drain block type on block failure in and later reported in that. However, an analysis of the data presented in (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]) using a Chi-square test indicates that grips blocked with peat dams were less likely to be classed as 'intact but not redistributing water' but more likely to be 'intact and redistributing water' than dams blocked with other methods (P=0.002, n=275, d.f.= 3).

The same survey was also reported in (Armstrong *et al*, 2009 [2+]) which found that plywood dams and heather bales were least likely to fail, and peat dams just under 60% were class 4 or 5. The study failed to identify the key result that peat dams represented a disproportionately high number of blocks that were in the highest class (intact and redistributing water).

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Using peat dams to block grips provides comparable or better success rates at retaining water to more expensive solutions. Additional analysis of data presented in support this statement: (Armstrong *et al*, 2010 [2+]); (Armstrong *et al*, 2009 [2+]) and (Armstrong *et al*, 2008 [2-]). However, there are no studies that refute it.

Natural infilling of grips

A field survey of grip properties in blanket peatlands across the Pennines and in Scotland, examining (Holden *et al*, 2007 [2+]) found that drains with slopes under 20 were commonly infilling, and only rarely eroding, while those on 40 slopes or more were most commonly eroding and rarely infilling.

Evidence statement

The following statement is supported by the evidence above:

• Grips on shallow slopes are more likely to infill and re-vegetate and less likely to erode (Holden *et al*, 2007 [2+]). There are no studies that refute it.

Areas requiring further study

The evidence that blocking grips reverses the changes in vegetation seen in blanket bogs following drainage is weak. Much effort has been expended in grip blocking on blanket peatlands that are valued for their biodiversity, and it would be hoped that some of the changes affected would be picked up by detailed monitoring by moorland restoration projects, of SSSIs or of agri-environment schemes. A more directed search is required to establish whether this monitoring data exists, and, if not, detailed vegetation monitoring of blocked and comparative monitoring of unblocked sites should be established as a priority.

This review has indicated that many of the hydrological and geochemical responses of blanket peatlands to grip blocking are hard to predict from our current knowledge, and that there may be other factors at play that exert a greater level of control. It is easy to become confused when interpreting of DOC concentrations in water in soil, grips, stream samples and at catchment outflows and catchments may be very different in size and in the range of influences they reflect. A robust understanding of a range of land management and restoration impacts on hydrology, DOC and POC export would require a widespread programme over several years, and replicated at the catchment scale, with monitoring of other potentially important factors, multivariate statistical approaches, possibly including monitoring on sub-catchments, and replicated application of catchment scale interventions, with comparison to controls.

As an alternative, larger scale (national) correlatory studies of water colour, along with extent of gripping in catchments, extent of grip blocking, extent of other factors (erosion, vegetation, grazing, burning etc.) could be subjected to multivariate analysis. This would require consistent and improvement monitoring of upland vegetation, and acquisition of hydrological data.

In many instances, however, the disagreement in the research is not related to the direction of change, but rather to the significance of it. 'Variable' responses to grip blocking, if treated as true replicates, might either simply indicate no significant change (due to error variability), or may reflect the significant influence of another management. Differences in the results may also relate to the scale of the catchments used in the studies. These results indicate that differences in the catchment flashiness response to grip blocking are very likely to be influenced by local topography.

Data on the impact of grip blocking on CO_2 emissions seems particularly scarce, with the systematic review of Bussell *et al*, (2010 [1++]) having found no qualifying studies, which also calls into question the quality of the studies included in Worrall *et al*, (2010 [2+]).

Are some blanket peatlands unrestorable?

This section identifies evidence considered in this review that addresses the following key question.

Key question: f) are there are conditions where it is not feasible to completely restore a degraded blanket bog to a fully functioning bog system with its representative flora and fauna, and if so what is likely to prevent their full recovery?

There is no evidence in this review to suggest any areas of peat are completely unrestorable.

However, social, political and economic factors may make restoration less desirable. Time scales for full restoration may be prohibitively long. Any environmental situation which falls outside the niche requirements for the plants associated with blanket bog habitats will present difficulties to restoration management, and will need to be ameliorated before management can be successful. However, amelioration of environmental conditions to achieve the correct conditions for establishment and survival of a habitat or community is the mainstay of all habitat restoration management, and does not put damaged peatlands beyond the reach of restoration.

It would be reasonable; perhaps, to assume that bog habitats will not form in areas that rarely, if ever, experience appropriate climatic conditions for bog peat formation. However, the lack of any climate modelling studies in this review means that these limits have not been characterised. There have been attempts to identify the climate 'envelope', based on current climate records, that characterises sites where blanket peat is now found (Gallego-Sala *et al*, 2010). However, locations where ombrotrophic peat has formed (including raised bogs) fall outside these envelopes, and the presence of peat influences and may to some extent buffer, the hydrological conditions required to support bog functions. Besides the influence of climate, the persistence of a blanket bog habitat, and the resistance of its functions to adverse climates, is likely to be primarily influenced by hydrology, which is itself influenced by topography, peat condition, management and vegetation, as indicated by this review.

This review has taken, as its scope, the extent of Blanket peatlands, in any state of degradation. However, there is also a possibility that the current location of blanket peatlands may be influenced to some extent by the possibility of gradual peat mass movement, highlighted in this review. It is hard to imagine a situation where hydrological conditions could be maintained to develop deep peat deposits where they are found at the steepening edges of hill slopes, or where haggs are found on these slopes themselves. In these situations, there is a possibility that the peat mass has moved, either gradually or rapidly, to leave these deposits here, where their erosion and loss would seem inevitable. These areas may represent unrestorable blanket peat, but loss here would be counteracted by restoration on higher, flatter ground. More research is needed, however, to demonstrate whether this is indeed the case.

It is also possible that the topographic or hydrological conditions that were present at the onset of blanket peatland formation are no longer present, and would represent insurmountable difficulties to restore (for example, due to landslips). Less extreme examples might include quarrying, development of infrastructure or buildings, although none of these completely preclude restoration.

What are the wider impacts of restoration?

This section identifies evidence considered in this review that addresses the following key question.

Key question: g) Are there any wider environmental impacts resulting from the restoration of degraded blanket bogs?

Because our definition of degradation was a loss of peatland function, many of the wider impacts of restoration have been considered in the sections above. Others, relating to economic, cultural, social or relating to food production are outside the scope of this review. Numerous Evidence statements have already been provided indicating the wider impacts of restoration, and will not be repeated here.

The issue of different management and activities on blanket peatland GHG flux has been considered throughout this review, with the evidence largely drawn from a systematic review, (Bussell et al, 2010 [1++]) and a meta-analysis (Worrall et al, 2010 [2+]). These provide an overall picture of intact blanket peatland being a net carbon sink but a net source of greenhouse gases due to methane emissions. Emissions of methane are reduced following managements that lower the peat water table (such as drainage or afforestation), but this is accompanied by increases in carbon dioxide emissions. However, the greenhouse gas impact of drainage may be beneficial overall, but may also increase losses through non-gaseous routes (DOC, POC) and the fate of carbon lost by these routes is not clear. Deforestation stops the rapid carbon capture by trees, but will also help to prevent the ongoing loss of peat C, provided bogs can be restored, but is unlikely to result in short term C benefits. Re-vegetation of bare peat will result in carbon benefits over the bare peat, especially reducing POC losses, but may not stop ongoing loss of DOC from the peat (Worrall et al, 2011 [2++]), following the initial capture of atmospheric C by the new vegetation. Re-wetting a peatland may help to prevent C loss as CO² from the peat, but will increase methane emissions, at least over the short term, but increased emissions may be amenable to control through management of the vegetation (Green et al, 2011 [2++]).

Appendix 6 Evidence table

A Microsoft Excel version of the Evidence table is available on Natural England's publication website.



Natural England is here to secure a healthy natural environment for people to enjoy, where wildlife is protected and England's traditional landscapes are safeguarded for future generations.

Catalogue Code: NEER

Should an alternative format of this publication be required, please contact our enquiries line for more information: 0845 600 3078 or email enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk

www.naturalengland.org.uk

This note/report/publication is published by Natural England under the Open Government Licence for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions.

For details of the licence visit www.naturalengland.org.uk/copyright

Natural England images are only available for non commercial purposes. If any other information such as maps or data cannot be used commercially this will be made clear within the note/report/publication.

© Natural England 2013